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HOW TO USE THIS VOLUME

Scope of the Volume . ..

This volume, which is a reprint of the looseleaf edition of Tech-
nical Practice Aids, includes selected Technical Information Service
Inquiries and Replies, Statements of Position of the Accounting
Standards Division, Statements of Position of the Auditing Standards
Division, AcSEC Practice Bulletins, and a list of Issues Papers of
the Accounting Standards Division of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

How This Volume Is Arranged . . .
The contents of this Volume are arranged as follows:
Technical Information Service Inquiries and Replies
Introduction—Technical Hotline
Financial Statement Presentation
Assets
Liabilities and Deferred Credits
Capital
Revenue and Expense
Specialized Industry Problems
Specialized Organizational Problems
Audit Field Work
Auditors’ Reports

Statements of Position of the Accounting Standards Division
Statements of Position of the Auditing Standards Division
Practice Bulletins

Issues Papers of the Accounting Standards Division

How to Use This Volume . ..

The arrangement of material is indicated in the general table of
contents at the front of the volume. There is a detailed table of
contents covering the material within each major division.

The major divisions are subdivided into sections, each with its
own section number. With respect to Inquiries and Replies, within
each section, each Inquiry and Reply is decimally numbered. For
example, section 1200.02, Disposal of a Segment of a Business, is the
second Inquiry and Reply in section 1200. When an Inquiry and
Reply is deleted, its number is reserved.

AICPA Technical Practice Aids



How to Use This Volume

The TIS Appendixes provide cross references from the pronounce-
ments of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Securities and Exchange Commission, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, and
National Council on Governmental Accounting to the Inquiries and
Replies included in this volume.

The TIS topical index for the Inquiries and Replies uses the key
word method to facilitate reference to the inquiries. This index is
arranged alphabetically by subject, with references to section numbers.

Statements of Position of the Accounting Standards Division are
assigned section numbers in chronological order as they are issued.
Each paragraph or equivalent is decimally numbered for reference
purposes.

The ACC topical index for the Statements of Position of the Ac-
counting Standards Division facilitates reference to the Statements.
This index is arranged alphabetically by subject, with references to
section and paragraph numbers.

Statements of Position of the Auditing Standards Division are
assigned section numbers in chronological order as they are issued.
Each paragraph or equivalent is decimally numbered for reference
purposes.

Practice Bulletins are assigned section numbers in chronological

order as they are issued. Each paragraph or equivalent is decimally
numbered for reference purposes.

A list of Issues Papers of the Accounting Standards Division, in
chronological order, is included in a separate division.

Copyright © 1988, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Ine.
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TECHNICAL INFORMATION SERVICE
INQUIRIES AND REPLIES

Introduction

The inquiries and replies in this section of the AICPA TEecH-
NICAL PRACTICE AIDs are based on selected practice problems answered
by the staff of the Technical Information Service.

The sole responsibility for the material contained in this section
rests with the staff of the Technical Information Service. This ma-
terial has not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon
by the senior technical committees of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants or the Financial Accounting Standards
Board. Comments and suggestions should be addressed to:

Technical Information Division
AICPA

1211 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036

As a matter of Institute policy, the Technical Information Service
staff does not undertake to give opinions on the tax or legal aspects
of questions submitted.

The following disclaimer applies to all Technical Information
Service replies, whether written or oral, and to the material in this
section:

Views expressed by the Technical Information Service are not
official opinions of the Institute or any of its committees, unless
so indicated. Comments of the Technical Information Service
staff must be accepted as the personal views of the individuals
who offer them. Efforts are made to offer reliable and helpful
replies to inquiries presented, and accordingly, the Service con-
sults available authoritative sources to the extent that time and
work-load permit. The Service’s suggestions are based solely
on the facts presented to it, and are applicable only if the
circumstances are not changed.

AICPA Technical Practice Aids Introduction



12 Inquires and Replies—Introduction

John Graves, Director, Technical Information Division

Thomas W. McRae, Vice President—Technical
Thomas P. Kelley, Group Vice President—Professional

AICPA TECHNICAL HOTLINE

The Technical Information Service answers inquiries about
specific audit or accounting problems.

Call Toll Free

(800) 223-4158 (except New York)
(800) 522-5430 (New York only)

This service is free to AICPA members,

Introduction Copyright © 1986, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Ise.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT
PRESENTATION

TABLE OF CONTENTS
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Section 1100

Statement of
Financial
Position

01 Need for Comparative Financial Statements

Inquiry—Are both a balance sheet and income statement (and,
therefore, also the funds statement) required for all annual
reports, and must all such statements be in comparative form
for at least two years?

Is either statement alone a fair presentation? There are cer-
tain specific circumstances where this question can be specifically
raised, for example, does a balance sheet alone (especially if not
in comparative form) “fairly present” financial position if the
client incurred a material operating loss during the current year?

Reply—ARB No. 43, chapter 2A, Comparative Financial
Statcments, paragraph 2, recommends, but does not require,
presentation of comparative financial statements. However, by
its Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Release No. 9000, the
SEC requires comparative financial statements for the last two
fiscal years, both in financial statements submitted to it and,
under its proxy regulations, in annual reports of such companies
to the public.

SAS No. 58, Reports on Audited Financial Statements, para-
graph 5, states:

Reference in the fourth reporting standard to the financial
statements ‘“taken as a whole” applies equally to a complete
set of financial statements and to an individual financial state-
ment (for example, to a balance sheet) for one or more periods
presented. The auditor may express an unqualified opinion on
one of the financial statements and express a qualified or
adverse opinion or disclaim an opinion on another if the cir-
cumstances warrant.

SAS No. 58, paragraph 47, states:

The auditor may be asked to report on one basic financial
statement and not on the others. For example, he may be
asked to report on the balance sheet and not on the state-
ments of income, retained earnings or cash flows. These en-
gagements do not involve scope limitations if the auditor’s
access to information underlying the basic financial state-

AICPA Technical Practice Aids § 1100.01



122 Financial Statement Presentation

ments is not limited and if he applies all the procedures he
considers necessary in the circumstances; rather, such engage-
ments involve limited reporting objectives,

Therefore, it appears a separate statement of finaneial position
may fairly present financial position, and a separate statement
of income may fairly present results of operations for a period.
Such statements are useful for certain purposes, such as in state-
ments furnished to indicate compliance with hond indentures and
reports on operations for an interim period. The fact that many
users of financial statements will require a statement of financial
position, a statement of income, a statement of changes in stock-
holders’ equity, and a statement of cash flows to properly evalu-
ate a company does not indicate that a single statement may
not fairly present the information it purports to present.

A statement of financial position, as the term is generally used,
refers to a “picture” of an entity at one point in time. Losses
from operations should be appropriately reflected in the retained
earnings account of the entity. If the losses are so great that the
“going concern” premise is in question, proper treatment of this
matter is necessary for the statement to reflect “financial posi-
tion,” whether or not an accompanving statement of income is
presented.

Each statement should stand on its own when presented in
conjunction with the other, and therefore should be able to stand
on its own when presented separately. The fact that neither
statement by itself is adequate for full evaluation of the company
should not preclude issuance of such statements, as they may
serve other purposes. [Amended]

.02 Classification of Assets and Liabilities as Current and Non-
current
Inquiry—The statement of financial position of a securities
broker does not distinguish assets and liabilities between current
and noncurrent. Is this acceptable?

Reply—Yes. The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide,
Audits of Brokers and Dealers in Securities, states on page 39:
Current and noncurrent classifications ordinarily are not pre-
sented on the statement of financial condition. Such a distinc-
tion normally has little meaning for brokers and dealers.

[ Amended]

§11 00-02 Copyright © 1988, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Ine.



Statement of Financial Position 123

.03 Unclassified Balance Sheet for Venture with Limited Life

Ingquiry—A corporation has recently been organized with the
sole purpose of constructing a shopping center which will take
several years to complete, after which the company will be liqui-
dated. The company uses the completed contract method to
recognize income, and will have only one operating cycle. Would
an unclassified balance sheet be appropriate?

Reply—An unclassified balance sheet would be more appro-
priate than a classified one in this situation. The sole purpose of
the corporation is to construct the shopping center, and the
appropriate time frame for reporting purposes, by definition,
becomes the time required to complete the project, rather than
an arbitrary one-year period.

.06 Classification of Iidle Property
Inquiry—What is the appropriate balance sheet presentation
of idle property?

Reply—Accounting Research Study No. 7, Inventory of Gen-
erally Accepted Accounting Principles for Business Enter-
prises, page 257, states:

Plant assets on the balance sheet may include property in
use and property held with reasonable expectation of its being
used in the business. It is not customary to segregate or indi-
cate the existence of temporarily idle plant, reserve, or standby
equipment. Property abandoned but not physically retired and
facilities still owned but no longer adapted for use in the busi-
ness, if material in amount, should be removed from plant ac-
counts and recorded separately at an estimated realizable amount,
appropriately explained.

When a material portion of plant and equipment has been idle
for a protracted period with no apparent likelihood of resuming
operations, the amount should be set forth separately with an
appropriate caption. Such idle plant facilities involve a con-
tinuing expense, and creditors, stockholders, and others in-
terested should be apprised of the fact that property, plant,
and equipment exceed apparent reasonable needs.

07 Comparative Statement Disclosures

Ingquiry—When financial statements of the prior period are
presented on a comparative basis with financial statements of
the current period, should the notes to the comparative financial
statements disclose details for the prior year?

AICPA Technical Practice Aids § 1100.07



124 Financial Statement Presentation

Reply—Generally, in practice notes to comparative financial
statements are also comparative if they present details of items
on the financial statements or are otherwise pertinent.

.08 Classification of Outstanding Checks

Inguiry—Should the amount of checks that have been issued
and are out of the control of the payor but which have not
cleared the bank by the balance sheet date be reported as a
reduction of cash?

Reply—Yes. A check is out of the payor’s control after it
has been mailed or delivered to the payee. The balance sheet
caption “cash” should represent an amount that is within the
control of the reporting enterprise, namely, the amount of cash
in banks plus the amount of cash and checks on hand and de-
posits in transit minus the amount of outstanding checks. Cash
is misrepresented if outstanding checks are classified as liabili-
ties rather than a reduction of cash.

.11 Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

Inquiry—When may assets and liabilities be appropriately
offset?

Reply—APB Opinion No. 10, Omnibus Opinion—1966, para-
graph 7-1, states: “It is a general principle of accounting that
the offsetting of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet is
improper except where a right of setoff exists.”

.12 Classification of Inventory Stored in a Grain Elevator

Inquiry—Should the operator of a grain elevator report in
its financial statements grain owned by others and stored in its
grain elevator?

Reply—No. Grain stored for others should not be included
on the balance sheet of a grain elevator operator. SAS No. 1,
section 901, Public Warehouses—Controls and Auditing Proce-
dures for Goods Held, paragraph 13, states that goods held for
others by a warehouseman are not owned by the warehouseman
and should not appear in his financial statements. The same is
true for grain stored for others by a grain elevator. Footnote
disclosure should be made of the amount of grain stored for
others.

.13 Use of an Unclassified Balance Sheet by a Leasing Company
Ingquiry—A leasing company’s balance sheet consists of cash,

§11 00.08 Copyright © 1986, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



Statement of Financial Position 125

rental machinery and equipment, accounts payable, accrued
expenses (related to the operation of the rental equipment) and
an immaterial amount of debt related to the acquisition of the
rental equipment.

Would it be appropriate for the leasing company to change
its balance sheet presentation from a classified balance sheet
to an unclassified balance sheet? What effect would this new
presentation have on the auditor’s report?

Reply—For some enterprises in specialized industries un-
classified balance sheets may be presented if a classified balance
sheet would suggest inappropriate financial ratios. An unclas-
sified balance sheet may be the most useful presentation for a
leasing company.

A change from a classified to an unclassified balance sheet
presentation is not considered a change in accounting principle.
SAS No. 1, section 420, Consistency of Application of Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles, paragraph 14, states that
material changes of classifications in the current financial state-
ments should be indicated and explained in the financial
statements or notes to the financial statements. These types
of changes and material reclassification made in previously
issued financial statements to enhance comparability would not
affect the auditor’s opinion as to consistency and need not be
referred to in the auditor’s report.
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Section 1200
Income Statement

.01 Disclosure of Revenues of an Agent

Inquiry—Company A is in the business of arranging sales of
used cars for which service it receives a commission based on an
established fee schedule. Company A receives title to the cars
sold but simultaneously transfers title to the car buyer. Com-
pany A warrants main engine components for thirty days after
date of sale.

The following presentations of revenue in the income state-
ment are being considered:

Commissions Earned $20,000
or
Sales $ 300,000
Cost of Sales (280,000)
Gross Profit
(or Net Commissions) $ 20,000

‘What is the proper presentation of revenue?

Reply—Since Company A is operating as a broker, Company
A should report Commissions Earned rather than Sales. How-
ever, Company A could disclose abave the Commissions Earned
figure, without showing a deduction, the amount of sales, as
follows:

Sales Arranged $300,000
Commissions Earned $ 20,000
Expenses, ete. XXX

Company A should also make proper provision for the cost
of warranties.

.02 Disposal of a Segment of a Business

Inguiry—A company in the construction business is disposing
of a subsidiary which is in an unrelated field of business. Should
this disposal be treated as a one line item as outlined in APB
Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting
the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Ez-
traordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions, paragraph 8?
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Reply—Disposal of this subsidiary would constitute the dis-
posal of a segment of a business as defined in APB Opinion No.
30, paragraph 13, and also as discussed in the examples of dis-
posal of a segment in ATICPA Interpretation No. 1 of APB
Opinion No. 30 “Illustration of the Application of APB Opinion
No. 30.” Therefore, the presentation in the income statement
that is illustrated in APB Opinion No. 30, paragraph 8, would
be appropriate.

.03 Discontinued Operations—Decision Reversed

Inquiry—Company A reversed, during the current year, its
prior decision to discontinue the operations of a business seg-
ment. How should Company A report the current decision in its
financial statements?

Reply—If the decision to discontinue the operations of a seg-
ment is later reversed, the income or loss from discontinued
operations would he reclassified in the financial statements for
the years in which the discontinued operations were reported
separately. The later decision justifies reclassifying the com-
ponents of net income. The changes in the components reported
previously should be explained in the notes.

The reversal of a gain or loss on disposal of the segment that
was recognized in a prior year would be included in net income
for the year in which the decision was reversed because FASB
Statement No. 16, Prior Period Adjustments, restricts prior
period adjustments to specified items. The reversal would be
reported as a change in estimate in accordance with APB
Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes.

.04 Statement Title when There Is a Net Loss
Inquiry—What title is suggested for the “Statement of In-
come” when a “net loss” exists in one or more years?

Reply—Companies included in the annual survey entitled
Accounting Trends & Techniques (“Trends”) file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly, their annual
reports include a three year statement of income. If a current
year net loss is shown in the income statement, the “Trends”
companies usually describe the statement of income as the
“Statement of Operations.” They occasionally use the title
“Statement of Income (Loss)” and very rarely use the title
“Statement of Loss.”
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Some companies always use “Statement of Operations” since
the heading will be the same whether there is a “net loss” or
“net income.”

05 Presentation of Reimbursed Payroll Expense

Inquiry—One company of a controlled group, in addition to
its own operations, acts as a “paymaster” for the entire group.
This company records the entire payroll of all members in the
group on its general ledger to facilitate reconciliation with state
and federal payroll tax returns. Each member of the group
reimburses the “paymaster” for its share of payroll and payroll
taxes and records management fee expense while the paymaster
records it as management fee income.

Should the reimbursement be classified as other income in the
separate income statement of the “paymaster” company?

Reply—No. The reimbursement should be allocated as a
reduction of payroll and payroll tax expense because this ap-
proach would more accurately present the “paymaster” com-
pany’s expenses for its own operations.
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Section 1300

Statement of

Cash Flows

.03 Comparative Statements of Cash Flows

Inguiry—Is it necessary to provide a statement of cash flows
for both the current and prior periods if comparative income
statements are presented, but only the current balance sheet is
presented?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows,
paragraph 3, requires a business enterprise that reports both
financial position and results of operations to provide a state-
ment of cash flows for each period for which results of opera-
tions are provided.

Therefore, if a balance sheet is presented, a statement of
cash flows should be presented for both current and prior periods
if income statements are presented for such periods. [ Amended]

05 Statement of Cash Flows for Annual Report with Balance
Sheet Only
Inguiry—When only a statement of financial position is pre-
sented, is it necessary that the auditor’s opinion be qualified
relative to the omission of the statement of cash flows?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows,
paragraph 3, states:
A Business Enterprise that provides a set of financial state-
ments that reports both financial position and results of

operations shall also provide a statement of cash flows for
each period for which results of operations are provided.

Therefore, when a statement of finanecial position is not accom-
panied by a statement of operations, there is no need for presen-
tation of a statement of eash flows, and no comment on the
absence of such a statement is necessary. [Amended]

.07 Statements of Cash Flows for Nonprofit Organizations

Inquiry—F ASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows,
paragraph 3, specifies that the statement of cash flows should
be presented as a basic financial statement when a balance
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sheet and a statement of income are issued by a profit-oriented
business entity. May this requirement be properly interpreted
to mean that the statement of cash flows is not a requirement
when reporting on financial position and operating results of a
nonprofit organization?

Reply—The AICPA industry audit guides applicable to eol-
leges and universities, voluntary health and welfare organiza-
tions, and funds (other than enterprise funds) of state and local
governmental units state that those entities need not present a
statement of changes in financial position because the essential
information is presented in the other financial statements. The
applicable audit guides and statement of position (SOP) No.
78-10, Accounting Principles and Reporting Practices for Cer-
tain Nonprofit Organizations, state that financial statements
intending to present both the financial position and results of
operations of hospitals, enterprise funds of local and state gov-
ernmental units, and other nonprofit organizations should in-
clude a statement of changes in finanecial position.

The guidance in the aforementioned audit guides and SOP
regarding statements of changes in financial position should
be applied to statements of cash flows, as required by FASB
Statement No. 95. [ Amended]

.08 Effect of Change in Depreciation Method on Statement of
Cash Flows
Inquiry—A company which formerly depreciated its equip-
ment on an accelerated basis has changed to the straight-line
method. The cumulative effect of this change, net of tax, was a
$100,000 increase in income for the current year. How should
this change be shown on the statement of cash flows?

Reply—The cumulative effect should be shown on the state-
ment of cash flows under cash flows from operating activities
as a reconciling item between net income and net eash provided
by operating activities, if the indirect method is used. If the
direct method is used, the cumulative effect should be shown
as a reconciling item on the reconciliation of net income to net
cash provided by operating activities. [Amended]

.09 Presentation of Property Sold in Statement of Cash Flows

Inquiry—What is the correct method of presenting property
sold in a statement of cash flows?
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Reply—FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows,
paragraph 16, states that receipts from sales of property, plant,
and equipment and other productive assets are cash inflows
from investing activities. The gain or loss arising from the sale
should appear as a reconciling item between net income and
net cash provided by operating activities. The total proceeds
received from the sale should appear under cash flows from
investing activities. [Amended]

.10 Comprehensive Basis of Accounting Other than Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles
Inguiry—When an entity prepares its financial statements on
a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally ac-
cepted accounting principles (GAAP), is a statement of cash
flows required ?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows,
paragraph 3, states:
A business enterprise that provides a set of financial state-
ments that reports both financial position and results of
operations shall also provide a statement of cash flows for
each period for which results of operations are provided.

SAS No. 14, Special Reports, paragraph 7, states, in part:

b2 N 11

Terms such as “balance sheet,” “statement of financial posi-
tion,” “statement of income,” “statement of operations,”
“statement of changes in financial position,” or similar unmod-
ified titles are generally understood to be applicable only to
financial statements that are intended to present financial
position, results of operations, or changes in financial position
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Accordingly, an entity presenting financial statements pre-
pared on a comprehensive basis of accounting other than gen-
erally accepted accounting principles is not required to include
a statement of cash flows, since these statements do not purport
to present both financial position and results of operations in
accordance with GAAP. [ Amended]

.11 The Effect of a Prior Period Adjustment on the Statement
of Cash Flows When Single Period Statements Are Presented

Inquiry—How would a prior period adjustment be presented
in the statement of cash flows if single period statements are
presented?
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Reply—FASB Statement No. 16, Prior Period Adjustments,
paragraph 16a, states that “prior period adjustments shall, in
single period statements, be reflected as adjustments of the
opening balance of retained earnings.” A corresponding prior
period adjustment will normally result in a change in the begin-
ning balance of an asset or liability account. FASB Statement
No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, paragraph 32, states, in part:

Information about all investing and financing activities of

an enterprise during a period that affected recognized assets

or liabilities but that did not result in cash receipts or cash

payments in the period shall be reported in related disclosures.
Therefore, the difference in an account between the current
balance sheet and that same account in the restated beginning
balance sheet (even if not presented) that resulted from the
prior period adjustment, should be reflected in the related foot-
note disclosures and clearly referenced to the statement of cash
flows. [ Amended]

.12 Statement of Cash Flows for Initial Year of Operations

Inquiry—Is a statement of cash flows required for a com-
pany’s first year of operations?

Reply—Yes. FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash
Flows, paragraph 3, states that a business enterprise that pro-
vides a set of financial statements that reports both financial
position and results of operations shall also provide a statement
of cash flows for each period for which results of operations are
provided.

> The next page is 261. <—&
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Section 1400

Consolidated Financial
Statements

.02 Consolidation of Corporation and Proprietorship

Inguiry—How should the financial statements of a corporation
and a proprietorship he consolidated ?

Reply—This answer assumes that 100% of the corporation
capital stock is owned by the proprietor. If not, the proportion
of the net equity of the corporation applicable to the interest
of the minority should appear on the balance sheet between
liabilities and net worth, and on the income statement as a sub-
traction following the provision for income taxes.

As in any consolidation, the stockholders’ equity of the sub-
sidiary corporation should be eliminated against the investment
of the parent (the proprietorship). Any net earnings of the sub-
sidiary corporation subsequent to its acquisition and not re-
corded on the books of the parent should be reflected in the
consolidated net equity, which, since the parent is a sole proprie-
torship, will be a single figure. As income taxes are assessed
against the owner as an individual, rather than against the
proprietorship, no provision is made for income taxes beyond
those payable by the corporation. However, a footnote should
disclose such omission, and if it is anticipated that funds will
have to be withdrawn from the proprietorship to meet future
taxes on income earned to date, this too should be disclosed, with
an estimate of the amount thereof if practicable. Of course, pro-
vision should be made for elimination of profits to the extent
that they may be reflected in consolidated inventories or in
other consolidated assets.

.06 Combined and Separate Financial Statements

Inquiry—Company A and Company B are new car dealers
with A selling an American made car and B selling a foreign
made car. One individual owns 100% of the outstanding stock
of both companies.

Both companies A and B are at the same location with sepa-
rate buildings for sales staffs. Company A maintains the parts
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and service departments for both companies with the parts inven-
tory, warranty and service receivables of Company B on Com-
pany A’s books. In return, Company B pays Company A a per
car fee for services to be performed on each new car sold by B.

Company A maintains the only used car inventory on the lot
adjacent to Company B’s building. Each time B receives a used
car in trade, it is sold to Company A at the wholesale fair
market value.

Although there is a differentiation in sales staffs, management,
accounting, secretarial, and other related services are performed
by the same staff out of both buildings, and Company B pays a
monthly fee for services performed.

Company A has income for the year, but Company B has a
loss for the period. Consolidated financial statements will be
prepared, but is it also necessary to provide figures for the
individual companies?

Reply—ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, para-
graph 22, states in part:

There are circumstances, however, where combined financial
statements (as distinguished from consolidated statements) of
commonly controlled companies are likely to be more mean-
ingful than their separate statements. For example, combined
financial statements would be useful where one individual
owns a controlling interest in several corporations which are
related in their operations.

Combined financial statements of the companies would be appro-
priate, and there is no necessity for presenting separate state-
ments for the companies.

Unfortunately, Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 makes
no statement as to appropriate presentation of the stockholder’s
equity section of a combined balance sheet. Appropriate disclo-
sure, therefore, may depend upon the circumstances. Either on
the statement of financial position, or in a note, there should be
disclosure for each company of their number of shares of stock
that are authorized and outstanding, and the par value. While
under some circumstances it might not be necessary to disclose
the allocation of retained earnings between the two companies,
other circumstances may exist under which such disclosure would
be required—e. g., if the losses of either company have been so
severe that an insolvent condition might be anticipated.
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.07 :eporﬁng on Company Where Option to Acquire Control
xists

Inquiry—Corporation A acquired debentures from Corpora-
tion B convertible into common voting stock within ten years at
$1 per share. Corporation A also has an option to purchase
additional shares at $1 per share upon conversion to bring A’s
holdings in B up to 51% of the total outstanding shares. Corpora-
tion A also has the right to appoint a majority of Corporation B’s
Board of Directors and has done so. Other intercompany trans-
actions are negligible.

May each company issue separate financial statements, or
are consolidated statements required? What disclosures would
be necessary?

Reply—At present there is no ownership of one company by
the other, and consolidation would not be proper. Further, since
mtercompany transactions (other than interest on the deben-
tures) are negligible, combined statements would probably not
be particularly useful.

Corporation A should disclose in its financial statements the
terms under which it may obtain controlling stock ownership
of Corporation B, the amount of interest received, that no other
intercompany transactions are significant, and that it presently
has the right to and does appoint a majority to Corporation B’s
Board of Directors. It should also present summarized informa-
tion as to the assets, liabilities, and operating results of Corpora-
tion B, or include B’s financial statements with its report.

Corporation B, in addition to disclosing the interest rate and
maturity of the convertible debentures, should disclose Corpora-
tion A’s conversion and option privileges and should disclose
that Corporation A has the right to and has appointed a majority
to Corporation B’s Board of Directors.

.08 Intercompany Profits in Inventories

Inguiry—One of the two divisions of a firm, in a group of
brother-sister corporations, derives over 95% of its income from
production of materials for a related company. All expenses are
allocated to the divisions in a reasonable manner. It is therefore
possible to determine the net profit remaining to the division.
How should che inventories be shown on the consolidated state-
ments, and should intercompany profits be eliminated 7
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Reply—Generally, the inventories to be shown in consolidated
statements should be valued on the same basis as they would
have been had the enterprise been organized as one corporation,
rather than as more than one.

ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, paragraph 6,
includes the following statement:

Accordingly, any intercompany profit or loss on assets remain-
ing within the group should be eliminated ; the concept usually
applied for this purpose is gross profit or loss.

ARB No. 51, paragraph 17, points out:

If income taxes have been paid on intercompany profits on
assets remaining within the group, such taxes should be
deferred or the intercompany profits to be eliminated in con-
solidation should be appropriately reduced.

.09 Intercompany Profit on Sale of Receivables

Inquiry—A controlled brother and sister corporation in liqui-
dation sold its receivables at a premium to another corporation
controlled by the same brother and sister. The seller reported
the premium as income in the current year of sales and the buyer
corporation set up the premium as a deferred charge to be amor-
tized over a five-vear period on a monthly basis, commencing
with the current year.

Must this transaction be eliminated when combined state-
ments are prepared?

Reply—ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements,
paragraph 6, requires elimination of intercompany profits in
the preparation of consolidated and/or combined statements.
Profits on sales of receivables should not be exempted from
these requirements. [ Amended]

.13 Presentation of Investment in Partnership

Inquiry—A company has an investment in a limited partner-
ship engaged in the construction of an office building. In order
to ohtain outside investors for the office building partnership,
the company has agreed that profits or losses for the first
nine years of operation shall be allocated 70% to the outside
investors and 30% to the company. At the expiration of the
nine years, the distribution of earnings or losses shall revert
to 70% to the company and 30% to the outside investors. How-
ever, since the company is contributing 70% of the value to the
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office building partnership, it was agreed that upon sale of the
office building, at any time, the company will receive 70% of
the profit and the outside investors 30%.

Should the financial statements of the limited partnership
be combined with those of the company or would the equity
method of accounting have to be used?

Reply—Since the company “owns” 70% of the limited part-
nership, the financial statements of the limited partnership should
be combined with those of the company on a line by line basis
even though during the first nine years there would be a minority
interest in earnings of 70%. [Amended]

.14 Consolidation of Indirect Subsidiaries

Inquiry—Corporation A owns one hundred percent of the
stock of corporation B. B owns ninety percent of Company C and
one hundred percent of Company D.

Would companies C and D be considered subsidiaries of A
or B? Should B show the investments in C and D according to
the equity method when filing financial statements?

Reply—Companies C and D would be considered indirect sub-
sidiaries of A, and direct subsidiaries of B. APB Opinion No. 18,
The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common
Stock, paragraph 14, as amended by FASB Statement No. 94,
Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries, states in part,
“The equity method is not a valid substitute for consolidation.
Moreover, since ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements,
as amended, requires the general-purpose financial statements of
companies having one or more majority-owned subsidiaries to be
consolidated statements, parent-company statements are not a
valid substitute for consolidated financial statements.”’

Unless the financial statements of corporation B are heing pre-
pared for a special purpose for which consolidation of its sub-
sidiaries is not appropriate, failure to consolidate its interests
in corporations C and D should be considered a departure from
generally accepted accounting principles. [ Amended]

.15 Loss of Control of Subsidiary

Inguiry—Company A owns 55% of the voting stock of Com-
pany B. However 10% of the stock has been assigned to a
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voting trust for a period of two years. The trustee of the voting
trust is a representative of the minority interest, giving the
minority interest voting control for a period of two years.

Should Company A consolidate Company B or account for its
nvestments by the equity method?

Reply—ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements para-
graph 2, as amended by FASB Statement No. 94, Consolidation
of All Majority-Ouned Subsidiaries, in a discussion of con-
solidation policy states:

The usual condition for a controlling financial interest is
ownership of a majority voting interest, and, therefore, as a
general rule ownership by one company, directly or indirectly,
of over 50% of the outstanding voting shares of another com-
pany is a condition pointing toward consolidation. However,
there are exceptions to this general rule. A majority-owned
subsidiary shall not be consolidated if control is likely to be
temporary or if it does not rest with the majority owner
(as, for instance, if the subsidiary is in legal reorganization
or in bankruptcy or operates under foreign exchange restric-
tions, controls, or other governmentally imposed uncertainties
so severe that they cast significant doubt on the parent’s
ability to control the subsidiary).

Control does not rest with Company A (the majority owner)
because Company A assigned 10% of the shares to a voting
trust. Therefore, Company A should not consolidate Company
B. APB Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for
Investments in Common Stock, paragraph 14, footnote 4, as
amended by FASB Statement No. 94, states that the limitations
in ARB No. 51, paragraphs 2 and 3 (as amended by FASB
Statement No. 94), should also be applied as limitations to the
use of the equity method. Therefore, Company A should account
for its investment in Company B by the cost method. [ Amended]

.17 Caption of Notes to Financial Statements

Inquiry—Should notes to financial statements be captioned
as of the balance sheet date or for the period ended?

Reply—The caption is usually “Notes to Financial State-
ments” without date. Notes relate to the accompanying
statements of income, statements of financial position, and state-
ments cash flows, each of which is dated. [Amended]

§ 1400.17 Copyright © 1988, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Ine.



Consolidated Financial Statements 267

.18 Combined Statements for Corporation and Partnership Com-
monly Owned

Inquiry—A privately owned corporation leases property from

a partnership whose sole business activity is leasing property

to the corporation. The corporation and partnership are com-

monly owned. Are combined financial statements appropriate?

Reply—Combined financial statements for the corporation
and partnership are appropriate. FASB Statement No. 13,
Accounting for Leases, paragraph 31, states:

The accounts of subsidiaries (regardless of when organized
or acquired) whose principal business activity is leasing property
or facilities to the parent or other affiliated companies shall be
consolidated. The equity method is not adequate for fair pre-
sentation of those subsidiaries because their assets and liabilities
are significant to the consolidated financial position of the
enterprise.

Although the above refers to subsidiaries and consolidations,
a section of ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements,
paragraph 22, pertaining to combined statements, states the
following:

To justify the preparation of consolidated statements, the
controlling financial interest should rest directly or indirectly
in one of the companies included in the consolidation. There
are circumstances, however, where combined financial state-
ments (as distinguished from consolidated statements) of
commonly controlled companies are likely to be more mean-
ingful than their separate statements. For example, combined
financial statements would be useful where one individual
owns a controlling interest in several corporations which are
related in their operations. Combined statements would also
be used to present the financial position and the results of
operations of a group of unconsolidated subsidiaries. They
might also be used to combine the financial statements of
companies under common management.

.19 Consolidation of Limited Partnerships

Inquiry—Company A, a privately held real estate developer
and operator, conduects a portion of its business through limited
partnerships in which it is a general partner. The limited
partnerships are structured so that Company A, the general
partuer, has a 5% interest in profits and losses, shares in two-
thirds of the cash flow from operations after the limited part-
ners receive their guaranteed payments, and has full authority
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to operate, manage, refinance, and sell. Should Company A
consolidate the limited partnerships?

Reply—SOP No. 78-9, Accounting for Investments in Real
Estate Ventures, paragraph 9, states that consolidation is appro-
priate “only if the substance of the partnership or other agree-
ments provide for control by the general partners.” Since the
general partner has full authority to operate, manage, refinance,
and sell, the general partner controls the operations of the
limited partnerships and should consolidate the limited part-
nerships.

.20 Fiscal Years for Tax and Financial Reporting Purposes Differ

Inquiry—Can an entity have different fiscal years for tax
and reporting purposes?

Reply—There is no requirement in the accounting literature
for the tax and the financial reporting year-end to be the same.
However, having different fiscal years complicates further any
interperiod tax allocation the entity may have.

.21 Minority Interest Guarantee

Inquiry—Company A is the majority shareholder and Com-
pany B the minority shareholder in Company C. B has guar-
anteed the debt of C by irrevocable letters of credit. B’s share
of the net losses of C exceeds its share of C’s net assets. Since
B guaranteed C’s indebtedness, should this be reported as an
asset in the consolidated financial statements of A and C?

Reply—B’s guarantee is similar to a contingent asset and
should not be included in the consolidated financial statements
of A and C other than through note disclosure. Accordingly,
there would be ne amount reflected in the consolidated balance
sheet for the minority interest, since B’s share of the net losses
of C exceeds its share of C’s net assets. (See ARB No. 51,
Consolidated Financial Statements, paragraph 15.)

If the creditor of C requires B to perform on its guarantee,
then B, for accounting purposes, would have a claim against C.
After this takes place, a liability to B would be reported in the
consolidated financial statements of A and C. [ Amended]

§1 400-20 Copyright © 1988, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



Consolidated Financial Statements 269

<22 Intervening Intercompany Transactions Between Subsidiary’s
and Parent’s Year-End

Inquiry—A parent company has a December 31 year-end and
its wholly owned subsidiary has a November 30 year-end. The
two companies generally have substantial intercompany sales
and purchases which are recorded by each company as they
occur. The parent uses the subsidiary’s November 30 year-end
statement to prepare the consolidated financial statements.

The intervening intercompany transactions, which occur be-
tween December 1 and December 31, create intercompany
account balances which do not eliminate upon consolidation due
to the difference in year-ends of the parent and its subsidiary.
How should these intervening transactions be accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements?

Reply—In discussing differences in fiscal periods, ARB No.
51, Comsolidated Financial Statements, paragraph 4, states,
“where the difference is not more than about three months, it
usually is acceptable to use, for consolidation purposes, the
subsidiary’s statements for its fiscal period; when this is done,
recognition should be given by disclosure, or otherwise, to the
the effect of intervening events which materially affect the
financial position or results of operations.”

‘When a subsidiary’s fiscal year differs from that of the parent,
intercompany accounts may not agree. Transactions in the
interval between the subsidiary’s year-end and the parent’s
year-end must be analyzed and appropriate eonsolidation entries
prepared.

A practical approach to preparing these consolidation entries
would be to reverse the intervening intercompany transactions
in the parent company’s accounts but not in the subsidiary’s
accounts. A summary of these intervening transactions could
then be disclosed in a note to the consolidated financial
statements.

.23 Conforming Subsidiary’s Inventory Pricing Method to Hs
Parent Company’s Method

Inquiry—A parent company uses the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
cost assumption to price its inventory, while its subsidiary
uses the last-in, first-out (LIFO) cost assumption to price its
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inventory. Must the subsidiary’s inventory method be changed
to conform to the FIFO method used by its parent company in
consolidated financial statements?

Reply—There is no requirement under generally accepted
accounting principles for the subsidiary to conform its inven-
tory pricing method with the parent company’s method. Con-
solidated statements may be presented with the subsidiary
using LIFO and the parent using FIFO. Also, separate sub-
sidiary only statements may be presented on the LIFO basis.

24 Classification of Minority Interest

Inguiry—Where should minority interest be classified in a
consolidated balance sheet?

Reply—The authoritative literature does not provide defini-
tive guidance on the classification of minority interest. In prac-
tice, minority interest is presented as a liability, a component
of stockholders’ equity or as a separate category between liabil-
ities and stockholders’ equity.

The AICPA’s Accounting Trends & Technigues is a compila-
tion of data obtained by a survey of 600 annual reports to
stockholders, undertaken for the purpose of analyzing the ac-
counting information disclosed in such reports. Most companies
included in the survey that reflected a minority interest caption
presented it as part of noncurrent liabilities or between liabil-
ities and stockholders’ equity.

.25 Issuance of Parent Company Only Financial Statements

Inguiry—FASB Statement No. 94, Consolidation of All Ma-
jority-Owned Subsidiaries, paragraph 15, precludes preparation
of parent company financial statements for issuance to stock-
holders as the financial statements of the primary reporting
entity. Are there any circumstances under which parent com-
pany financial statements may still be prepared?

Reply—Yes. ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements,
paragraph 24, states: “In some cases parent company statements
may be needed, in addition to consolidated statements, to indi-
cate adequately the position of bondholders, other creditors, or
preferred stockholders of the parent. Consolidated statements,
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in which one column is used for the parent company and other
columns for particular subsidiaries or groups of subsidiaries

often are an effective means of presenting the pertinent in-
formation.”

> The next page is 301. <—<&&
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Section 1500

Cash Basis Statements or Modifications

Having Substantial Support

.03 Presentation of Income Tax Expense in Cash Basis Financial
Statements
Inquiry—Should the amount of income taxes paid during the
year or the amount of income taxes accrued on current year’s
income be included in eash basis financial statements?

Reply—SAS No. 14, Special Reports, paragraph 4, in deserib-
ing various comprehensive bases of accounting other than gen-
erally accepted accounting principles, states that recording
depreciation or accruing income taxes in modified cash basis
financial statements has substantial support. Cash basis financial
statements should present the amount of taxes paid. If accrued
taxes are presented, the financial statements would be on a
modified cash basis.

.04 Terminology for Cash Basis Financial Statements

Inquiry—If a corporation presents cash basis financial state-
ments, what should be the title of the “balance sheet”; what
should be the caption for “net income” or “net loss”; and may
the corporation use “retained earnings?”

Reply—SAS No. 14, Special Reports, paragraphs 7 and 8, in-
dicate terminology which is appropriate for cash basis financial
statements—for instance, “statement of assets and liabilities
arising from cash transactions” would be used as a “balance
sheet” title. The terms “net income”, “net loss”, and “retained
earnings” are not mentioned specifically. The inference is that
the caption should be “excess of revenue collected over expenses
paid”, “excess of expenses paid over revenue collected”, and
“accumulated excess of revenue collected over expenses paid.”

.05 Substantial Support for Modifications in Cash Basis
Inquiry—Many nonprofit organizations, partnerships, and
small businesses prepare their financial statements in conformity
with a modified cash basis of acecounting, which may include
departures from the cash basis of accounting. For example,
the accrual basis of accounting (that is, generally accepted
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accounting principles) may be applied to some items. Which
modifications of the cash basis of accounting have “substantial
support” under SAS No. 14, Special Reports, paragraph 4c?

Reply—The cash basis of accounting and modifications of
the cash basis are not formalized in accounting literature as is
the accrual basis of accounting. Modifications have evolved
through common usage and practice.

Modifications of the cash basis of accounting to record depre-
ciation on plant and equipment and to accrue income taxes
were recognized in SAS No. 14. Ordinarily a modification
would have “substantial support” if the method is equivalent
to the accrual hasis of accounting for the particular item and
if the method is mot illogical (such as, recording revenue on
the acerual basis and recording purchases and other costs on
the cash basis). If modifications to the cash basis of accounting
do not have substantial support, the auditor should include in
his report an explanatory paragraph and modify the recom-
mended language.

If the modifications are so extensive that the modified “cash-
basis” statements are, in the auditor’s judgment, tantamount to
financial statements on the accrual basis, the statements should
be considered accrual basis. The auditor should use the standard
form of report (SAS No. 58, Reports on Audited Financial
Statements, paragraph 8), modified as appropriate because of
departures from generally accepted accounting principles (SAS
No. 58, paragraphs 49 through 54). For example, financial state-
ments that are presented in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles, except that material leases are not cap-
italized (FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases),
are not considered “modified cash-basis” finanecial statements.
{ Amended]

> The next page is 451. <&
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Section 1600

Personal Financial
Statements

.01 Applicability of FASB Statement No. 12 to Personal Holding
Companies

Inquiry—Does FASB Statement No. 12, Accounting for Cer-

tain Marketable Securities, apply to personal holding companies?

Reply—Yes. Statement No. 12, paragraph 5, lists the entities
to which the Statement does not apply.

.02 Income Tax Provision Related to Estimated Current Value of
Personal Residence Disclosed in Personal Financial Statements

Inquiry—SOP No. 82-1, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Personal Financial Statements, paragraph 30, states, in part:

A provision should be made for estimated income taxes on
the differences between the estimated current values of assets
and the estimated current amounts of liabilities and their tax
bases . . . The provision should be computed as if the esti-
mated current values of all assets had been realized and the
estimated current amounts of all liabilities had been liquidated
on the statement date, using applicable income tax laws and
regulations, considering recapture provisions and available
carryovers . . . The methods and assumptions used to com-
pute the estimated income taxes should be fully disclosed.

The present federal income tax laws provide two special tax
benefits regarding the gain on the sale of a principal personal
residence.

In estimating the income taxes related to the unrealized ap-
preciation of the client’s principal residence in his personal
financial statements, can the client assume:

1) another home would be purchased within 24 months of the
date on which the existing home was sold?

2) the principal residence will not be sold until after the client
attains age 557

Reply—The client’s computations should not assume the pur-
chase of another home within 24 months after the date on which
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the existing home was sold. SOP No. 82-1, paragraph 30, basi-
cally provides for three assumptions as of the statement date:
a) all assets had been realized at their estimated current values;
b) all liabilities had been liquidated at their estimated current
amounts; and ¢) a provision for estimated income taxes should
be based on applicable income tax laws and regulations. Thus,
the method and assumptions used to compute the estimated
income taxes in accordance with SOP No. 82-1 relate to rates to
be used based on existing tax law, not on assumptions of future
actions of the individual after the financial statement date. This
is also emphasized by the “assumptions used column’’ in Ap-
pendix B of SOP No. 82-1. Appendix B is an illustrative work-
sheet for determining the amount of estimated income taxes.

Similarly, the client’s computations should not assume that
his principal residence will be sold until after the client attains
age 55. However, if the client has already reached age 55 and
met certain occupancy conditions, part of the gain could be
excluded from income in calculating the tax for personal finan-
cial statement purposes.

> The next page is 501. <—&&
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Section 1700

Prospective Financial
Statements

.01 Omission of a Minimum Guideline in a Prospective Financial
Statement

Inquiry—Statement on Standards for Accountants’ Services
on Prospective Financial Information, Financial Forecasts and
Projections, Appendix A, presents minimum guidelines which
should be followed for the presentation of prospective financial
information. Included in these guidelines are primary and fully
diluted earnings per share information. Must a nonpublic en-
tity, exempt under FASB Statement No. 21, Suspension of the
Reporting of Earnings Per Share and Segment Information by
Nonpublic Enterprises, present earnings per share information
in order to meet the minimum presentation guidelines for pro-
spective financial information?

Reply—No. Financial Forecasts and Projections, Appendix A,
“Minimum Presentation Guidelines,” paragraph 1, states: “Pro-
spective financial statements may take the form of complete
basic financial statements or may be limited to the following
minimum items (where such items would be presented for his-
torical financial statements for the period).” Therefore, if a
nonpublic company does not have to disclose earnings per share
information under FASB Statement No. 21, it need not include
this information with its prospective financial statements. Ap-
pendix A, paragraph 2, states that a prospective financial state-
ment presentation which omits one or more of the applicable
minimum items is a partial presentation, which is not covered
by the statement. In the case of a nonpublic company, primary
and fully diluted earnings per share are not applicable items;
therefore, it is not a partial presentation and is subject to
the provisions of the statement for prospective financial in-
formation.
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Section 2110
Cash

.01 Depositing Cash Receipts

Inquiry—What is the meaning of the phrase, ‘‘Receipts should
be deposited intact?’’ Must the individual items of remittance
such as checks, money orders, and cash be deposited, or is it
sufficient to deposit the exact total amount of the receipts for a
particular day?

Reply—Deposits received in the mail should be deposited ex-
actly as received, with each check item appearing on the deposit
ticket, and the cash items generally appearing as one total. The
depositor should retain a list of the details making up the cash
item. Remittances received over the counter should generally be
handled separately from mail remittances. A record should be
retained for each item received, although the deposit ticket gener-
ally will list separately only checks received. Frequently, counter
receipts will be greater than the items due the organization since
change will be given back. It would be desirable for each check
item to show the amount for which payment was received and
the amount paid out in change.

.02 Checks Undelivered at Balance Sheet Date

Inquiry—It is the practice of a client to draw checks to all of
its ereditors at the end of each month, thus resulting in a condi-
tion of no trade accounts payable at the end of each month. At
the same time, after deducting these disbursements from cash
in bank, large overdrafts may result from this procedure. How-
ever, since the client does not wish to deliver the checks against
insufficient funds, the checks are kept in the possession of the
client and mailed only after there are sufficient funds to cover
the checks mailed.

Is it proper, as the client requests, for the auditor to take these
checks still on hand and journalize the total back into cash in
bank and credit trade accounts payable for this amount (since
the checks have not actually been disbursed and since this inter-
nal record keeping suits the convenience of the client)? Also, is
it mandatory that these held checks be voided first and new
checks with new dates be prepared before the anditors can jour-
nalize such an entry?
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Reply—It is not only proper but necessary that any checks
dated prior to the balance sheet date and not mailed or otherwise
delivered, be restored to cash by journal entry. In some instances,
it may be difficult to determine which checks have not been mailed,
although generally the auditor should be suspicious of any blocks
of checks that are not returned with the next subsequent bank
statements, or that are returned but show their first bank stamps
later than two or three business days after the balance sheet date.

.03 Drafts Outstanding as Reductions of Cash Balance

Inquiry—A client has men out in the field. These men draw
drafts on the company bank account for purchases, expense
items, and advances (loans). At the close of the year, there usu-
ally are a few of these drafts in transit, but they have not been
accepted by the company and could be refused. In the normal
situation, however, they are accepted by the company. These
amounts have always been very small in the past, but there is
the possibility, of course, that the amounts could become mate-
rial. Should the bank account be reduced for any or all of these
drafts and the various expenses, loans, etc. be charged?

Reply—The bank account should be credited in the amount of
the drafts in transit, and the applicable cost or expense classifica-
tions involved charged in the accounting period when drafts are
written. Although such drafts must be approved by the company
before actually being honored, a refusal, apparently, is unusual.
Viewing the situation from the standpoint of a ‘‘going concern,”’
it would appear that all the elements of ‘‘incurring’’ an expense,
or making a purchase, or an advance, take place prior to the
year end. In addition, to defer recognizing these entries until
approval is given, especially in view of the lack of materiality of
the items and the few times rejections have taken place, gives
too much weight to the concept of rigid accounting periods and
not enough to the proper ‘‘matching’’ of costs and revenues.

.04 Bank Account of Debtor Held by Creditor

Inquiry—A corporation loaned the sum of $27,000 to an indi-
vidual. The individual subsequently repaid the loan by delivering
his personal check to the corporation. In order that the funds
represented by the check could continue to earn interest and
not lie dormant in a checking account, the individual delivered
to the corporation his savings bank pass books sufficient to cover
the face amount of the check and also delivered to the corpora-
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tion executed withdrawal slips covering those bank books. The
corporation retained the check, the bank books, and the executed
withdrawal slips. The corporate officer, who usually made entries
in the original books of account of the corporation, made an entry
showing the funds, represented by the check, as having been
deposited by the corporation.

The rationale of the officer making the entry was that this
transaction represented cash on hand or cash in the bank. The
corporation would at any time be able to withdraw sufficient
money from the individual’s checking account to cover the check.

Is it correct to treat this amount as cash on the corporation’s
books?

Reply—In the absence of an opinion from an attorney that the
cash in the savings bank belongs to the corporation, rather than
to the individual, it would not be appropriate to include the
amount in cash.

However, if the amount involved were merely being held in the
savings bank in the name of the individual until the next succeed-
ing interest date in order to avoid surrender of accrued interest,
and if the transfer to the corporation was in fact made at such
interest date, it might be approprite to include a separate caption
for ¢“Cash in Savings Bank.’’ In such circumstances it would of
course be necessary to disclose the fact that at the date of the
balance sheet the funds were not in the corporation’s name, the
reason for the delay in transfer, and that the transfer had in fact
been made prior to the date of the report.
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Section 2120

Temporary Investments

.01 Use of Current Assets to Meet Commitments for Purchase of
Fixed Assets

Inquiry—A corporate client maintains its books and files its
federal income tax returns on a cash basis method of accounting.
At the end of the year, the company expects to have committed
itself for additions to plant and equipment for the amount of $10
million payable over a period of about one and one-half years.

The client has investments in government bonds valued at $15
million and classified as current assets. The company maintains
a policy of investing surplus funds in these securities and none
of them are specifically earmarked for payment of the commit-
ments when they come due, although it is quite possible that
maturing bonds may be used for this program. In any case, the
client intends to pay for the new plant out of working capital.

One of the directors has suggested that in the year-end finan-
cial statements the aggregate commitments and anticipated ex-
penditures of $10 million be deleted from current assets and
shown “below the line,” presumably as a separate item or in-
cluded in “Other Assets.” He has stated that in his opinion this
matter would not properly be handled by only a footnote or
inclusion in the auditor’s report.

How should this commitment be presented in the financial
statements ?

Reply—Presenting the amount expected to be spent to meet
the commitments as noncurrent is not required. In reaching this
conclusion, consideration has been given to ARB No. 43, Chapter
3A, Current Assets and Liabilities, paragraph 6. This reference
is construed to mean that a general intention to pay debts aris-
ing from a construction program out of funds or liquid assets
which are otherwise properly categorized as current does not
change that current status. Even though it is likely that the
investments will be used to pay the commitments, management’s
current state of mind could change. In the absence of some act
such as a resolution of the board formally earmarking or appro-
priating the securities for payment of construction obligations,
the securities will remain current assets.
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The nature and the amounts of the commitments should, of
course, be disclosed. Such disclosure by footnote to the balance
sheet would be sufficient.

.02 Leveling Gains and Losses of Pension Trust
Inquiry—A client, a pension trust serving municipalities,
reports gains and losses as they occur upon sales of securities.

These gains and losses along with other investment earnings,
interest and dividends, have been credited to the equity of the
individual cities. These credits have been used to reduce (or
increase as the case may be) future contributions to the trust
by the individual cities.

Since these gains and losses fluetuate greatly, would it be
acceptable for the client to somehow level the gains and losses
charged to the contributors while still reporting gains and losses
only upon sales?

Reply—Generally accepted accounting principles call for re-
porting gains and losses on the sale of securities as they occur.
These gains and losses, along with other investment earnings
such as interest and dividends, would be appropriately credited
to the equity of the individual cities in this case.

Investments of pension funds should be presented in the finan-
cial statements at their fair value at the statement date.

The net increase or decrease during the year in unrealized
appreciation or depreciation of investments or realized gains
and losses would be reported as a separate caption in the state-
ment of changes in net assets available for plan benefits.

Any change toward leveling these securities gains and losses
would have to be evaluated on the basis of possible departure
from generally accepted accounting principles. [ Amended]

.03 Presentation of Cash and Temporary Investments
Inquiry—Cash and temporary investments (such as certifi-
cates of deposit and treasury bills) are sometimes presented as
either one amount without disclosing the components (the carry-
ing basis and the current market value of the investments) or as
an item of “cash and cash equivalents” without disclosing the na-
ture of cash equivalents. Are such presentations acceptable?
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Reply—ARB No. 43, Current Assets and Current Liabilities,
Chapter 3A, paragraphs 4 and 9, apply to the reporting of other
temporary investments (commercial paper, certificates of de-
posit, and marketable securities not covered by FASB State-
ment No. 12, Accounting for Certain Marketable Securities).
Paragraph 4 implies that major components of current assets
should be separately reported or disclosed and paragraph 9
stipulates that the “. . . amounts at which current assets are
stated be supplemented by information which reveals, for tem-
porary investments, their market value at the balance sheet
date. . . .” Accordingly, the amount and market value of other
temporary investments should be disclosed in the financial state-
ments or accompanying notes. [ Amended]

.04 Valuation of Mutual Fund Investments in Debt Securities

Inquiry—What is the appropriate accounting for mutual
fund shares owned by a manufacturing company when the
investment policy of the mutual fund is to invest exclusively
in debt securities, such as corporate bonds and government
securities?

Reply—Ownership of shares in a mutual fund is within the
definition of an equity security in FASB Statement No. 12, Ac-
counting for Certain Marketable Securities, paragraph 7.

A marketable equity security is an equity security for which
sales or bid and ask prices are currently available on a national
securities exchange. Mutual funds typically compute their daily
net asset value per share based on market prices of the se-
curities in the portfolio, which is also in substantive agreement
with paragraph 7.

Therefore, regardless of the fund’s investment policy, mutual
fund shares owned in a portfolio are appropriately accounted
for under FASB Statement No. 12, paragraph 8, which states,
the carrying amount of a marketable equity securities portfolio
shall be the lower of its aggregate cost or market value, deter-
mined at balance sheet date.
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Section 2130

Receivables

.01 Accrued Interest Revenue on Doubtful Receivables

Inquiry—When should a lender stop accruing interest revenue
on doubtful receivables?

Reply—In practice, when loan payments stop, banks often stop
accruing interest income. While there is no hard and fast rule,
interest income accrued in the current year is usually reversed
and interest related to prior years is charged to the reserve for
loan losses.

The practice of not aceruing interest on doubtful loans is also
prevalent in the real estate industry.

It is a matter of judgment as to when a lender should stop
accruing interest on a doubtful receivable. In any case, it is
unrealistic to recognize income which probably will not be
collected.

.02 Installment Receivables and Related Deferred Taxes as
Current Assets and Liabilities
Inquiry—Is it an accepted accounting principle to classify
long-term installment receivables and their related deferred in-
come tax credit as current assets and liabilities?

Reply—ARB No. 43, Chapter 3, Section A, paragraph 4, indi-
cates that the term ‘‘current assets” includes installment or
deferred accounts and notes receivable if they conform generally
to normal trade practices and terms within the business. APB
Opinion No. 11, paragraph 57, as amended by FASB Statement
No. 37, paragraph 4, states, “ A deferred charge or credit that
is related to an asset or liability shall be classified as current or
noncurrent based on the classification of the related asset or
liability.” Accordingly, if a corporation classifies its install-
ment notes receivable as current on the theory that they con-
form generally to normal trade practices and terms within the
business, the applicable deferred income tax liabilities should
also be classified as current. [ Amended]

.03 Recoverable Customs Duties

Inquiry—A client imports into the United States a produect
subject to duty. As a processor, he may file a claim for refund of
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99% of the amount of duty paid upon submitting proof of a
comparable shipment exported from the United States. There
must be some change in this produet, prior to shipment, such as
canning or blending which changes the form of the original
product imported. The client has been exporting sufficient goods
so that the maximum duties have been recoverable in prior years.

What is the proper treatment for such recoverable duties?

Reply—TIt is appropriate to treat recoverable duties on exports

made prior to the balance sheet date as an asset. Duties on goods
in the ending inventory may be shown as an asset since this cost
would be charged to the subsequent period, whether the goods
are used domestically or exported.

.04 Disclosure of Receivables Transferred

Inquiry—On the last day of its fiscal year, Corporation A
transferred its accounts receivable at 100% of face amount to a
commercial bank which held back 10% of the face amount of
receivables transferred. The transfer was without recourse
except that the bank may charge the holdback account for
delinquent accounts. However, the holdback account can never
exceed 10% of the balance of the accounts due to the bank. In
lieu of a discount at the time of the transfer, Corporation A
will pay the bank 14 of 1% over the prime rate on the amount
of outstanding receivables. For tax purposes, Corporation A
will adopt the installment basis. How should the transfer of
receivables be presented and disclosed in the financial state-
ments of Corporation A?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 77, Reporting by Transferors
for Transfers of Receivables with Recourse, Appendix B, indi-

cates that holdbacks are a common recourse provision. Accord-
ingly, the receivables transferred by Corporation A should be
treated as receivables transferred with recourse for purposes
of financial reporting.

If the transfer meets the conditions stated in Statement No.
77, paragraph 5, the transfer is reported as a sale and gain or
loss recognized at the time of transfer. Resulting timing dif-
ferences would be reported in accordance with APB Opinion
No. 11. If the transfer does not meet the conditions of para-
graph 5, proceeds from the transfer are reported as a liability.
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Although the accounts receivable were transferred on the
last day of Corporation A’s fiscal year, the tax effect is still
the result of a transfer of receivables made in that fiscal year.
Therefore, the election to use the installment basis of reporting
for tax purposes should be mentioned in the financial state-
ments for that year. [Amended]

05 Ouvut-of-Pocket Costs Incurred by a Law Firm

Inquiry—A law firm incurs certain out-of-pocket costs on be-
half of its clients. If the case is won, these costs are recovered
from the client in addition to the legal fees. If the case is lost,
the costs may not be recovered. How should these costs be
treated by the law firm?

Reply—These out-of-pocket costs should be set up in a “client
disbursements” account and the estimated recoverable amount
should be shown as an asset in the financial statements of the
law firm. If these out-of-pocket costs become uncollectible be-
cause a case is lost, they should be written off.

.06 Imputed Interest on Note Receivable

Inquiry—An account receivable arising from the normal
course of business, maturing in less than one year, was converted
to a note receivable, maturing after one year, with no stated
interest. Should interest be imputed on the note receivable?

Reply—Yes. Receivables and payables arising in the normal
course of business, which mature in less than one year, are ex-
empted from interest imputation under APB Opinion No. 21,
Interest onm Receivables and Payables, paragraph 3(a). How-
ever, a note receivable which has a fixed maturity date after
one year is subject to interest imputation as indicated in APB
Opinion No. 21, paragraph 2.
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Section 2140

Inventories

.01 Warehousing Included in Cost of Inventory

Ingquiry—A. client deals in wholesaling and retailing automo-
tive tires for foreign cars. Most of the inventory is imported, and
it is valued on the company’s records at the actual inventory cost
plus freight-in. At year-end, the warehousing costs are prorated
over cost of goods sold and ending inventory. The company’s
auditor believes the warehousing costs should not be capitalized
to inventory, but the entire amount should be expensed in the
year the costs are incurred. Are warehousing costs considered to
be product costs or period costs?

Reply—Statement 3 of Chapter 4, ARB No. 43 states in part:

As applied to inventories, cost means in principle the sum of the
applicable expenditures and charges directly or indirectly incurred in
bringing an article to its existing condition and location.

The discussion includes the following:
Selling expenses constitute no part of the inventory costs.

To the extent that warehousing is a necessary function of im-
porting merchandise before it can be sold, certain elements of
warehousing cost might be considered an appropriate cost of
inventory in the warehouse. For example, if goods must be
brought into the warehouse before they can be made ready for
sale, the cost of bringing such goods into the warehouse would
be considered a cost of inventory. Similarly, if goods must be
handled in the warehouse for assembly or for removal of foreign
packaging, ete., it would be appropriate to include such costs in
inventory. However costs involved in storing the goods for any
additional period would appear to be period costs. Costs of deliv-
ering the goods from the warehouse would appear to be cost of
goods sold, and should not under any circumstances be allocated
to goods that are still in the warehouse.

.02 Obsolete Items in Inventory—I|

Inquiry—A client purchased in bulk various inventories of
stock material. This material is used to produce various special-
ized parts used in electronic equipment. The bulk purchase took
place some eighteen months ago, and less than ten percent of
these inventories have been used. The client claims that there
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may be some obsolete stock on hand from this bulk purchase,
but an eighteen months period is not enough time to effectively
determine the complete degree of obsolescence because the highly
specialized nature of the product line may not lead to renewed
orders until periods beyond one or more operating cycles. Based
on the information available to the client, about one-third of
the original bulk purchase will be written off because of obso-
lescence. For the remaining inventories, the client will present a
representation letter indicating that he believes the remaining
inventory not to be obsolete.

There may be more obsolete inventory than the client is willing
to admit. The poor turnover of such items is the chief reason for
concern. Pricing the inventory at the lower of cost or market will
be difficult. The nature of the inventory (many small items at
low unit cost) and its poor turnover make obtaining market
prices difficult.

What is the responsibility of auditors, not being inventory
experts, in determining the extent of obsolescence?

Reply—Sections 331.09 to 331.13 of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 1 discuss evidential matter for inventories. These
sections of SAS No. 1 do not define the auditor’s responsibility
for quality of inventory. However, the third standard of field
work would require the auditor to obtain sufficient competent
evidential matter regarding inventory quality in connection
with determining whether or not the inventories are presented in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. This
evidential matter might include the opinion of other experts, for
example an electronics engineer, with respect to the quality of the
inventories in this case.

Over the eighteen-month period since the inventories were
purchased, less than ten percent have been utilized. Such a usage
rate indicates that the client has close to an estimated fifteen year
supply of these inventories. This would indicate that little or no
value should be assigned to these inventories.

.03 Obsolete Items in Inventory—Il
Inquiry—Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Chapter 4,
“Inventory Pricing,’’ Statement 1 defines inventory as,

“The aggregate of those items of tangible personal property which
(1) are held for sale in the ordinary course of business, (2) are in
process of production for such sale, or (3) are to be currently con-
sumed in the production of goods or services to be available for sale.”
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Is it correet to assume that obsolete items which are not cur-
rently consumed in the production of “goods or services to be
available for sale,” are not classified as inventory?

Reply—TIt is correct to conclude that obsolete items are exclud-
able from inventory. Cost attributable to such items is “non-
useful” and “nonrecoverable” cost (except for possible scrap
value) and should be written off if a perpetual inventory is main-
tained or simply excluded from the inventory count if cost of
sales is derived solely by means of taking a physical inventory
count at the end of a period.

.04 Airplanes Chartered While Held for Sale

Inquiry—A company purchases airplanes for sale to others.
However, until they are sold, the company charters and services
the planes. What would be the proper way to report these air-
planes in the company’s financial statements?

Reply—The primary use of the airplanes should determine
their treatment on the balance sheet. Since the airplanes are held
primarily for sale, and chartering is only a temporary use, the
airplanes should be classified as current assets. However, depre-
ciation would not be appropriate if the planes are considered
inventory. ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing, states in
part that the term inventory “excludes long-term assets subject
to depreciation accounting, or goods which, when put into use,
will be so classified.”

If the use period were to exceed one year, reclassification to
fixed assets and recognition of depreciation expense would be
appropriate under generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). [Amended]

.05 Valuation of Rebuilt Airplane Parts Inventory

Inquiry—A client operates as an aircraft repair shop certified
by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). In addition to
maintaining a stock of new parts, the client also salvages and
rebuilds certain used parts. Once these rebuilt parts are approved
by the FAA, they are as acceptable as new parts, and no differ-
entiation between new and rebuilt parts is required in ordering,
using, or pricing the parts.

For certain operating reasons, the client prefers to carry all
parts at the factory list price for new parts. How should the
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necessary adjustments be made to reflect the actual cost of the
used parts on the client’s financial statements?

Reply—One approach would be to advise the client to prepare
a work order for each salvaged piece of equipment that is to be
disassembled for parts. The work order would be used to accumu-
late (1) cost of the salvaged equipment, (2) direct labor incurred
in disassembling, cleaning, and testing the salvaged parts, (3)
cost of any outside work performed, and (4) an overhead alloca-
tion. At the completion of the disassembly and testing process,
the air-worthy parts would be listed, valued at factory list price,
and added to inventory at that value. The difference between the
factory list prices and the actual cost as reflected by the work
order would be entered (normally as a credit) in an inventory
valuation account carried in the cost of sales section of the
general ledger.

Assume that, at financial statement date, additions to parts in-
ventory (new and used) for the given period amount to $100,000;
that the inventory valuation account reflects a credit balance of
$40,000 (40% of inventory additions); and that the inventory of
parts, valued at factory list price, amounts to $25,000. For state-
ment purposes, parts inventory would be reduced by $10,000
(40%) with a corresponding reduction in the inventory valuation
account. The remaining $30,000 in the inventory valuation ac-
count would be treated as a reduction to cost of parts sold.
Assume further, that the parts inventory turns over every three
months. The percentage of inventory reduction would be com-
puted based on parts acquisition for the preceding three months
only. Such a method of inventory valuation would be a sort of
average cost method that would reasonably approximate actual
cost on a first-in first-out basis.

.06 Inventory of Meat Packer

Inquiry—A client engaged in the meat packing business uses
the “National Provisioner Daily Market Service” quotations in
valuing its inventories. The client contends that these quotations,
adjusted for freight differentials, reflect an accurate approxima-
tion of actual costs and, in lieu of a complete cost accounting sys-
tem, should be considered as cost for inventory valuation. Is this
method of inventory valuation aceeptable for meat packers?

Reply—Meat packing companies generally value their work in
process and finished goods inventories at market price less cost
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to bring to market in accordance with ARB No. 43, Chapter 4,
Inventory Pricing. Live animals and whole carcasses are carried
at lower of cost or market. Many companies use quoted costs
such as the National Provisioner quotations which are estimated
costs of producing a particular cut of meat adjusted for the
fluctuating daily livestock prices and other factors. These
quoted prices must be further adjusted by the individual meat
packers to take into account individual factors such as freight
and storage.

.08 Valuing Inventory of Gold

Inquiry—A client, a dental laboratory, has an inventory of
gold which is held in a bank safety deposit box. The auditor in-
tends to observe the physical inventory as well as have a sample
of the gold tested for purity.

Should the gold be valued at cost or at the current market
price?

Reply—ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing, State-
ment 9 states:

Only in exceptional cases may inventories properly be stated
above cost. For example, precious metals having a fixed
monetary value with no substantial cost of marketing may
be stated at such monetary value; any other exceptions must
be justifiable by inability to determine appropriate approxi-
mate costs, immediate marketability at quoted market price,
and the characteristic of unit interchangeability. Where goods
are stated above cost, this fact should be fully disclosed.

The usual method of valuing an inventory of gold held for use
in manufacturing is to value the gold at the lower of cost or mar-
ket and disclose the excess of the market value over the carrying
value.

.09 Standard Cost for Inventory Valuation

Inquiry—A client uses standard costs for valuing inventory.
‘What disclosure is necessary in the financial statements regard-
ing inventory valuation?

Reply—Ordinarily, standard costs should be adjusted to a
figure which approximates the lower of cost or market. If this is
done, then it is appropriate to use standard costs for financial
reporting purposes. This is usually the case where standards are
currently and frequently adjusted.
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ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing, states in the foot-
note to paragraph 6:
Standard costs are acceptable if adjusted at reasonable in-
tervals to reflect current conditions so that at the balance
sheet date standard costs reasonably approximate costs com-
puted under one of the recognized bases. In such cases,
descriptive language should be used which will express this
relationship, as, for instance, “approximate costs determined
on the first-in first-out basis,” or, if it is desired to mention
standard costs, “at standard costs, approximating average
costs.”
Accordingly, if in this particular case standard costs do in fact
approximate the lower of cost or market, then disclosure along
the lines indicated in the above reference is adequate.

On the other hand, if the difference between standard costs and
the lower of cost or market is material, then mere footnote dis-
closure will not cure the known statement imperfection.

.11  Average Cost Method for Subsidiary

Inquiry—Company A and all of its subsidiaries, except one,
determine the cost of inventories by the last-in, first-out method
(LIF'O). The one subsidiary uses an average cost method. Is
the average cost method acceptable for determining the cost of
inventory? Is it acceptable for one subsidiary to use the average
cost method and Company A and the other subsidiaries to use
the LIFO method?

Reply—The average cost method is an acceptable method for
determining the cost of inventory. An entity may use more than
one method to determine the cost of inventory provided the
methods are disclosed.

.12 Classification of Replacement Parts Under a Maintenance
Agreement

Inquiry—Company A has entered into a maintenance agree-
ment with Company B, an unrelated party, to provide main-
tenance and service for specialized computer equipment leased
by Company B to third parties. The maintenance contract be-
tween A and B requires that A maintain a spare/replacement
parts inventory for the equipment. Company A has no use for
these parts other than to fulfill the obligation under its contract
with Company B. The term of the contract between Company
A and Company B is for several years.
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Most of the spare parts (i e., circuit boards) are of a repair-
able nature, and it is expected that as A replaces a part, A will
have the removed part refurbished, at its own cost. The re-
furbished parts will be available for future use as necessary.

Should Company A classify the refurbished replacement parts
as inventory? Should Company A’s investment in the parts be
amortized?

Reply—Company A should classify the refurbished replace-
ment parts as inventory. Inventory costs should not be amor-
tized; a loss in their utility should be reflected as a charge
against revenues of the period in which it occurs, as discussed
in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing, paragraph 8.

.13 Classification of Slow-Moving Inventory

Inquiry—A client, engaged in an oil field related industry,
has slow-moving products that are not considered obsolete. The
inventory is properly stated at the lower of cost or market.
The client plans to continue selling the inventory on hand but
will cease manufacturing the speeialized product. Based on
current sales estimates and demand for the produect, it appears
likely that the client will be able to sell all of the items in the
inventory over a period of about four years. Is it correct to
classify a portion of the slow-moving inventory as a long-
term asset in the client’s classified balance sheet?

Reply—The portion of the slow-moving inventory not reason-
ably expected to be realized in cash during the client’s normal
operating cycle should be classified as a long-term asset in the
company’s classified balance sheet. ARB No. 43, chapter 3A,
Working Capital, paragraph 4, states that the term “current
assets” 1s used to designate cash or resources commonly identi-
fied as those that are reasonably expected to be realized in cash
or sold during the normal operating cycle of the business.

.14 Disclosure of LIFO Reserve

Inquiry—Should a company using the last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method of inventory valuation be required to disclose the
LIFO reserve in its financial statements or in the accompanying
footnotes?

Reply—Yes. The Accounting Standards Division Issues Paper,
Identification and Discussion of Certain Financial Accounting
and Reporting Issues Concerning LIFO Inventories, addresses
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this matter in section 2, paragraphs 24 through 28. Paragraph
28 indicates that the task force voted (9 yes, 0 no) that either
the LIFO reserve or replacement cost and its basis for deter-
mination should be disclosed. Paragraph 26 states that the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) requires companies
whose securities trade publicly to disclose this information
[Regulation S-X, section 210.5-02.6(c) ] and that many nonpublice
companies also disclose this information.

SAS No. 43, Omnibus Statement on Auditing Standards,
paragraph 7, states that in the absence of a pronouncement
covered by Rule 203 of the Rules of Conduct of the AICPA
Code of Professional Ethics or another source of established
accounting principles, the auditor may consider other account-
ing literature, depending on its relevance in the circumstances.
Other accounting literature includes, for example, APB State-
ments, AICPA Issues Papers, FASB Statements of Financial
Accounting Concepts, pronouncements of other professional
associations or regulatory agencies, and accounting textbooks
and articles.

.15 Uniform Capitalization Rules for Inventory

Inquiry—The Tax Reform Act of 1986 established uniform
capitalization rules requiring the capitalization of direct costs
and a portion of indirect costs that benefit inventory produced
or acquired for resale. May the costs that are required to be
inventoried under the Tax Reform Act of 1986 be inventoried
under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)?

Reply—The FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)
reached a consensus on this issue, which was addressed in EITF
Issues Summary No. 86-46, “Uniform Capitalization Rules for
Inventory under the Tax Reform Aect of 1986.” The fact that
a cost is inventoried for tax purposes does not, in itself, indicate
that it is preferable, or even appropriate, to inventory that cost
for financial reporting purposes.

However, task force members indicated that certain costs
required to be inventoried for tax purposes may also be inven-
toried for financial reporting purposes, depending on such faec-
tors as the nature of the enterprise’s operations and industry
practices.
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Section 2210
Fixed Assets

.01 Settlement of Mortgage Installment on Real Estate Between
Buyer and Seller
Inquiry—A client recently acquired an office building. At the
closing of the purchase, the seller turned over to the buyer the
accrued interest on the mortgages as well as the pro rata portion
of principal payments on the mortgages to the date of settlement.

Should the principal payments received be considered a reduc-
tion of the purchase price or income?

Reply—The accrued interest and principal payments on the
mortgage paid by the seller to the buyer are adjustments of the
cost of the property to the buyer and in no way constitute income.

For example, assume the following facts: Buyer acquires real
property for $100,000, representing the sum of $10,000 cash and
the assumption of a $90,000 mortgage. At the same time, seller
pays buyer $2,500—$%2,000 on the mortgage principal and $500
interest due at the time. (Rather than buyer giving seller $10,000
and seller repaying buyer $2,500, a net $7,500 cash would proba-
bly change hands, but the two have not been ‘‘netted’’ out so that
the hypothetical case is easier to follow.) The following journal
entries are suggested as being the proper accounting for the

transactions:
Dr. Office Building ................. ..o ... $100,000
Cr. Mortgage Payable .................. $90,000
Cash ... ... i 10,000
Dr.Cash ... ... .0 i $ 2,500
Cr. Interest Expense .................... $ 500
Office Building ....................... 2,000

(to record acquisition)

When buyer pays mortgagee the $2,500, then the following
entry would be made.

Dr. Interest Expense ..........coveevennenn.. $ 500
Mortgage Payable ..................... 2,000
Cr.Cash ...... ..., $ 2,500

(payment of installment on mortgage)

After these three entries have been made, the property and
mortgage payable accounts would be $98,000 and $88,000 respec-
tively—representing the actual cost of the property to the buyer
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as well as the actual amount of the mortgage that it assumed.
Note that the interest expense account has a zero balance because
it essentially was a ‘‘wash’’ account—as was the cash account
regarding the $2,500. Buyer has, in a sense, acted as trustee to
pay over this $2,500, inasmuch as it was merely a stakeholder as
to the principal and interest due as of the date of purchase.

.02 Commission Received by Purchaser of Property

Inquiry—A corporation entered into a contract to purchase
real property. As part of the transaction, the corporation re-
ceived a commission from the real estate broker (who was paid
by the seller).

Would this commission be considered as income to the corpora-
tion or as a reduction of the cost of the property acquired?

Would it make any difference in the answer to this question if
a wholly owned subsidiary of the corporation which acquired the
property were to receive this commission?

Reply—The ‘‘commission’’ received from the broker most
certainly should be treated as a reduction of the cost of the realty
rather than as income. To account for this payment otherwise
would violate the generally accepted accounting principle that
income should not be recognized on a purchase. The receipt of the
commission was part of a single transaction, viz.: the acquisition
of certain real property, and is really an adjustment of the cost
of that property. Future years’ income statements will benefit
through reduced depreciation charges taken on a lower cost than
would have been reflected had income been recorded initially.

From the viewpoint of the consolidated entity, the result will
be the same whether the property is purchased by the parent who
also receives the commission or if the commission is paid to the
subsidiary. The reason for this is that payment to the subsidiary
will result in a donated capital account being credited (no credit
to any income account should be made because the subsidiary has
earned nothing through this shifting of accounts). The donated
capital account will then be eliminated upon consolidation,
against the realty account appearing on the parent’s books. One
of the reasons that consolidated statements are presumed to give
the fairest presentation is because of situations such as that
being discussed here. This coupled with the fact that the subsi-
diary is 100% owned would require consolidated statements in
this instance. If, for one reason or another, individual statements
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of the parent or of the subsidiary are prepared, then full dis-
closure of the particulars of this transaction is mandatory and
should be made on the financial statements of each company.

.03 Costs of Razing Building on Property Currently Owned

Inquiry—A corporation acquired a site for the construction of
a building ten years ago. The expected life of this building was
estimated to be forty years at that time. Currently the building
is being demolished because of obsolescence, and a completely
new structure is being built. Should the undepreciated cost of the
old building be carried forward as part of the cost of the new
building, or should it be charged off to income?

Reply—1It is a generally accepted accounting principle that
useful costs be carried forward to be matched against future
revenues because such costs are expected to contribute to the
profit-making efforts of the company. When costs cannot rea-
sonably be expected to help generate future revenues, they
should be charged off as having expired, or as having been lost.
The undepreciated cost of the old building in this situation is
quite clearly lost because it cannot possibly generate subsequent
earnings. If any part of the old structure is maintained, then an
allocation of the undepreciated cost should be made and part of
that cost should be assigned to this segment, because this section
will be useful to the company in the future.

Had the corporation purchased land with the building with the
intent of razing that building when the acquisition was made,
then the costs of demolition would properly be reflected as part
of the cost of the land, because the land was really the consider-
ation bargained for, and its cost was, substantively, the purchase
price plus the cost of razing the unwanted struecture. Such is not
the case here, however, and the undepreciated cost of the old
building (assuming total destruction) should be charged to
current income.

.04 Cost of Cancellation of Option Granted on Land and Buildings

Inquiry—Several years ago, a company entered an agreement
with a customer whereby the customer would take the entire
output of one of the company’s plants. As part of the considera-
tion, the company gave the customer an option to purchase the
plant at a future date at a price which is adjusted annually for
capital additions and depreciation.
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As the option date approaches, the company would now like
to negotiate with the customer for the cancellation of the option.
This would undoubtedly call for the company to make some
payment to the customer.

If this transaction occurs, how should the matter be shown in
the financial statements? Should the cancellation cost be divided
between the land and the plant?

Reply—1It would be proper to allocate the cost of the option
between land and building and equipment with the latter portion
amortized over the remaining useful lives of the assets. Both of
these might be included in the balance sheet as ‘‘Other Assets”’
or directly in ‘‘Land’’ or ‘‘Buildings’’ if proper disclosure is
made either in the captions or in a note to the financial statements
that the cost includes amounts paid for the cancellation of the
option. It would not be proper to include in the land account
the applicable portion without such disclosure.

.05 Date to Record Acquisition of Real Property by Government
Agency
Inquiry—A state government deposits funds in eserow for the
acquisition of real property. When should the value of the real
property be recorded?

Reply—The transaction in question may involve various
practical situations that require one accounting treatment rather
than another. For example, the purchaser may make full deposit
in escrow, and the contract is wholly executed on the purchaser’s
side and partially or wholly executory on the vendor’s side. Or
a portion of the purchase price may be deposited in escrow with
further deposits in escrow to be made; the contract, therefore,
being only partially executed on purchaser’s side and wholly
or partially executory on vendor’s side. Or, a combination of the
foregoing situations may exist. The purchaser may also gain
possession and use of the property prior to final clearance by
the escrow agent or the vendor may retain possession and use
prior to final clearance.

There are two basic alternatives for handling the transactions
in question.

1. Account for and reflect in the financial statements only the
deposits in escrow actually made in connection with the acquisi-
tion of real property. Footnote pertinent details of the account-
ing entity’s contractual commitment respecting the real property.
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Set up the cost of the property only when the deed is passed upon
release from escrow.

2. Set up the full cost of property at inception of contract
together with a liability for any remaining balance of the pur-
chase price beyond the initial deposit. For financial presentation
purposes, the liability may be shown on the liability side or as an
offset deducted from the asset, thereby indicating the equity of
the accounting entity in the property. As a matter of policy to be
consistently applied, the accounting entity may decide to set up
the cost of the property not at the time of entering into a binding
contract of purchase, but only upon obtaining possession and use
of the property, or upon depositing the full consideration for the
property in escrow, or only upon the concurrence or occurrence
of both these events.

The treatment described under ‘‘1’’ seems preferable on the
ground that passage of title is the primary and conclusive opera-
tive fact attesting that all conditions precedent set forth in the
escrow agreement have been satisfied and that the purchaser has
untrammeled rights to the property.

.06 Valuation of Cattle Herd

Inquiry—A client, in the business of raising and selling cattle,
has not been in business long enough to develop enough cost
information to reliably value the cattle raised by them. Each cow
costs $2,000 or more and has an estimated salvage value of about
$300 at the end of its productive breeding life. The client has
adopted a life of seven years for its breeding herd based on the
various ages of the cows.

The client proposes to price the cattle raised as follows:

Purchased calves

‘When a cow is purchased with a ‘‘calf at side,’’ twenty percent
of the purchase price is allocated to the calf. An additional $50
is allocated to the calf every six months for the first eighteen
months. At eighteen months of age, the cows are considered
mature enough for breeding and are then either sold or placed in
the breeding herd and depreciated.

Raised calves

Since the mother is maintained principally for breeding and
is expected to produce one calf each year, the calf birthed and
raised is allocated one year’s depreciation of the mother, plus
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$50 at birth. An additional $50 is allocated every six months for
the first eighteen months.

The problem of valuing the cattle is compounded by the fact
that cattle purchased for breeding and those purchased for sale
are not separated, and any cow may be sold at any time. What
improvements could be made in the pricing scheme, and how
should the breeding herd and the herd held for sale be shown on
the balance sheet?

Reply—Rather than setting an average breeding life of seven
years for the breeding herd, it would appear more reasonable to
set an estimated age at which a cow should be fully depreciated
and to depreciate the cost of each cow over the remaining
estimated years of life. Also, instead of allocating twenty percent
of the purchase price of the cow to the calf ‘‘at side,”’ it would be
better to determine the percent applicable to the calf on the basis
of the number of expected additional calves for that cow.

In valuing the calves, if the $50 figure is a reasonable estimate
of six months of costs, the method seems reasonable. However,
instead of allocating one year’s depreciation of the mother plus
$50 at birth, it might be better to allocate only the depreciation
plus the direct expenses of birth such as veterinarian’s fees, ete.

Since it is difficult to determine which of the cattle are
‘“‘inventory’’ and which are ‘‘fixed assets,”” it might not be
appropriate in this case to classify the assets and liabilities as
current or long-term in the balance sheet.

.07 Costs of Ski Slopes and Lifts

Inquiry—A company has developed a piece of land into a
skiing resort. The company has cut the trees, cleared and graded
the land and hills, and constructed ski lifts and platter pulls.

Should the tree cutting, land clearing, and grading costs of
construeting the ski slopes be capitalized to land? If so, are these
costs amortizable?

Should the clearing and grading costs connected with the
construction of the ski lifts and platter pulls be capitalized to
this equipment and depreciated?

Reply—All expenditures incurred which are made for the
purpose of making the land suitable for its intended use or
purpose (whether that use be for the construction of a ski lodge,
lifts, slopes, platter pulls, or other facilities) are properly
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capitalizable as land costs, and land is not subject to deprecia-
tion. During the course of clearing the land to make it useful for
the purpose acquired, salable timber may be recovered, and since
the clearing costs are capital items, amounts realized from the
sale of the timber may properly be credited to the land account.
Recurring maintenance of right-of-way (i. e., the slope and ski-
lift areas) would be properly treated as a period cost. [Amended]

.08 Restaurant Dishes and Silverware

Inquiry—Should a base stock inventory of silverware and
dishes be shown on the balance sheet of a restaurant as a fixed
asset? In the base stock method, the base stock is recorded at an
unchanging amount and additions to the stock are charged to
expenses for the period. Inasmuch as fixed assets are specific
items which are subject to depreciation (except land), and the
base stock is an approximate figure for many items and is not
depreciated, it would seem that the base stock should not be
classified as a fixed asset.

Reply—Various publications recommending treatment for
large stocks of short-lived, replaceable assets such as silverware
and dishes indicate that the assets should be valued on the basis
of physical inventories at year-end, with used equipment being
valued at 50% of current cost, and unused equipment valued at
full cost. This, in effect, assigns an average useful life of two
vears for the equipment. It is recommended that such assets be
included in fixed assets.

The classification in the balance sheet should not depend upon
the method of valuing the assets. Therefore, regardless of the
method of valuation, the assets should be included in fixed assets.
If the valuation differs materially from the depreciated cost of
individual goods on hand at year-end, the presentation is not in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

.09 Appraisal Value for Mailing Lists

Ingquiry—A client distributes various advertising materials
by mail, and has developed mailing lists over a number of years.
The costs of preparing and maintaining the lists have been
expensed through last year. Although the company will continue
to expense the costs of maintaining and updating such lists, it
has capitalized an amount equal to what it considers a current
estimated replacement cost of the mailing lists and credited
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“Appraisal Surplus.” There is no way of reconstructing the
actual costs incurred in prior years to prepare the mailing list.

The amount capitalized represents 25% of the client’s total
assets, and the client does not intend to amortize the capitalized
amount because in its opinion, these lists have an unlimited
useful life.

Is this the proper accounting treatment for these mailing lists?

Reply—The recording of the mailing lists at their estimated
replacement cost would not be in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. If the client is adamant about
recording the mailing list as deseribed, “Appraisal Surplus”
would be the appropriate account to credit under the circum-
stances, but the auditor should issue a qualified or adverse
opinion in accordance with SAS No. 58, Reports on Audited
Financial Statements. [ Amended]

.11 Assets Transferred to Homeowners Association

Inquiry—What is the proper financial statement presentation
and valuation of common area properties turned over to a home-
owners association by a real estate developer?

Reply—These assets should be recorded as fixed assets at their
fair market value at the date of transfer to the homeowners
assoclation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 29, Adccounting
for Nonwmonetary Transactions, paragraph 18, which indicates
that a nonmonetary asset received in a nonreciprocal transfer
should be recorded at the fair value of the asset received.

.12 Classification of Real Estate Held in Anticipation of Sale and
Leaseback Transaction

Inquiry—A company conducts a retail business at several
locations. When a suitable store is found, the company will pur-
chase the building and within a few months will arrange a sale
and leaseback agreement for the property.

During the period between the date of the purchase of a store
and the date of the sale and leaseback transaction, the company
would record the investment in the store as a current asset.
Recently the company made such a temporary investment but
has been unable to negotiate a suitable sale and leaseback agree-
ment. The investment was carried as a current asset in last
vear’s financial statements. Should the store be reported as a
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noncurrent asset in the current financial statements since at this
time there is no way of determining when a prospective sale and
leaseback arrangement will be consummated ?

Reply—The reclassification of the investment in real estate
to a noncurrent asset is appropriate under the circumstances.
There should be adequate footnote disclosure of the circum-
stances which led to the reclassification. In connection with
reporting this item in the statement of changes in financial
position, the “funds applied” part of the statement should
reflect the reclassification of the real estate.

Since the reclassification results from changed circumstances,
and, assuming adequate disclosure, no reference to it is required
in the auditor’s report.

.13 Effect of Future Transfer on Accounting for Land

Inquiry—A nonprofit health care corporation has agreed to
a future transfer of title in its operating property (land and a
hospital) to the city in which the property is located. The trans-
fer will occur in 30 years. Under such circumstances, is it appro-
priate to amortize the cost of land over a period of 30 years?

Reply—APB Opinion No. 17, paragraph 22, states in part:

Accounting for the cost of a long-lived asset after acquisition
normally depends on its estimated life. The cost of assets with
perpetual existence, such as land, is carried forward as an asset
without amortization, and the cost of assets with finite lives is
amortized by systematic charges to income.

Accordingly, the cost of land should not be amortized.

The agreement between the corporation and the city should
be disclosed in notes to the corporation’s financial statements.

.14 Facility Constructed by a Municipality for Exclusive Use of a
Company

Inquiry—A municipality levied a special tax assessment
against the real estate of Corporation A equal to the estimated
construction cost of a pollution control facility that the munie-
ipality agreed to construct for the exclusive use of Corporation
A. Corporation A will pay the special assessment in equal
annual installments plus interest over a fifteen year period.
The municipality sold Special Assessment Bonds to finance con-
struction of the facility and will pay principal and interest from
the special assessment levied against the real estate of Corpora-
tion A. Corporation A will pay the cost of operating and main-
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taining the facility. How should the corporation report the
transaction?

Reply—Using Special Assessment Bonds to finance the con-
struction of a pollution control facility is similar to using
Industrial Revenue Bonds. The terms of the agreement to
construct the facility indicate that the corporation should
capitalize the cost of the facility in its financial statements at
the present value of the series of payments required by the
special assessment.

.15 Capitalization of Cost of Dredging Log Pond

Inquiry—Corporation A operates a log pond and dredged
the pond during the year at a cost of $350,000. Thus, the useful
life of the log pond was extended several years. Should the
dredging cost be expensed or capitalized?

Reply—FASB Concepts Statement No. 3, Elements of Fi-
nancial Statements of Business Enterprises, paragraph 89,
states, in part, “. . . many assets yield their benefits to an enter-
prise over several periods. . . . Expenses resulting from their
use are normally allocated to the periods of their estimated
useful lives (the periods over which they are expected to provide
benefits) by a ‘systematic and rational’ allocation procedure,
for example, by recognizing depreciation or other amortization.”

Since the dredging cost will benefit future periods, Corpo-
ration A should capitalize the cost and amortize it in a system-
atic and rational manner over the estimated period of benefit.
[Amended]

.16 Funds for Replacement of Equipment

Inquiry—A nonprofit hospital estimates that it will require
$x to replace existing equipment within the next five years.
May additions to a fund for equipment replacement be charged
to income annually?

Reply—No. AICPA Industry Audit Guide, Hospital Audit
Guide, page b, states:

Accumulation of funds for replacement or expansion of
hospital facilities may result from a decision of the governing
board to set aside resources for such purposes. When this is
the case, these accumulations are considered to be designations
of unrestricted fund balance and should be accounted for as
appropriations of that balance. Provision for such designations
of unrestricted fund balance should not be reflected as an
expense in the statement of revenues and expenses.
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The hospital may disclose in notes to the financial statements
that $x will be required for future replacement of equipment.

.18 Revaluation of Assets

Inquiry—Company A acquired a material amount of treasury
stock resulting in a stockholders’ equity deficit. Since state
law (where Company A is incorporated) prohibits the impair-
ment of legal capital, Company A revalued certain of its assets
at fair market value. Should Company A record depreciation
for the revalued assets based on historical cost or fair market
value?

Reply—APB Opinion No. 6, Status of Accounting Research
Bulletins, paragraph 17, states:

The Board is of the opinion that property, plant and equip-
ment should not be written up by an entity to reflect appraisal,
market or current values which are above cost to the entity.
This statement is not intended to change accounting practices
followed in connection with quasi-reorganizations or reorga-
nizations. This statement may not apply to foreign operations
under unusual conditions such as serious inflation or currency
devaluation. However, when the accounts of a company with
foreign operations are translated into United States currency
for consolidation, such write-ups normally are eliminated.
Whenever appreciation has been recorded on the books, in-
come should be charged with depreciation computed on the
written up amounts,

An opinion expressed on the financial statements of Company
A should be qualified or adverse because the write-up of assets
is a departure from generally accepted accounting principles.

.19 Accounting for the Reduction in Tax Basis of an Asset

Inguiry—Effective for eligible assets acquired in 1983, entities
are required to reduce the tax basis of certain fixed assets by
50% of the amount of the related investment tax credit if the
full credit is taken. FASB Technical Bulletin 83-1, Accounting
for the Reduction in the Tax Basis of an Asset Caused by the
Investment Tax Credit, paragraph 6, indicates that there may
be two effects on deferred taxes when this happens: a) differ-
ences resulting from the reduction in the tax basis of an asset
caused by the investment tax credit; b) differences between
financial reporting depreciation and accelerated cost recovery
system (ACRS) deductions. Therefore, why does the illustration
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in Appendix A of Technical Bulletin 83-1 show a deferred tax
of $23,000 as “the effect of full investment tax ecredit flow-
through”?

Reply—The difference between depreciation for financial re-
porting and ACRS deductions is a timing difference covered by
APB Opinion No. 11, Accounting for Income Tazes, in which the
income tax provision is based on pre-tax accounting income and
the effect of the timing difference on the deferred tax liability
is based on the difference between financial reporting income
and taxable income (the “with and without method”).

The illustration assumes the full investment tax credit
($100,000) was recognized as a credit to income tax expense for
financial reporting purposes, which is in accordance with APB
Opinion No. 11, just as the full investment tax credit was real-
ized for income tax purposes. Accordingly, there is no timing
difference related to the investment tax credit, in and of itself.
However, the income tax law requires that the tax basis of the
asset be reduced by 50% of the investment tax credit used, and
generally accepted accounting principles do not require a
similar reduction; that difference between the basis of the asset
for income tax purposes ($950,000) and for financial reporting
purposes ($1,000,000) necessitates a deferred tax charge of
$23,000 ($50,000 X 46%) to recognize the timing difference in-
herent in the difference in basis. This timing difference will
“turn around” in future periods because future ACRS deduc-
tions will not be as large, in the aggregate, as depreciation for
financial reporting purposes. The resultant deferred taxes of
$23,000 are amortized as a credit to income tax expense when
taxable income exceeds financial reporting income as a result of
both the basis reduction and the difference between the lives
used for ACRS deductions and for financial reporting deprecia-
tion.

.20 Compounding Capitalized Interest

Inquiry—Company A is constructing a building for its own
use. The company capitalized interest cost on the average
amount of accumulated expenditures for the asset during the
current year end. The building was completed in the next year.
Should the company capitalize interest on the average amount
of expenditures for the assets that were made during the current
period only or the average amount of accumulated expenditures
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for the asset during the period including the expenditures made
in the prior period, which already includes capitalized interest
cost?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 34, Capitalization of Interest
Cost, paragraph 13, states in part, the amount capitalized in an
accounting period shall be determined by applying an interest
rate to the average amount of accumulated expenditures for
the asset during the period. Paragraph 57, further states, ‘‘the
Board concluded that compounding is conceptually consistent
with its conclusion that interest on expenditures for the asset
is a cost of acquiring the asset.” Accordingly, the rate should
be applied to the average of all the accumulated expenditures.

.21 Common Stock Issued in Exchange for Real Estate

Inquiry—A corporation issued additional shares of its com-
mon stock to an existing 10% shareholder in exchange for real
estate. This transaction increased the stockholder’s interest to
45%. How should the shares of stock and real estate of this
nonmonetary transaction be valued in the corporation’s financial
statements?

Reply—In practice, nonmonetary assets acquired by issuing
stock in a nonreciprocal transaction are stated at cost measured
by the fair values evident in the transaction. APB Opinion No.
16, Business Combinations, paragraph 67, states, “Restraints
on measurement have led to the practical rule that assets ac-
quired for other than cash, including shares of stock issued,
should be stated at ‘cost’ when they are acquired and ‘cost’ may
be determined either by the fair value of the consideration given
or by the fair value of the property acquired, whichever is more
clearly evident.”

This is also the basic principle underlying APB Opinion No.
29, Accounting for Nowmonetary Assets, although the acquisi-
tion of nonmonetary assets or services on issuance of capital
stock of an enterprise is explicitly excluded from the scope of
that opinion.

.22 Fixed Asset Partially Acquired With Grant Funds
Inquiry—A company is building an energy improvement
asset for use in its manufacturing process. The local public
utility has agreed to reimburse the company 80% of the asset’s
cost once construction is complete. Should the amount received
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from the public utility be used to reduce the asset cost or re-
ported as revenue when construction is complete?

Reply—Authoritative accounting pronouncements do not pro-
vide specific guidance on accounting for benefits received from
public utilities. However, it would seem appropriate to follow
the guidance in an Accounting Standards Division Issues Paper,
Accounting for Grants Received From Governments, para-
graph 40, which states that grants related to depreciable fixed
assets should be reported as income over the useful lives of the
assets, and grants related to land should be amortized over the
life of the depreciable fixed assets built on the land.

«23 Use of Cost-Based Appraisal for Valuation of Fixed Assets

Inquiry—An individual is contributing various fixed assets
and cash to a corporation which he is forming. The individual
will own 100% of the corporation. It would be preferable to
record these assets at historical cost. The individual has no
records concerning the historical costs of these assets. Is there

a method that can be used to approximate the historical cost
of the assets?

Reply—This situation is similar to a situation in which a
nonprofit organization is required to record fixed assets already
in use when historical costs are unavailable. SOP No. 78-10,
Accounting Principles and Reporting Practices for Certain
Nonprofit Organizations, paragraph 105, requires such organi-
zations that have not previously capitalized fixed assets to
capitalize retroactively assets already in use at their historical
cost. However, SOP No. 78-10 states that another reasonable
basis may be used if historical cost is unavailable and mentions
“cost-based appraisals” as among the acceptable alternatives.

Under the cost-based appraisal method, the current appraised
value of an asset is determined and the amount so determined
is restated in terms of the price level prevailing at the asset’s
acquisition date using an appropriate price index, such as
Consumer Price Index. The basis of recording the asset should
be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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.24 Recording an Asset Under a Capital Lease

Inquiry—A Corporation acquires a fixed asset under a 5 year
capital lease to which the following applies:

a. The fair value is $45,000.

b. A bargain purchase option of $10,000, available at the
termination of the lease, has a present value of $7,100
using the company’s incremental borrowing rate of 7%.

c. The present value of the minimum rental payments, using
the company’s incremental borrowing rate of 7%, after
deducting executory costs, is $39,000.

At what amount should the asset be recorded? How should
the payment of $10,000 required under the bargain purchase
option be recorded?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases,
paragraph 5(j), indicates that the payment called for by the
bargain purchase option, and the minimum rental payments,
shall be included in the minimum lease payments. FASB State-
ment No. 13, paragraph 10, states that if the present values of
the minimum lease payments exceed the fair value of the leased
property, then the amount recorded as an asset and liability
shall be the fair value.

Accordingly, the asset and liability should be recorded at
the fair value of $45,000 since it is less than the present value
($46,100) of the minimum lease payments. This would require
an adjustment to the interest rate from the company’s incre-
mental borrowing rate to the interest rate implicit in the lease.
As each rental payment is made, it should be allocated to
principal and interest. The final payment of $10,000 (the price
of the bargain purchase option) should fully liquidate the
balance of the liability.

.25 Capitalization of Interest Costs Incurred by Subsidiary

Inquiry—A subsidiary with an asset qualifying for interest
capitalization under FASB Statement No. 34, Capitalization of
Interest Cost, incurs its entire interest cost from a loan from its
parent.

What is the extent of interest that may be appropriately
capitalized?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 34, Capitalization of Interest
Cost, paragraph 13, states in part, that the amount capitalized
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in an accounting period shall be determined by applying an
interest rate to the average amount of accumulated expenditures
for the asset during the period. FASB Statement No. 34, para-
graph 15, further states that in separately issued financial
statements of a parent company, consolidated subsidiary, or
unconsolidated subsidiary, the amount of interest cost that may
be capitalized is limited to the total amount of interest cost
(including interest on intercompany debt) incurred by the sep-
arate entity.

Such financial statements should disclose related party trans-
actions as required by FASB Statement No. 57, Related Party
Disclosures. [Amended]

> The next page is 1261. <&
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Section 2220
Long-Term Investments

.01 Equity Method When Current Direct Ownership Less Than
Ywenty Percent

Inquiry—Company A purchased a 19% stock ownership in-
terest in B. The company also made a loan to B which is con-
vertible into stock of B and is secured by shares of C (B’s
subsidiary). For as long as the loan is outstanding, Company A
will have several seats on B’s board. The company also has
options to purchase shares of C.

Is the company required to report its investment in B under
the equity method?

Reply—Paragraph 17 of Accounting Principles Board Opin-
ion No. 18 states that the ability to exercise the type of influence
contemplated in the Opinion may be indicated in several ways
such as representation on the board of directors and invest-
ment (direct or indirect) of 20% or more in the voting stock of
an investee.

The company would own only 19% of the outstanding voting
stock. Although it is not indicated whether the conversion feature
of the loan may result in ownership of 20% or more, or whether
the board seats would allow A to significantly influence the voting
at meetings of B’s board of directors, the overall impact of the
proposed transaction could demonstrate that the company has the
ability to exercise significant influence over the investee. There-
fore, the equity method should be followed in accounting for the
investment.

.03 Equity Method for Investee Following Completed Contract
Method

Inquiry—A client, a contractor who follows the percentage of
completion method for income recognition, has entered into a
joint venture. The joint venture follows the completed contract
method in its financial statements. The client accounts for his
investment in the joint venture on the equity basis. May the client
rceognize his share of the venture’s income (determined on the
pereentage of completion method) even though the venture will
not recognize income until the contract is completed?
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Reply—Paragraph 3(f) of \\ccounting Principles Board Opin-
ion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in
Common Stock, states:

“Earnings or losses of an investee” and ‘‘financial position of an
investee™ refer to net income (or net loss) and financial position of
an investee determined in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

Both the completed contract method and the percentage of
completion method are generally accepted, and the investor
should not change the investee’s method of aceounting from
completed contract to percentage of completion in applying the
equity method.

03 Assuming Pre Rata Share of Venture's Revenves and Expenses

Inquiry—A company has entered into a joint venture with
another venturer. Would it be permissible for the company to
include in its income its pro rata share of each of the revenue
and expense accounts of the venture?

Reply—Paragraph 19-c of APB Opinion No. 18 states:

The investment(s) in common stock should be shown in the balance
sheet of an investor as a single amount, and the investor’s share of
earnings or losses of the investee(s) should ordinarily be shown
in the income statement as a single amount except for the extraor-
dinary items as specified in (d) below.

However, Interpretation No. 2 of APB Opinion No. 18, relating
to accounting for investments in unincorporated joint ventures
states in part:

. . . because the investor-venturer owns an undivided interest in each
asset and is proportionately liable for its share of each liability, the
provisions of paragraph 19-c may not apply in some industries. For
example, where it is the established industry practice (such as in
some oil and gas venture accounting), the investor-venturer may ac-
count in its financial statements for its pro rata share of the assets,
liabilities, revenues, and expenses of the venture.

Terminology such as “should ordinarily” contained in the
above reference indicates that picking up the share of the joint
venture on a line by line item, while it may be unusual, would

not necessarily be prohibited. Guidance for transactions of this
type relating to real estate can be found in SOP 78-9, Account-
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ing for Investments in Real Estate Ventures, paragraph 11.
[ Amended]

.06 Recognizing Unrealized Appreciation of Hedge Fund

Inquiry—A client owns a 40% interest in a partnership
commonly known as a “hedge fund.” The client accounts for the
investment by the equity method. The hedge fund records the
unrealized appreciation of its investments according to generally
accepted accounting prineiples. Should the client include in its
income its pro rata share of the hedge fund’s unrealized appre-
ciation?

Reply—Yes. Accounting Interpretation No. 2 of APB Opin-
ion No. 18, entitled Investments in Partnerships and Ventures,
states that many of the provisions of APB Opinion No. 18
would be appropriate in accounting for investments in unin-
corporated entities. APB Opinion No. 18, paragraph 3f, defines
earnings or losses of an investee as net income or net loss “deter-
mined in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States.” Accordingly, the investor’s 40%
share of the hedge fund’s net income would include the unreal-
ized appreciation. [Amended]

.07 Equity Method for Small Business investment Companies

Inquiry—APB Opinion No. 18, concerning the equity method
of accounting for investments, exempts Small Business Invest-
ment Companies from its provisions in certain circumstances.
Does the exemption apply to Small Business Investment Com-
panies that have sold their stock publielv?

Reply—The provisions of APB Opinion No. 18, paragraph 2,
are intended to exelude all investment companies.

The ATCPA TIndustrv Audit Guide, Audits of Investment
Companies, includes accounting principles and financial state-
ments for investment companies. Valuation of securities is
discussed on pages 15-17 of the Guide. Investment companies
should, in general, report their security investments at value.
Guidance is provided on determining value. [Amended]
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08 Acquisition of Subsidiaries by Exchange of Assets With No
Book Value

Inquiry—A client, a computer services company, acquired fifty
percent of the capital stock of a corporation in exchange for
rights to computer programs. The cost of these programs had
been expensed by the client. Another party acquired the remain-
ing fifty percent of the stock for $150,000. The client recorded
this transaction as a debit to investments in subsidiaries and a
credit to earnings of $150,000.

A similar transaction, an exchange of rights to computer
programs for capital stock with a stated value of $200,000, oc-
curred later. Investments in subsidiaries was debited and earn-
ings was credited for $200,000.

The subsidiaries are accounted for under the equity method.

Can the earnings recorded on the exchange of expensed
computer programs for common stock be reflected in parent
company financial statements, or do generally accepted account-
ing principles require elimination?t

Reply—Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 18, para-
graph 19 states in part, ‘‘The difference between consolidation
and the equity method lies in the details reported in the finan-
cial statements. Thus, an investor’s net income for the period
and its stockholders’ equity at the end of the period are the same
whether an investment in a subsidiary is accounted for under the
equity method or the subsidiary is consolidated. . . .’’ Intercom-
pany profit eliminations under the equity method is discussed
in Interpretation No. 1 to Opinion 18 and states in part, ‘‘All
intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation, but
under the equity method intercompany profits or losses are nor-
mally eliminated only on assets still remaining on the books of
an investor or an investee.’’

Both paragraph 19 of Opinion No. 18 and Interpretation No.
1 indicate that the intercompany gain ($150,000 and $200,000)
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recorded by the investor company would be eliminated under
the equity method.

In the second case, measuring the value of the computer
programs by the $200,000 stated value of the stock may not be
appropriate, and the auditor should try to satisfy himself con-
cerning the estimated values assigned to the tangible and in-
tangible assets contributed by the other stockholders. (See para-
graph 19n of Opinion 18 and paragraph 88 of Opinion 16.)

.09 Market Value of Unregistered Stock

Inquiry—A company needs a monthly valuation of its securi-
ties at market. Among the securities to be valued are some
lettered securities that contain a three-year restriction against
sale. These lettered securities consist of 714% convertible deben-
tures maturing in five years and common stock which had to be
purchased as a unit. Common stock which is unrestricted is being
freely traded and is presently selling at three times the cost of
the restricted common.

What is the generally accepted accounting inethod of valuing
the lettered securities?

Reply—The valuation of unregistered stock is discussed in the
SEC’s Codification of Financial Reporting Policies, Sec. 404.04.a
(ASR 113).

In general the valuation of such stock is difficult. The relation-
ship between the current value of unregistered stock and of
similar stock which is available for sale on the exchanges or over
the counter will vary for many reasons, including particularly
the period for which it may be expected to remain unregistered,
and the volatility and thinness of market of stock being traded.

Methods of valuation are not, strictly speaking, accounting
functions. The valuation of securities is primarily a function
of appraisers and stockbrokers. A broker knowledgeable as to
the company involved will frequently be in a position to suggest
a discount percentage appropriate to the restrictions imposed
upon sale of a particular security. Such percentage will vary with
the type of restriction and with the nature of the market for
the unrestricted security of that issuer.

In determining how much credibility to assign to evidence of
valuation of an asset, it is necessary to evaluate the competence
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and experience of the individual appraiser, his knowledge of the
field, and the individual asset involved.

.10 Elimination of Intercompany Profits

Inquiry—A parent company reflects its wholly owned sub-
sidiaries on the equity basis in its financial statements. There
are many intercompany transactions. Should just the unrealized
profits or losses be eliminated from the financial statements or
should the entire transaction, sales, cost of sales and related
profits be eliminated?

Reply—Accounting Interpretation No. 1 of Accounting Prin-
ciples Board Opinion No. 18, states in part:

Paragraph 19 of APB Opinion No. 18 normally requires an investor’s
net income and stockholder’s equity to be the same from application
of the equity method as would result from consolidation. Because the
equity method is a “one-line” consolidation, however, the details
reported in the investor’s financial statements under the equity
method will not be the same as would be reported in consolidated
financial statements (see paragraph 19-c). All intercompany trans-
actions are eliminated in consolidation, but under the equity method
intercompany profits or losses are normally eliminated only on assets
still remaining on the books of an investor or an investee.

Therefore, in transactions between a parent company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries, only unrealized profits or losses
should be eliminated when the investments are reported on the
equity basis in parent company financial statements.

.11  Equity Methed for Investments in Limited Partnerships and
Unincorporated Joint Ventures

Ingquiry—Corporation A owns investments ranging from
20% to more than 50% in several limited partnerships and un-
incorporated joint ventures. Is Corporation A required to use
the equity method to account for its investments? If Corpora-
tion A uses the equity method for its investments, should the
auditors of Corporation A examine the financial statements of
each separate investee?

Reply—AICPA Accounting Interpretation No. 2, “Invest-
ments in Partnerships and Ventures,” of APB Opinion No. 18
states:

APB Opinion No. 18 applies only to investments in common

stock of corporations and does not cover investments in part-
nerships and unincorporated joint ventures (also called undi-
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vided interests in ventures). Many of the provisions of the
Opinion would be appropriate in accounting for investments in
these unincorporated entities, however, as discussed below.

Partnership profits and losses accrued by investor-partners are
generally reflected in their financial statements as described in
paragraphs 19-c and 19-d. Likewise, most of the other provi-
sions of paragraph 19 would be appropriate in accounting for a
partnership interest, such as the elimination of intercompany
profits and losses (see paragraph 19-a).
* X X

Generally, the above discussion of partnerships would also
apply to unincorporated joint ventures, particularly the elimi-
nation of intercompany profits and the accounting for income
taxes. However, because the investor-venturer owns an un-
divided interest in each asset and is proportionately liable for
its share of each liability, the provisions of paragraph 19-c
may not apply in some industries. For example, where it is
the established industry practice (such as in some oil and
gas venture accounting), the investor-venturer may account in
its financial statements for its pro rata share of the assets,
liabilities, revenues, and expenses of the venture,

APB Interpretation No. 2 seems to imply that the same factors
(a controlling financial interest, the ability to exercise significant
influence over operating and financial policies, or the lack of
control or ability to exercise significant influence) that deter-
mine the method used by an investor to account for its invest-
ments in corporate common stock would also determine the
method used by an investor to account for its investments in
unincorporated entities. The one exception stated in APB In-
terpretation No. 2, that an investor may account for its pro rata
share of the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of an unin-
corporated joint venture, is based on industry practices. Ac-
cordingly, Corporation A’s method of accounting for its
investments would depend on the circumstances.

SAS No. 1, section 332, Long-Term Investments, paragraph .05,
relates to investments accounted for by either the cost method
or the equity method and states:

Evidential matter pertaining to the carrying amount of
long-term investments, income and losses attributable to such

investments, and capital and other transactions of the investee
may be available in the following forms:

a. Audited Financial Statements
Financial statements of the investee generally constitute
sufficient evidential matter as to the equity in underlying
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net assets and results of operations of the investee when such
statements have been examined by the investor’s auditor or
by another independent auditor whose report is satisfactory,
for this purpose, to the investor’s auditor . .

«12 Investor’'s Share of Losses in Excess of ls Investment

Inquiry—Company A’s share of the losses of a real estate
venture exceeds its investment in the venture. How should
Company A account for its investment?

Reply—SOP No. 789, Accounting for Investments in Real
Estate Ventures, recommends that the equity method be used to
account for investments in corporate or noncorporate real estate
ventures. APB Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of Account-
wmg for Investments in Common Stock, paragraph 191i, states:

An investor’s share of losses of an investee may equal or
exceed the carrying amount of an investment accounted for
by the equity method plus advances made by the investor.
The investor ordinarily should discontinue applying the equity
method when the investment (and net advances) is reduced
to zero and should not provide for additional losses unless the
investor has guaranteed obligations of the investee or is
otherwise committed to provide further financial support for
the investee.* If the investee subsequently reports net income,
the investor should resume applying the equity method only
after its share of that net income equals the share of net losses
not recognized during the period the equity method was
suspended.

Accordingly, the investor should reflect its investment at a
zero amount and disclose in a note to the financial statements
the amount of its share of investee losses in excess of the zero
amount.

If the investor is committed to provide further financial sup-
port to the investee, the investor should show the excess of its
share of investee losses over its investment and advances as a
liability up to the amount of its commitment.

.13 A Change in Circumstances Using the Equity Method of Ac-
counting for an Investment

Inquiry—An investor had guaranteed obligations of an in-
vestee and the investor’s share of losses of this investee have

*An investor should, however, provide for additional losses when the immi-
nent return to profitable operations by an investeee appears to be assured. For
example, a material, nonrecurring loss of an isolated nature may reduce an
investment below zero even though the underlying profitable operating pattern
of an investee is unimpaired. [APB Opinion No. 18, paragraph 19i, footnote 10.]
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exceeded the carrying amount of the investment on the in-
vestor’s book in a prior year. This procedure is in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting
for Investments in Common Stock, paragraph 19(i). In the
current year, the investee fully paid the obligation which was
guaranteed by the investor; accordingly, the investor will no
longer guarantee the obligations of the investee and, therefore,
will not record its share of the investee’s losses.

(1) Does this constitute a change of accounting principles?

(2) How should the liability recorded on the investor’s
books be accounted for?

Reply—(1) This is not a change in accounting principles.
According to APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, para-
graph 8, an “adoption or modification of an accounting prineciple
necessitated by transactions or events that are clearly different
in substance from those previously oceurring” is not a change
in accounting principles. The situation desecribed is a change in
circumstances and not a change in accounting principles.

(2) The liability recorded on the investor’s books should be
reversed in the current year and reported in the income state-
ment with appropriate footnote disclosure.

I—> The next page is 1361. <—&
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Section 2230

Noncurrent Receivables

.02 Balance Sheet Classification of Deposit on Equipment to Be
Purchased
Inquiry—What is the appropriate balance sheet classification
of a deposit on machinery which is to be purchased within one
year?

Reply—ARB No. 43, Chapter 3A, Current Assets and Current
Liabilities, paragraph 6, states, “This concept of the nature of
current assets contemplates the exclusion from that classifica-
tion of such resources as: (a) cash and claims to cash that are
restricted as to withdrawal or use for other than current opera-
tions, are designated for expenditure in the acquisition or
construction of noncurrent assets, or are segregated for the
liquidation of long-term debts.” Accordingly, the deposit on
equipment should be classified as a noncurrent asset even
though the equipment will be purchased within one year.

I—> The next page is 1391.<—
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Section 2240

Cash Surrender Value
of Life Insurance

.01 Balance Sheet Classification of Life Insurance Policy Loan

Inquiry—A company has secured a short-term loan from an
insurance company against the cash surrender value of its life
insurance policies.

In paragraph 6(d), Chapter 3A of ARB No. 43, cash surrender
value of life insurance policies is excluded from the classification
of a current asset. This reference does not appear to recommend
a different classification if the cash value may have been fully
borrowed from the insurance company.

Is it proper to classify a readily liquid asset as noncurrent
and simultaneously show the related borrowings as a current
liability ?

Reply—Paragraph 6 of Chapter 3A of Accounting Research
Bulletin No. 43 states in part:

This concept of the nature of current assets contemplates the exclu-

sion from that classification of such resources as . .. (d) cash
surrender value of life insurance policy.

Note 3 to paragraph 7 of this Chapter states:

Loans accompanied by pledge of life insurance policies would be
classified as current liabilities when, by their terms or by intent, they
are to be repaid within twelve months. The pledging of life insurance
policies does not affect the classification of the asset any more than
does the pledging of receivables, inventories, real estate, or other
assets as collateral for a short-term loan. However, when a loan on a
life insurance policy is obtained from the insurance company with the
intent that it will not be paid but will be liquidated by deduction from
the proceeds of the policy upon maturity or cancellation, the obliga-
tion should be excluded from current liabilities.

Paragraph 7-1 of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 10
states:

It is a general principle of accounting that the offsetting of assets and
liabilities in the balance sheet is improper except where a right of
setoff exists.
Therefore, if a company takes out policy loans from the insur-
ance company on life insurance policies which it owns and if
there is no intention to repay the loan during the ensuing operat-
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ing cycle of the business, such loan may be excluded from current
liabilities. Furthermore, as the owner of a policy normally has
the right to offset the loan against the proceeds received on
maturity or cancellation of the policy, it is appropriate to apply
the amount of the loan in reduction of the cash surrender value,
with disclosure of the amount so offset.

.02 Disclosure of Life Insurance on Principal Stockholders

Inquiry—A client corporation maintains life insurance policies
on its principal stockholders which will provide for the repur-
chase of the stock in the event of a stockholder’s death. The cash
surrender value of these policies appears on the balance sheet.
Is further disclosure necessary?

Reply—The rule of informative disclosure requires that the
essential facts respecting firm commitments for purchase of a
corporation’s own stock pursuant to a buy-sell agreement, be set
forth in a footnote to the financial statements.

Below is an example of a footnote describing such a situation
which might appear on the balance sheet in reference to the cash
surrender value account :

The company is the owner and beneficiary of key-man life insur-
ance policies carried on the lives of X, Y, and Z bearing face value
amounts of $500,000, $500,000 and $450,000 respectively. No loans
are outstanding against the policies, but there is no restriction in the
policy regarding loans.

The life insurance contracts are accompanied by mandatory stock
purchase agreements to the amount of the proceeds of the life
insurance. In the event of the insured’s death, the “fair market value”
of the stock will, by previous action, be established by the X Ap-
praisal Company. The insured’s estate will be obligated to sell, and
the company will be obligated to purchase the insured’s stock up to
the appraisal value of the stock or the proceeds of insurance, which-
ever is the lesser. The purpose is to protect the company against an
abrupt change in ownership or management.

.03 Omission of Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance from
Assets

Inquiry—Clearly, cash surrender values of life insurance may
be included among the assets in the balance sheet of an enter-
prise. Is this mandatory, or may management elect to omit this
item from the assets on the theory that its inclusion will be mis-
leading since the insurance is carried for the purpose of covering
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the loss it is anticipated will be sustained as a result of the death
of a key official?

Reply—If the enterprise retains all valuable contract rights
incident to ownership of the life insurance policy, then it is
mandatory from the standpoint of full accountability to reflect
the asset status of the cash surrender value of the policy. Not to
reflect the cash surrender value would be tantamount to creating
a hidden reserve which would be contrary to generally accepted
accounting principles.

.04 Corporation’s Policy on Life of Debtor Corporation’s Officer

Inquiry—A client took out a straight life insurance policy on
the life of an officer of another corporation which is indebted to
the client. The client corporation hopes to receive the proceeds of
the insurance policy tax free and has not deducted the yearly pre-
mium payments as expenses. The officer is over 65 years old, and,
therefore, there is a great possibility he will die prior to the full
payment of the outstanding balance of the corporation’s debt.
The prior CPA reported the accumulated premium payments on
the Balance Sheet as ‘‘Investment in Life Insurance.”’

Is it proper to show total premiums paid as an investment
under these circumstances?

Reply—Where a corporation takes out a life insurance policy
on the life of a debtor corporation’s officer (assuming that there
is an insurable interest), the manner of accounting for the pre-
miums should not differ from the manner of accounting for
premiums paid on the life of the corporation’s own officer. The
premiums should be broken down between the expense and the
cash surrender value elements. Accordingly, the accumulated
premiums account should be analyzed to determine the cash sur-
render value as at the balance sheet date, the expense portion for
the period under audit, and the remaining portion which should
be treated as a correction of prior period earnings. See Account-
ing Principles Board Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, for a
discussion of correction of an error.

.05 Purchase of Key-Man Life Insurance Policy from the Insured

Inquiry—A corporate officer was the owner of and paid $70,000
in premiums on a $1,000,000 life insurance contract on his life
with his wife as beneficiary. The corporation purchased the in-
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surance contract for business purposes at a price of $70,000
changing the ownership and beneficiary to the corporation.

The corporation carries the insurance contract as an invest-
ment, at cost, which exceeded the cash surrender value at date of
purchase by $40,000. The corporation amortized this $40,000
amount over the 15 year actuarial life expectancy of the insured
as an annual charge against earnings. Is this treatment in con-
formity with generally accepted accounting principles?

Reply—Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Chapter 3, Sec-
tion A indicates that cash surrender value of life insurance pol-
icies should be presented as a noncurrent asset. Accounting In-
terpretation No. 1 to Accounting Principles Board Opinion No.
12 states that the generally accepted method of accounting for
non-term insurance on the life of a corporate officer is to charge
the increase in the cash surrender value of the policy to an asset
account and to charge the remaining balance of the annual pre-
mium to expense. This treatment would apply to any current
premiums the corporation pays on the policy. However, the
amount paid to the officer in excess of the cash surrender value of
the policy at the date of purchase should be amortized over the
life expectancy of the officer.

»—> The next page is 1451, <«—
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Section 2250
Intangible Assets

.02 Change in Amortization Period for Contingent Consideration
Carried as Goodwill

Inquiry—A company in a purchase transaction acquired a
service business at a purchase price in excess of identifiable tan-
gible and intangible assets. The excess purchase price, paid for
customers’ lists, going concern value, goodwill, etc., is reflected
on the balance sheet. The original purchase agreement provided
for additional payments which were dependent upon the opera-
tions of the acquired company in subsequent years. An additional
$100,000 became due three years from the date of the original
purchase.

Because of the nature of the service business, the purchaser
tentatively decided on the date of acquisition to adopt a ten year
life for amortization purposes. The ten-year write-off period
originally chosen does not represent the actual life of the excess
but only a judgmental estimate. The additional $100,000 is pay-
able only because the acquired company has demonstrated con-
tinued earning power. Because of this evidence as to the contin-
ued value of the excess purchase price, the company determined
to write off the excess (comprising the unamortized balance of
the original amount plus the $100,000) over a term of fifteen
years from the date of payment of the additional $100,000.

Is the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles?

Reply—Paragraph 80 of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 16 states as follows:

Additional consideration may be contingent on maintaining or
achieving specified earnings levels in future periods. When the con-
tingency is resolved and additional consideration is distributable, the
acquiring corporation should record the current fair value of the
consideration issued or issuable as additional cost of the acquired
company. The additional costs of affected assets, usually goodwill,
should be amortized over the remaining life of the asset.

Paragraph 31 of APB Opinion No. 17 states in part:

A company should evaluate the periods of amortization continually
to determine whether later events and circumstances warrant revised
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estimates of useful lives. If estimates are changed, the unamortized
costs should be allocated to the increased or reduced number of
remaining periods in the revised useful life but not to exceed forty
years after acquisition.

This also is in accordance with paragraph 31 of APB Opinion
No. 20.

It is appropriate to adjust the estimate of the period benefited
by the intangible assets at the date the contingent consideration
is determined. Such amortization period may not exceed forty
years from the date of the original acquisition. The revised life
should be applied to the unamortized balance of the originally
recorded intangible, as well as to the additional payment being
made, on a straight line basis in accordance with paragraph 30 of
APB Opinion No. 17. If the intangibles can be broken down be-
tween general ‘‘goodwill’’ and other intangibles, the estimated
lives for the various intangible assets may differ.
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.04 Appraisal Value of Intangible Assets

Inquiry—A client who operates several Community Antenna
Television systems wishes to value the CATV systems in the
statement of financial position at an appraisal value based on a
fixed amount per subscriber. Could such a value be properly
presented on the financial statements?

Reply—APB Opinion No. 6, Status of Accounting Research
Bulletins, paragraph 17, states in part, “The Board is of the
opinion that property, plant and equipment should not be writ-
ten up by an entity to reflect appraisal, market, or current
values which are above cost to the entity.” APB Opinion No. 17,
Intangible Assets, paragraph 25, states in part, “Intangible as-
sets acquired singly should be recorded at cost at date of ac-
quisition.”

Therefore, whether the assets involved are tangible or intan-
gible, it would not be in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles to state such assets at appraised values
in excess of cost. [Amended]

.05 Reporting Write-off of Unamortized Goodwill

Inquiry—Corporation A has reviewed the estimated life of
goodwill, which is being amortized, and decided that the un-
amortized balance of goodwill should be written off in the
current year. The write-off is caused by significant changes in
manufacturing techniques and other circumstances which indi-
cate that the unamortized goodwill has no future benefits. How
should the write-off be reported?

Reply—In accordance with APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting
the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal
of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions, paragraph
23(a), which refers specifically to the write-down or the write-
off of intangibles, the write-off of goodwill would not be
reported as an extraordinary item. Assuming that the amount
of the write-off is material, the write-off should be reported in
accordance with APB Opinion No. 30, paragraph 26. Paragraph
26 states:

A material event or transaction that is unusual in nature
or occurs infrequently but not both, and therefore does not
meet both criteria for classification as an extraordinary item,
should be reported as a separate component of income from
continuing operations. The nature and financial effects of each
event or transaction should be disclosed on the face of the in-
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come statement or, alternatively, in notes to the financial state-
ments. Gains or losses of a similar nature that are not indi-
vidually material should be aggregated. Such items should
not be reported on the face of the income statement net of in-
come taxes or in any manner inconsistent with the provisions
of paragraphs 8 and 11 of this Opinion or in any other manner
that may imply that they are extraordinary items. Similarly,
the earnings per share effects of those items should not be
disclosed on the face of the income statement.

.06 Accounting Treatment of Agreements Not to Compete

Inquiry—A company enters into an agreement with an out-
going officer whereby the company will make future periodic
payments to the officer in return for the officer’s agreement not
to compete with the company for the period coinciding with
the payments.

Would it be appropriate for the company to record a liability
for the total future payments to the former officer and a corre-
sponding intangible asset for the covenant?

Reply—The authoritative literature does not provide specific
guidance for the treatment of executory contracts, which require
future consideration upon the occurrence of certain events.

FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Financial State-
ments, paragraph 36, specifies that a characteristic of a liability
is that “the transaction or other event obligating the entity has
already happened.” Since the event that gives rise to the com-
pany’s obligation is the former officer’s forbearance from com-
petition, many accountants believe that the transaction should
be recorded prospectively, as the payments are “earned” by the
former officer. They would disclose the contractual obligation
as a commitment in the company’s notes to its finanecial
statements.

Concepts No. 6, paragraph 26 provides that a characteristic
of an asset is that “it embodies a probable future benefit. . . .”
Accordingly, the company would only record an intangible asset
if the payment to the former officer preceded the period of
forbearance.

.07 Write-Off of Goodwill on Date of Purchase

Inquiry—An investor purchased a significant interest in an
equity investee and at the same time guaranteed its obligations.
The subsequent share of the investee’s losses plus advances
exceeded the carrying amount of the investment. The investor
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purchased the remaining interest and assumed responsibility for
the obligations of the investee. The purchase price of the remain-
ing interest was in excess of the sum of the fair values of the
identifiable assets acquired less liabilities assumed, which im-
plied goodwill. If the parent determines that the goodwill has
no value can it immediately be written off?

Reply—No. Goodwill is defined as the excess of the purchase
price over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired.
APB Opinion No. 17, Intangible Assets, requires goodwill to be
capitalized and amortized over its useful life. To reduce the
carrying amount of goodwill, it is usually necessary to establish
that the economic conditions and factors which gave rise to the
goodwill no longer exist, or that the period benefited by such
factors and conditions has expired. Since sufficient time has not
elapsed to demonstrate either of these conditions, it would be
improper to write off the goodwill.
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Section 2260
Other Assets

.01 Accounting for Treasury Stock as an Asset

Inquiry—ARB No. 43, Chapter 1A, Prior Opinions, para-
graph 4, states . .. it is perhaps in some circumstances per-
missible to show stock of a corporation held in its own treasury
as an asset, if adequately disclosed. . . .” Under what circum-
stances would this be appropriate? What would be the title of
the asset in the balance sheet?

Reply—Treasury stock has been reported as an asset in the
balance sheet when a corporation purchases its own stock as
part of a systematic method of fulfilling its requirements to
issue shares in connection with an employee stock option plan.

A title used for this presentation may be “Common Stocks
Held for an Employee Incentive Program.” Some public com-
panies reflect it between current and fixed assets.
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Section 3100

Current Liabilities

.01 Estimated Liability for Unemployment Claims

Inquiry—Under state law, a corporation has a choice of the
method to pay unemployment insurance contributions. The cor-
poration may pay a percentage of gross wages or may reimburse
the state employment commission directly for actual unemploy-
ment claims. A client chose to reimburse the state for the actual
claims which may arise. If no claims against the client are filed,
may the client record an expense and a liability for unemploy-
ment claims?

Reply—The estimated unemployment insurance costs should
be acerued currently based on the client’s estimated or past his-
tory of unemployment. Unemployment insurance cost should be
related to the period worked by the employees. Not recording
unemployment costs until claims are actually filed would result in
a mismatching of revenues and expenses. Such an approach
would be unacceptable under generally accepted accounting
principles.

.03 Accounting for Possible Refunds of Leasing Fees

Inquiry—A company franchises distributorships for home and
office oxygen inhalator units. The licensees lease the units from
the company and pay an initial leasing fee for each unit before
receipt of the unit. As stipulated in the franchise agreement, the
licensee is entitled to a refund, upon termination of the franchise
agreement and return of the units, of a specified amount of the
initial leasing fee depending on the period of time that the units
are leased out. When units are returned they can usually be
redistributed with little or no repair. Is there a liability for the
return of a portion of the initial leasing fees?

Reply—The returned units can usually be redistributed with
little or no repair. Therefore, accounting for these units would
be similar to accounting for returnable containers. Because the
licensee pays the initial leasing fee prior to delivery of the units,
there is no receivable to be offset by an “allowance account” for
the estimated refunds, and so the amounts for estimated refunds
should be shown as a liability.
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.04 Date for Accrual of Tax Penalties

Inquiry—A company has received certain billings from the
federal government for interest and penalties for late filing of
federal withholding taxes. Some of these notices were received
prior to the balance sheet date, while other notices were received
after 'the balance sheet date, but in either case they apply to
periods prior to the balance sheet date. Should liabilities for the
interest and penalties be shown on the balance sheet?

Reply—SAS No. 1, section 560, Subsequent Events, paragraph

3, states in part:

All information that becomes available prior to the issuance

of the financial statements should be used by management in

its evaluation of the conditions on which the estimates were

based. The financial statements should be adjusted for any

changes in estimates resulting from the use of such evidence.
Therefore, provision should be made for any billings received
for penalties on late filing of federal withholding taxes which
were required to be filed prior to the balance sheet date. Simi-
larly, any such interest should be provided for up to the balance
sheet date. Interest accrued subsequent thereto would be an
expense of the following period.

.05 Accounting for Teachers’ Salaries Over a 12-Month Period

Inquiry—Teachers in a public school district teach from
September 1 through June 30, a 10-month period. The school
distriet pays these teachers over a 12-month period for the 10
months of service. The school distriet’s fiscal year ends June 30.
What is the appropriate financial statement presentation for the
2 months of teachers’ salaries that have been earned but
not yet paid by the school distriet at the end of the fiscal
year? Does the guidance for compensated absences apply?

Reply—The salaries of teachers who complete their services
prior to the end of the fiseal year but are paid after the end of
the fiscal vear are a current liability of the governmental fund.
The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Audits of State and
Local Governmental Units, pages 75—76 (chapter 10, paragraph
4), states that if the government has received the service and
has become liable for payment, then it should record an ex-
penditure for the liability—teachers’ salaries, in this case—in
the year in which the service was received.

Therefore, the teachers’ salaries for the months of July and
August should be considered current liabilities.
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While the rules related to compensated absences are not
applicable in this case, they are similar and result in a simi-
lar response. National Council on Governmental Accounting
(NCGA) Statement No. 4, Accounting and Financial Reporting
Principles for Claims and Judgments and Compensated Ab-
sences, paragraphs 25 and 26 (GASB Codification, section
(60.108.109), discusses accounting for compensated absences in
governmental funds. According to NCGA Statement No. 4,
paragraph 25, if all the conditions of FASB Statement No. 43,
Accounting for Compensated Absences, paragraph 6, are met,
then the amount of compensated absences recorded as expendi-
tures in governmental funds should be the amount accrued dur-
ing the year that would normally be liquidated with expendable
available financial resources. The phrase “normally would be
paid with expendable available resources” is generally inter-
preted to mean payments within 60 days after the end of the
fiscal year. In this case, even if the rules regarding compensated
absences were applicable, the teachers’ salaries would still be
considered current liabilities. [ Amended]

.06 Accrual of Liability Under Lawsuit Settlement

Inquiry—Several years ago, Company B instituted legal action
against Company A. Under a memorandum of settlement and
agreement, Company A agreed to pay Company B a total of
$17,500 in three installments—$5,000 on March 1, $7,500 on July
1, and the remaining $5,000 on December 31. Company A paid the
first two installments during its fiscal year ended September 30.
Should the unpaid amount of $5,000 be presented as a current
liability at September 30?2

Reply—Since the $5,000 is payable within one year, Company
A should present it as a current liability at September 30.
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Section 3200
Long-Term Debt

.01 Classification of Unamortized Bond Discount

Inquiry—What is the proper balance sheet classification of
“‘Unamortized Bond Discount Costs’’? Is it an asset or should it
be listed as a contra long-term liability account?

Reply—Prior to the issuance of APB Opinion No. 21 in August
1971 it was the usual practice to include such differences between
face amount and proceeds of bonds issued among ‘‘deferred
charges’’ or ‘‘other assets’’ on the asset side of the balance sheet.
Paragraph 16 of Opinion No. 21 changes prior practices ; discount
should now be shown in the balance sheet as a deduction from the
face value of the obligation.

The cost of issuing the debt, on the other hand, represents de-
ferred charges which should still appear on the asset side of the
balance sheet.

.02 Classification of Discount on Instaliment Notes to Banks

Inquiry—Does APB Opinion No. 21 require the discount on
installment loans from banks or other credit institutions to be
shown on the balance sheet as a reduction of the related debt, or
may the discount be shown as a deferred charge?

Reply—Paragraph 16 of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 21 states in part:

The discount or premium resulting from the determination of present

value in cash or non-cash transactions is not an asset or liability

separable from the note which gives rise to it. Therefore, the discount

or premium should be reported in the balance sheet as a direct

deduction from or addition to the face amount of the note. It should

not be classified as a deferred charge or deferred credit.

There is no reason why this should not be as applicable to in-

stallment loans due to banks and other credit institutions as to
any other type of debt.

.03 Discount on Chattel Mortgage

Inquiry—Paragraph No. 16 of APB Opinion No. 21 states that
a discount resulting from the determination of present value is
not an asset separable from the note which gives rise to it and
therefore should be reported in the balance sheet as a direct de-
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duction from the face amount of the note. Should interest on
chattel mortgages included in the face amount of the obligation
be given the same statement presentation, since it is of the same
nature?

Reply—There is no reason why the unamortized interest on
chattel mortgages should be given any different treatment than
discount on other obligations. As described in the Opinion, the
net liability should be shown at its present value, rather than at
the gross amount that would be paid upon maturity.

.04 Classification of ‘‘Add-on Interest’’

Inquiry—Should installment contracts with add-on interest be
presented on the balance sheet as the gross amount of the con-
tract being a liability and the interest being an asset, or should
the interest be shown as a deduction from the installment con-
tract amount?

Reply—*¢ Add-on interest’’ represents a discount on the in-
stallments payable and, in accordance with paragraph 16 of APB
Opinion No. 21, should be deducted on the balance sheet from the
face amount of the obligation. To show such ‘‘add-on interest’’
as an asset would be in violation of paragraph 16.

.05 Classification of Indefinitely Deferred Payable

Inquiry—Under an inventory purchase agreement, payment is
deferred provided the purchaser maintains a certain inventory
level. The agreement stipulates that title to the goods passes to
the purchaser upon receipt of the goods.

Since the inventory will be classified as a current asset, it also
seems logical to classify the related liability as current. However,
since payment may be indefinitely deferred, classification of the
payable as noncurrent can also be justified. Should the payable
be classified as a current or noncurrent liability?

Reply—The payable should be classified as a long-term liabil-
ity. The agreement specifies that title to the goods passes to the
purchaser upon receipt. Therefore, the inventory is properly
includable as a current asset as if it were being purchased F.O.B.
destination under normal credit terms. The deferred payment
portion of the agreement is similar to buying a current asset in
exchange for a long-term promissory note. Therefore, there is no
inconsistency with recording the inventory as a current asset and
the payable as a long-term liability.
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.06 Amortization Period for Placement Fee When Mortgage
Refinanced

Inquiry—A company paid a $100,000 mortgage placement fee
for an eighteen year mortgage. Ten months later, it became
apparent that a refinancing of a significantly larger mortgage
would be needed. The company negotiated a commitment with a
bank for a larger mortgage to be placed one year from the date
of this agreement. At the time of the commitment, in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 17, paragraph 31, which deals with
intangible assets, the company reduced the amortization period
of the placement fee to the expected remaining period of the
original mortgage.

Two months before the closing date of the original mortgage,
at which time almost the entire prepaid mortgage fee had been
amortized, the bank was unable to make the loan and exercised
an option to extend the closing date of the old mortgage and the
placement date of the new mortgage for six more months.

Should the amortization period now be extended to the new
settlement date?

Reply—The mortgage placement fee should not be viewed as
an intangible asset but as a deferred charge under APB Opinion
No. 21. It is an amortizable cost incurred to secure the mortgage.

The unamortized amount of the fee at the time when the bank
exercises the option should be amortized over the remaining six
month period. The reasons for the exercise of the option do not
change the fact that the period benefited has been extended. The
change should be treated as a change in accounting estimate, in
accordance with APB Opinion No. 20. If the new mortgage is
placed before the end of the six month option period, any balance
of the fee should then be written off in accordance with APB
Opinion No. 26 and FASB Statement No. 4 which deal with early
extinguishment of debt. [Amended]

.07 Calculation of Present Value of an Annuity

Inquiry—Appendix C on page 34 of FASB Statement No. 66,
Accounting for Sales of Real Estate, contains the following
calculation:

Present value of 336 monthly payments of
$1,583.33 discounted at 8145% (interest rate
on loan from Insurance Company) ($1,583.33
plus $1,583.33 X 127.9071) ....... ... ............. $204,000
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How was this $204,000 figure reached?

Reply—In this problem, 336 equal monthly installments of
$1,5683.33 will be paid. Apparently, the first payment is due im-
mediately, so the present value is calculated as follows:

Present value of first payment:

(value of one payment due now).. $ 1,583.33
Present value of succeeding 335 pay-

ments:

amount of one payment......... $1,583.33
X present value factor. .... ...... 127.9071  202,519.15
Total present value of 336 payments $204,102.48
Rounded as per Guide .. ... .. $204,000.00

The present value factor is 127.9071. The factor is for 335
periods at an interest rate of 17/24% per period (814% per year
divided by twelve months per year equals 17/24% per month).

.08 Transfer of Contingently-Held Notes to Capital Surplus

Inquiry—An individual who owns all of the issued and out-
standing stock of a corporation agreed to purchase, at a substan-
tial discount from a third party, fully subordinated notes for
which his corporation is liahle. The notes will be held in escrow
by an attorney until the stockholder completes a series of install-
ment payments to the third party. Upon full payment of the
installments, the attorney has the right to release the notes. If
full payment is not made, the attorney must return the notes to
the original holder who will then have recourse to the corpo-
ration.

The purchaser of the notes wishes to transfer the notes payable
to the capital surplus of the corporation so that, in essence, the
ohligation by the corporation to the third party would no longer
exist. Would this he in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles?

Reply—This transfer should not be effected until the notes are
fully paid in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The
entire face amount of the notes should he reported as a liability
on the corporation’s balance sheet, with the installments due in
the next fiscal year shown as a current liability, and with ade-
quate footnote disclosure because the corporation remains liable
under the terms of the present agreement if the purchaser de-
faults on the payments.

The transfer of the notes to the corporation’s capital surplus
would be acceptable if personal assumption of liability for the
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notes by the purchaser would induce the original note holder to
go without recourse to the corporation.

.09 Financial Statement Presentation of ‘‘Pay Any Day’’ Loans

Inquiry—Corporation A finances its purchases of equipment
through ‘‘pay any day” loans. Under this type of financing
arrangement, the borrower signs a note and security agreement
which sets forth the amount financed, the finance charge, and
the amount of monthly payment. This instrument differs from
a conditional sales contract or ‘‘add-on” loan. The ‘‘add-on”
loan is a contract calling for a specified number of payments,
including interest, and therefore the liability is the total amount
to be repaid over the life of the contract; whereas, the “pay any
day” loan, or note and security agreement is a simple interest
loan and the agreement shows the finance charge in order to
disclose the amount of interest that will be paid if each install-
ment payment is made on its exact due date.

What is the appropriate financial statement presentation of
‘‘pay any day’’ loans?

Reply—A ‘“pay any day’’ loan can be recorded and reported
in the financial statements at its face amount plus accrued in-
terest because it is in effect a term loan with interest charged
at the current rate. The amount of the loan, if any, expected to
be paid within one year would be shown as a current liability.

.10 Determining the Allocation for Lease Payments for a Lease
Capitalized at Fair Market Value

Inquiry—According to FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting
for Leases, paragraph 10, a lessee accounting for a capital lease,
records an asset and an obligation equal to the present value
of the miniimum lease payments at the beginning of the lease
term, execluding any portion of the payments which represent
executory costs (e. g., insurance and taxes) which will be paid
by the lessor. However, if this amount is greater than the fair
market value of the leased property, the amount recorded as
the asset and obligation should be fair market value. When the
asset and obligation are recorded at the fair market value, since
the interest rate is not known, how should the amount for the
lease payments be recorded?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 13, paragraph 12, states in
part, during the lease term, each minimum lease payment shall
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be allocated between a reduction of the obligation and interest
expense so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the obligation. This is the “in-
terest” method described in the first sentence of APB Opinion
No. 21, Interest on Receivables and Payables, paragraph 15, and
in APB Opinion No. 12, Omnibus Opinion—1967, paragraphs
16 and 17.

‘When the asset to be recorded based on the present value of
the minimum lease payments exceeds the fair market value of
the asset, it is usually because the incremental borrowing rate
used to determine present value is lower than the interest rate

implicit in the lease.

.11 Effect of Sales Taxes on the Determination of Present Value
of Minimum Lease Payments

Inguiry—A company leases a machine for $14,000 a month
for 72 months. The monthly invoice received from the lessor
includes the stipulated monthly rent plus a charge for state sales
taxes. The lease does not meet the 90 percent criterion of a
capital lease (i.e., the present value of the minimum lease pay-
ments excluding executory costs equals or exceeds 90 percent
of the fair value of the leased property) if sales taxes are
excluded from minimum lease payments. The criterion is met
if both the rent and sales taxes are included as minimum lease
payments.

Should the minimum lease payments include sales taxes?

Reply—Practice in this area varies. FASB Statement No. 13,
Accounting for Leases, paragraph 5(j) (i) defines, in part, min-
imum lease payments as the payments that the lessee is obli-
gated to make or can be required to make in connection with
the leased property. However, “. . . the lessee’s obligation to
pay (apart from rental payments) executory costs such as in-
surance, maintenance, and taxes in connection with leased
property shall be excluded.” Many accountants interpret this
to mean that all taxes, including sales taxes, levied on lease
payments are considered executory costs since the lessor is
merely acting as a collection agent for the taxing authority.

Other accountants believe that only taxes other than sales
taxes (such as property taxes) should be excluded from the
minimum lease payments because sales taxes are often capital-
ized as part of the cost of purchased assets. FASB Statement
No. 13, paragraph 60 states that the provisions of this State-
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ment derive from the view that a lease that transfers sub-
stantially all of the benefits and risks incident to owmership
should be accounted for as the acquisition of an asset and the
incurrence of an obligation.

Because the authoritative pronouncements do not specifically
address whether sales taxes should be included as part of
minimum lease payments, practice varies and should be deter-
mined by the company’s general policy for accounting for sales
taxes on purchased assets.

Regardless of which approach is used, in order to properly
apply the 90 percent test referred to in FASB Statement No. 13,
paragraph 7(d) the components of the numerator and denomi-
nator should be the same. For example, if the sales taxes are
included as part of the minimum lease payments (the numera-
tor) then the sales taxes should be included in the fair value of
the leased asset (the denominator).

> The next page is 2471. <&
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Section 3400

Contingent Liabilities

01 Contested Liability

Inquiry—A company acquired the entire outstanding stock of
another company several years ago. The acquired company was
reorganized under TRS Code Section 334(b)(2) causing its
building and equipment to be written up in value. Inventory
was later written down.

An unpaid portion of the original purchase price is claimed by
the former owners of the acquired company, but this is con-
tested by the acquiring company on the grounds that the value
of the acquired company’s stock was misrepresented.

The acquired company’s shareholders intend to sue the ac-
quiring company for the unpaid balance, but a suit has not yet
been filed. How should the amount due under the original pur-
chase contract and the possible suit be reflected on the acquiring
company’s financial statements?

Reply—Because the possibility of a suit exists, footnote dis-
closure describing the entire dispute should be made, including
legal counsel’s comment that no suit is pending at this time. The
amount due under the original purchase contract, plus accrued
interest, should still be reported as a liability. No adjustments
should be made in the acquiring company’s financial records
until the dispute is settled or legal counsel advises that a statute
of limitations effectively bars filing of the suit in question and
the company is not legally liable to pay the debt.

.02 Disclosure of Agreement Between Corporation and its Share-
holders
Inquiry—Corporation A, a closely held entity, has an agree-
ment with its shareholders under which Corporation A could
become obligated to purchase a certain number of shares of
stock of deceased shareholders at book value. Should Corpora-
tion A disclose this agreement in its financial statements?

Reply—Corporation A should disclose the terms of the agree-
ment in a note to its financial statements since it is a contingent
liability (APB Statement No. 4, Chapter 7, paragraph 199,
RIA).
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Section 3900

Commitments

.01 Accounting for Contract to Cut Timber

Inquiry—A client participating in a joint venture is engaged
in a forest products operation and purchases considerable quan-
tities of timber from the United States Forest Service. These
contracts are shown under deferred liabilities, with the contract
account being listed under ‘‘timber and development.’’

With respect to the timber cutting contracts with the USF'S,
the venture is obligated to purchase the timber as set forth in
the contract, and to construct roads and log the timber in accor-
dance with contract specifications. The venture guaranteed per-
formance by putting up a bond. The Forest Service is not obli-
gated to provide the exact amount of timber set forth in the
contract. Total amount of timber finally purchased can vary, not
only in footage but in specie. The expected amount of timber by
specie is set forth in the contract, and it is this figure that is
used in determining the expected total contract obligation. The
venture pays only for what the Forest Service delivers. The most
common occurrence is for the contract to underrun rather than
overrun, in which event, the balance of the expected contract
liability would be written off at the termination of the contract.

Is it proper to show the contract as a deferred liability?

Reply—Although it is proper to reflect any advance payments
or deposits made in connection with the timber cutting contracts
with the USFS, it is improper to reflect the timber cutting
contracts (less depletion) as asset and liability unless these
contracts, when negotiated, may be deemed to involve a present
sale and purchase of the unsevered timber. This latter interpreta-
tion is an unlikely one. At the point of contract negotiation, it
does not appear that the vendor has set aside or ‘‘uncondition-
ally appropriated the goods to the contract.”” Growing timber
usually does not become personalty until severance. A contract
to purchase should be distinguished from a purchase.

Revenue is generally recognized upon the occasion of a ¢‘sale,”’
and the acquisition of an asset is generally recognized and re-
corded upon the occasion of a ‘‘purchase.’”” In the case in ques-
tion, it appears the contracts are executory on both sides. It is
not generally accepted accounting practice formally to record
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commitments in the accounts. However, it is generally accepted
practice to adequately disclose the nature and amounts of com-
mitments in the notes to financial statements.

.02 Liability Under Foreign Bank’s Letter of Payment Guarantee

Inquiry—A client, an import-export firm, agreed to purchase
goods from a foreign manufacturer. The agreement calls for
advance payment with the goods being delivered over the twelve-
month period following the date of the agreement. The client
arranged to make this advance payment through a letter of credit
issued by a U.S. bank. The U.S. bank has received a letter of
payment guarantee issued by a bank in the foreign country. If
the supplier fails to make shipments under the terms of the
agreement, the U.S. bank will look to the foreign bank for any
unpaid advances owed to the U.S. bank by the client. The U.S.
bank will look to the client for payment of all amounts repre-
sented by shipments to the client under the terms of the agree-
ment.

Is the client directly liable for the amount advanced by the
U.S. bank through its letter of credit, or does the client become
liable only as the goods are received and payment is due the
U.S. bank?

Reply—The client is directly liable for the amount advanced
to the foreign supplier. It appears from the description of the
transactions that the foreign bank is contingently liable if the
supplier does not perform under the agreement. The offsetting
asset would be classified as an ‘‘ Advance to Suppliers.”” Addi-
tional footnote disclosure of the financial arrangements would
also be required.

.03 Future Purchases Agreement as an Obligation Under Bank-
ruptcy Compromise Agreement

Inquiry—A corporation has entered into a compromise agree-
ment with its trade creditors under Chapter XI of the bankruptcy
laws. The agreement reduced the corporation’s debt to $1,500,000
to be paid over the next five years. The corporation also agreed
with the creditors that future purchases are to be made on a
C.0.D. basis, however this provision is not stated in the com-
promise agreement.

Are the C.0.D. terms an unstated obligation which is to be
considered as part of the compromise agreement?
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Reply—The auditor should request an opinion from the cli-
ent’s legal counsel regarding whether the C.0.D. terms would
be considered as part of the compromise agreement. From an
accounting point of view, the C.0.D. terms would not be an
unstated obligation in connection with the $1,500,000 payable.
While the major creditors, also the principal material suppliers,
continue to do business with the client, the business relationship
between the creditors and the client for current purchases is
substantially different, and the C.0.D. terms reflect that dif-
ference.

.04 Recognition of Losses on Purchase Commitments

Inquiry—Statement 10 of Accounting Research Bulletin No.
43, Chapter 4 states: ““Accrued net losses on firm purchase com-
mitments for goods for inventory, measured in the same way as
are inventory losses, should, if material, be recognized in the
accounts and the amounts thereof separately disclosed in the
income statement.”

Does this statement mean that the measurement of losses can-
not be done on an item by item basis but must only be done if
there is an overall net loss on purchase commitments?

Reply—Net losses apply to specific purchase commitments
and contracts, and not necessarily to components of major cate-
gories of inventories, as discussed in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4,
Statement No. 7.

.05 Letters of Credit

Inquiry—Should a company report its outstanding letters of
credit as a liability in the financial statements?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 5, paragraphs 18-19, requires
disclosure of unused letters of credit. They are commitments
and should not be reported as a liability in the financial state-
ments. [ Amended]

.06 Covenants Imposed by Loan Agreements

Inquiry—Restrictive covenants under certain loan agreements
of Company A require the Company to maintain a special
level of working capital, limit the amount of additional debt
that it ean incur, and restrict the amount of retained earnings
available for dividend payments. Should the restrictive cove-
nants be disclosed?
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Reply—FASB Statement No. 5, SAS No. 32, and ATB No. 1,
paragraph 69(4) require the disclosure of restrictive covenants.
The discussion of disclosure of restricted retained earnings in
ARS No. 7, page 203, states: “When there is more than one type
of restriction, disclosure of the amount of retained earnings, so
restricted, may be based on the most restrictive covenants likely
to be effective in the immediate future. In other words, restrie-
tions seldom, if ever, pyramid in amount.” By analogy, disclos-
ing only the most restrictive covenants applying to dividend
distributions would also apply to other restrictive covenants.
[Amended]

MW—> The next page is 2671. <&
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Section 3600
Deferred Credits

.01 Balance Sheet Presentation of Unearned Revenue

Ingquiry—A client, a motor club with an insurance company
subsidiary, has annually contended that unearned insurance pre-
miums and membership dues should be presented on the consol-
idated balance sheet as deferred income immediately preceding
the members’ equity and should not be included in the amount
for total liabilities. The client recognizes the revenues on the
insurance premiums and membership dues on a pro rata basis
over the period covered by the insurance policy and the member-
ships, therefore, the auditors have maintained that the unearned
portion of the insurance premiums and membership dues repre-
sent a liability on the part of the client to render services in the
future.

Is it appropriate to show these unearned premiums and dues
outside the liability section of the balance sheet?

Reply—FASB Concepts Statement No. 5, Recognition and
Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,
paragraph 84, indicates that amounts received for goods or
services in advance are not treated as revenue of the period in
which they are received but as revenue of the period or periods
in which they are earned. These amounts are carried as “un-
earned revenue”’—that is, liabilities to transfer goods or render
services in the future—until the earning process is complete.
Therefore, the unearned portions of the insurance premiums and
membership dues represent liabilities to provide services in the
future. While the description of the liabilities might vary, to
present the unearned premiums and membership dues outside
of the liability section of the balance sheet would be inappro-
priate.
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Section 4110

Issuance of
Capital
Stock

.01 Expenses Incurred in Public Sale of Capital Stock

Inquiry—A closely held corporation is issuing stock for the
first time to the public.

How would costs, such as legal and accounting fees, incurred
as a result of this issue, be handled in the accounting records?

Reply—Direct costs of obtaining capital by issuing stock
should be deducted from the related proceeds, and the net
amount recorded as contributed stockholders’ equity. Assuming
no legal prohibitions, issue costs should be deducted from capital
stock or capital in excess of par or stated value.

Such costs should be limited to the direct cost of issuing
the security. Thus, there should be no allocation of officers’
salaries, and care should be taken that legal and accounting fees
do not include any fees that would have been incurred in the ab-
sence of such issuance. [Amended]

.02 Stock Issued for No Consideration

Inquiry—A corporation issued stock without receiving any
consideration and set up goodwill to offset the credit to capital
stock. Was this transaction properly recorded?

Reply—This is primarily a legal rather than an accounting
question, and it would be advisable to obtain legal advice as to
the effect of such issuance. If such stock were legally issued,
the appropriate entry would be to show the offset as discount on
capital stock issued. Goodwill should only be recognized when
acquired, in accordance with paragraphs 24 through 26 of Ac-
counting Principles Board Opinion No. 17. [Amended]
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.03 Stock Issued for Accounting and Management Services

Inquiry—A newly formed corporation is going public and
wishes to issue shares of stock for certain services, such as
accounting, legal, underwriting, printing, ete.

How should the value for these services be set up on the books
of the corporation?

Reply—TIt would be appropriate to record the stock issued at
the fair value of the stock or services rendered, whichever is the
more clearly evident. The recipients should be able to furnish
evidence as to such fair value. Since the amounts the Securities
and Exchange Commission might consider to be fair value can-
not be predicted, a consultation with the staff of the Commission
might be advisable before formal submission of the financial
statements. [Amended]

.04 Stock Issued at Discount to Customers

Inquiry—A corporation has issued some of its stock to one of
its substantial customers at a price lower than market value.
It is proposed that the stock issue be accounted for at market
value and that the excess of market value over cash paid for the
stock be shown as an extraordinary charge against income based
on the assumption that the discount was given for past services
and as an inducement to coutinue current business relations.
There is, however, no agreement binding on the customer to
continue doing business with the company.

Is this method of handling the transaction in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles?

Reply—Unless it is evident that no benefit was received by
the company for the ‘‘bargain’’ sale of its stock, the transaction
should be valued at fair value of such stock at the date the trans-
action was determined.

In determining the benefit to the corporation of the stock is-
sued, allowance should be made for the fact that issuance of
stock normally involves cost, such as registration fees, ete., to the
issuer. Thus the net proceeds that might be realized by the client
from a sale of stock in the ordinary course of business might well
be less than the current market value.

Paragraph 24 of APB Opinion No. 17 states in part, ‘‘Costs of
developing, maintaining, or restoring intangible assets which are
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not specifically identifiable, have indeterminate lives, or are in-
herent in a continuing business and related to an enterprise as
a whole—such as goodwill—should be deducted from income
when incurred.”

The sale of the stock at a “discount” does not meet the criteria
for extraordinary items in APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the
Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and In-
frequently Occurring Events and Transactions, paragraph 20.
The discount of the stock, if material, should be shown as a
separate item in the income statement as a “special discount
granted to a customer” under APB Opinion No. 30, paragraph
26. [ Amended]

.05 Restricted Stock Issued to Officer

Ingquiry—A closely held corporation issued restricted stock to
a new employee during the year in order to induce him to accept
employment with the company. The stock issued was one-half
voting mno-par common stock and one-half nonvoting no-par
common stock. The restrictions are to be released in ten equal
annual installments. The stock issued was an original issue and
all of the stockholders waived their preemptive rights to sub-
scribe to the shares to be issued. The issnance of the stock was
recorded on the books of the company as a charge to prepaid
expense and a credit to capital stock. The company expects to
charge against income, annually, the value, as of the date of
issue, of the stock released from the restrictions.

Is this the proper accounting treatment of the stock issued
under this restricted stock agreement?

Reply—In accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees, paragraph 14, the unearned
compensation should be deducted from stockholders’ equity.

A note to the financial statements should describe the circum-

stances under which the restricted stock was issued with a brief
description of the restrictions. [ Amended]

.07 Expenses Incurred in Withdrawn Public Offering
Inguiry—What is the proper accounting for the costs cf a
public offering that was withdrawn?
Reply—Acecounting Research Study No. 15, Stockholders’
Equity, page 23, discusses accounting for stock issue costs. The
Study states that such costs are usually deducted from contrib-
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uted portions of equity, that is, capital stock or capital in excess
of stated or par value, as a reduction in the proceeds from the
sale of securities.

Since there were no proceeds from a sale of securities to offset
the costs, the costs should be charged to current year’s income,
but not as an extraordinary item.

.08 Balance Sheet Presentation of Mandatory Redeemable Pre-
ferred Stock

Inquiry—Should mandatory redeemable preferred stock be
reflected in the equity section of the balance sheet?

Reply—No. The Securities and Exchange Commission has ad-
dressed this question in Regulation S-X, section no. 210.5-02.28.
This regulation states that mandatory redeemable preferred
stocks are not to be included in amounts reported as stock-
holders’ equity.

Although companies not publicly held are not required to
follow Regulation S-X, it would be appropriate for them to
do so.

FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Financial State-
ments, paragraph 62, states all classes of equity depend at least
to some extent on enterprise profitability for distribution of
enterprise assets, and no class of equity carries an unconditional
right to receive future transfers of assets from the enterprise
except in liquidation, and then only after liabilities have been
satisfied.

This characteristic of equity is not found in mandatory re-
deemable preferred stock since by its terms it can or must be
paid prior to the liquidation of the company.

.09 Costs Incurred to Acquire Treasury Stock

Inguiry—A company has incurred legal and accounting costs
arising from the acquisition of treasury stock. How should the
costs be classified in the company’s financial statements?

Reply—There is no authoritative literature on this particular
subject. Some accountants believe that costs associated with
the acquisition of treasury stock should be treated in a manner
similar to stock issue costs. Stock issue costs are usually ac-
counted for as a deduction from the gross proceeds of the sale
of stock. Costs associated with the acquisition of treasury stock
may be added to the cost of the treasury stock.

> The next page is 3121. <&
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Section 4120

Reacquisition of
Capital Stock

.01 Redeemed Preferred Stock Considered Dividend

Ingquiry—A client is sole owner of all the preferred and com-
mon stock of a corporation. The entire amount of preferred stock
was redeemed at par. The client was audited by the Internal
Revenue Service and the preferred stock redemption was con-
sidered as a preferential dividend. The client had to pay the tax
accordingly. Would it be appropriate to set up the preferred
stock on the records again?

Reply—This would appear to be a legal, rather than an ac-
counting question. If indeed the preferred stock has not been
retired and is still outstanding, the entry showing it to be re-
deemed should be revised and the correct debit shown, pre-
sumably as a dividend. Whether the dividend is on the common
or on the preferred stock would also be a legal problem.

.02 Corporation Buys Out Major Stockholder

Inquiry—A corporation had four shareholders—three of the
shareholders owning 20% of the stock each, and one shareholder
owning 40% of the stock. The three smaller shareholders had the
corporation buy out the 40% owner, and these shares are held in
escrow. How should this transaction be accounted for?

Reply—Under the laws of many states, a corporation may not
pay dividends or purchase shares of its capital stock except out
of ‘‘available surplus.’’ In some cases, this may refer to retained
earnings only, and in other jurisdictions, to combined additional
capital and retained earnings. If the corporation appears to have
purchased its own stock in excess of ‘‘available surplus,’’ they
should obtain competent legal advice to determine the effect
of the transaction on the corporation.

If legal counsel advises that the corporation has indeed pur-
chased its own stock under such conditions, for accounting pur-
poses it should be treated in the same manner as any other
purchase of treasury stock in accordance with Chapter 1B of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, or, alternatively, in ac-
cordance with paragraph 12 of Accounting Principles Board
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Opinion No. 6. The total amount expended may be deducted from
the total of capital stock, additional capital, and retained earn-
ings; or the par value of the stock purchased may be deducted
from capital stock to the extent that it is included therein, and
the additional amount may be deducted either entirely from
additional capital (to the extent available) or allocated propor-
tionately between additional capital and retained earnings.

.03 Repurchase of Stock in Excess of Retained Earnings and
Additional Paid-in Capital

Inguiry—A corporation has contracted to repurchase, over
a period, some of its own stock. The corporation does not have
sufficient retained earnings and additional paid-in capital from
which to charge the excess of amounts paid over par value. How
should this repurchase be reflected in the company’s financial
statements?

Reply—In many states, it would not be legal for a corporation
to repurchase shares of its own stock at a cost greater than the
amount of retained earnings of the corporation. Competent legal
advice as fo the effect of the agreement should be obtained. This
may be an executory contract, with only amounts currently being
paid for considered as repurchases. If this be the case, only
amounts disbursed are to be recognized in the accounts, with an
offset to treasury stock. There should of course be disclosure in a
note to the financial statements of the date, number of shares,
and amounts of future payments under the contract. Such future
payments would thus include the interest factor, which would be
an additional cost of the stock, rather than being interest expense.

However, if legal counsel advises that this is in fact a com-
pleted contract and enforceable, the full amount should be shown
(excluding interest) as treasury stock, with an offsetting liability.
Again, there should be footnote disclosure of the nature of the
liability and of the interest rate and maturity dates. Under these
circumstances, the interest would be included as a current ex-
pense. [Amended]

.04 Reacquisition of Capital Stock Issued in a Pooling of Interests

Inquiry—In 1969, Company A exchanged 350,000 shares of its
common stock for all the common shares of Company B in a pool-
ing of interests. In 1973, Company A granted an option to former
shareholders of Company B to reacquire their shares in exchange
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for part of the Company A shares originally issued to them.
Under the option agreement, 50,000 of the 350,000 shares origi-
nally exchanged were returned to Company A. In contemplation
of the option, Company B paid, in cash, all monies due the parent
together with a dividend equal to a portion of their retained
earnings. What is the proper accounting treatment for the return
of Company B to its previous sharcholders?

Reply—The return of Company B to its previous shareholders
should be accounted for as a sale of the investment in Company B.

#®—> The next page is 3201, <—«
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Section 4130

Warrants

.03 Warrants Reacquired

Inquiry—Company A issued, in a prior vear, stock warrants
with a subordinated note. The value of the warrants as deter-
mined at the date of issuance was added to capital in excess of
par value and recorded as deferred loan costs to be amortized
over the term of the loan. Company A plans to reacquire the
warrants for $110,000. Should the $110,000 be:

(a) accounted for as additional cost of the loan and amor-
tized over the remaining term of the loan, or

(h) accounted for as a ecapital transaction and deducted
from capital in excess of par value, or

(e) accounted for in some other manner?
Reply—The purchase price of the warrants should be de-

ducted from either capital in excess of par value or retained
earnings.
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Section 4140

Stock Options and Stock
Purchase Plans

.01 Measurement of Compensation Cost for Stock Option with
Variable Exercise Price

Inquiry—A company has a nonqualified stock option plan which
has a moving exercise price. Basically, the exercise price de-
creases from the original option price (equal to market value at
date of grant) by $1.00 for each $1.00 that market value on the
exercise date exceeds market value on the grant date. In no event,
of course, is the option price less than zero.

It has been determined that the option is equivalent to com-
pensation and, therefore, an appropriate charge to income should
be recorded. The question at issue is how that charge should be
determined.

Reply—Measuring compensation is discussed in paragraph 10
of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, ‘‘ Compensation
. . . should be measured by the quoted market price of the stock
at the measurement date less the amount, if any, that the em-
ployee is required to pay.’”’ The definition of measurement date,
contained in paragraph 10b of the Opinion, is ¢¢. .. the first date
on which are known both (1) the number of shares that an indi-
vidual employee is entitled to receive and (2) the option or pur-
chase price, if any. That date for many or most plans is the date
an option or purchase right is granted or stock is awarded to an
individual employee. . .. However, the measurement date may be
later than the date of grant or award in plans with variable terms
that depend on events after date of grant or award.”’

The company’s option plan has a measurement date which
would be later than the date of grant or award since the exercise
price which the employee pays may decrease from the original
option price by $1.00 for each $1.00 that market value on the
exercise date exceeds market value on the grant date, This type
of situation is covered by paragraph 13 of APB Opinion No. 25,
which states in part, ‘‘If the measurement date is later than the
date of grant or award, an employer corporation should record
the compensation expense each period from date of grant or
award to date of measurement based on the quoted market price
of the stock at the end of each period.”’
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While the first date on which the option price becomes known
is the exercise date, the provisions of paragraph 13 cannot be
ignored. Paragraph 13 also indicates, ‘‘ An employee may per-
form services in several periods before an employer corporation
issues stock to him for those services. The employer corporation
should acerue compensation expense in each period in which the
services are performed.’’ Therefore, compensation related to the
stock option plan should be measured, period by period, as the
difference between the quoted market price of the stock at the
end of each period and the amount which an employee would
pay at that date.

.02 Disclosure of Stock Option Plan Prior to Measurement Date

Inquiry—A corporation decided that shares of stock would be
issued to an employee for past services when the employee signed
a letter of investment intent, and the company and employee
agreed on the price at which the stock would be purchased. None
of these conditions were met as of the audit date.

How should this be treated in the accounting records, and
would this transaction affect earnings per share?

Reply—Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Account-
wmg for Stock Issued to Employees, discusses this topic. The
stock to be issued would be under a ‘‘compensatory plan.’’ Com-
pensation, if any, would be measured on the measurement date
(see paragraph 10). But because the purchase price has not been
determined, the ‘‘“measurement date’’ has not yet occurred (see
paragraph 10b). Therefore, the financial statements should sim-
ply disclose the actions taken by the company to date, and there
would be no effect on the earnings per share.

.03 Redemption of Shares Issued Under Employees’ Stock
Ownership Trust Plan

Inquiry—A privately held corporation has an employees stock
ownership trust (ESOT) plan. The only investment of the trust
is stock of the company acquired either from the company or its
shareholders. Participants in the plan may withdraw their pro-
portionate amount of vested shares upon retirement. These
shares, can be redeemed either in full or periodically. Legal coun-
sel has determined that under the trust agreement the company
has a liability to redeem the shares when there is no market for
the shares and the ESOT does not have funds to redeem them.

§ 4140.02 Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc,



Stock Options and Stock Purchase Plans 3253

How should this possible liability be shown on the corpora-
tion’s financial statements?

Reply—This liability represents a contingent liability requir-
ing footnote disclosure in the financial statements.

.04 Accounting for ‘‘Disqualifying Dispositions’’ of Stock

Inquiry—Must a company account for all “disqualifying dis-
positions” of shares of stock acquired pursuant to employees
stock option plans during 1973 under the requirements of APB
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees?

Reply—APB Opinion No. 25, paragraph 20, reads, in part,

as follows:

This Opinion applies to all stock option, purchase, award, and

bonus rights granted by an employer corporation to an indi-

vidual employee after December 31, 1972 under both existing

and new arrangements .
Therefore, if the “disqualifying dispositions” of shares of stock
acquired by employees pursuant to a stock option plan during
1973 relate to options granted after December 31, 1972, APB
Opinion No. 25 would apply. This may mean that a system
needs to be developed by the company which will “track” the
early dispositions and provide information which would form
the basis of accounting for the “disqualifying dispositions.”

.05 Modification of Compensation Cost Under Stock Purchase Plan

Inquiry—The market value of restricted shares of common
stock purchased in 1972 under a Key Employee Stock Pur-
chase Plan at a substantial discount has dropped below the
original market value of those shares as of the date restrictions
on those shares lapse. Could salary expense be reduced to reflect
this decline? This would adjust salary expense for the period to
correspond with income being recognized for tax purposes upon
lapse of restrictions by the shareholders.

Reply—ARB No. 43, Chapter 13B, Compensation Involved in
Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans, paragraph 12, states in
part, ‘‘. . . it follows in the opinion of the Committee that the
value to the grantee and the related cost to the corporation of a
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restricted right to purchase shares at a price below the fair
value of the shares at the grant date may for the purposes here
under discussion be taken as the excess of the then fair value of
the shares over the option price.” ARB No. 43, Chapter 13B
does not make any provision for modifying the compensation
cost once it has been determined. Therefore, a reduction in sal-
ary expense would be inappropriate since, under ARB No. 43,
Chapter 13B, once the cost of compensation was determined, it
should not be modified even if the market price of the stock
dropped substantially. The point that salary expense would
correspond with the income recognized by the shareholders is
irrelevant since the compensation recognized need not neces-
sarily equal either the income which the shareholder would
report for tax purposes or the deduction which the corporation
might obtain for tax purposes.

.06 Accounting for Employer’s Loan to an Employees’ Stock
Ownership Plan

Inquiry—The trustees of an Employees’ Stock Ownership
Plan (ESOP) are negotiating with a bank to borrow funds to
purchase stock from its employer sponsor. The bank would
grant the loan providing it is guaranteed by the employer spon-
sor. The employer’s controller observed that SOP No. 76-3,
Accounting Practices for Certain Employee Stock Owmnership
Plans, paragraph 5, would require the employer to record this
guarantee as a liability on its balance sheet and paragraph 7
would require the recording of an offsetting debit that would
reduce stockholders’ equity in its balance sheet. The controller
recommended that the employer borrow the funds from the
bank and loan it, interest free, to the ESOP. The employer
would structure its annual contribution to the ESOP to equal
the annual principal portion of the debt service requirement
the employer must pay the bank. He concluded that this ap-
proach would be reflected in the balance sheet as a receivable
from the ESOP and a liability to the bank and there would be
no effect on stockholders’ equity.

Is this conclusion correct?

Reply—No. The debit should be to stockholders’ equity and
not to a receivable account. When the ESOP does not have
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sufficient assets to meet its debt service requirements, the sub-
stance of SOP No. 76-3 would apply whether the ESOP or the
employer borrows the funds from the bank. The employer
would make the loan payments on behalf of the ESOP or itself
regardless of which entity actually borrowed the funds.
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Section 4150

Stock Dividends and
Stock Splits

.01 Stock Dividends of Closely-Held Corporation

Inquiry—A corporation has about two hundred stockholders
with the board of directors controlling about 80% of the stock.
There is virtually no buying or selling of the company’s stock
and the price of trades has been constant at a level suggested by
management.

The company has followed a policy of issuing stock distribu-
tions (usually 10 or 20% ) and capitalizing them at par because
there is not sufficient retained earnings to capitalize at estimated
market value. The issuance of stock distributions is an integral
part of the company’s philosophy and policy with regard to em-
ployee morale and maintaining a relatively fixed trading value
for the stock in the absence of a market.

Earnings have been increasing at 10% to 20% per year and
cash dividends have remained constant. Stock distributions pro-
vide a means for returning earnings to stockholders without the
tax impact of cash dividends.

Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43 states that stock divi-
dends in amounts of less than 20% to 25% or of a recurring or
frequent nature should be accounted for by capitalizing the esti-
mated market value of the stock. The Bulletin also states that in
cases of closely-held companies, it is to be presumed that the
intimate knowledge of the corporation’s affairs possessed by the
shareholders would preclude any such implications as referred
to in paragraph 10 of Chapter 7, Section B, and that there is no
need to capitalize carned surplus other than to meet legal re-
quirements.

Under these circumstances, is it required that the stock divi-
dends be capitalized at the estimated market value of the stock?

Reply—Since only 20% of the corporation’s stock is not con-
trolled by the board of directors, it is likely that these minority
shareholders would not have intimate knowledge of the corpora-
tion’s affairs, as contemplated in paragraph 12, Chapter 7, Sec-
tion B of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, which excludes
closely-held corporations from the provisions of paragraph 10.
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Accordingly, the requirements of paragraph 10 would apply.
The stock dividends should be capitalized at the selling price of
the stock with a corresponding charge to retained earnings.
[Amended]

.02 Stock Dividend Affecting Market Price of Stock

Inquiry—A company issued a 10% stock dividend. May the
dividend be treated as a stock split if the dividend resulted in a
drop in the market price of the stock?

Reply—Paragraph 13 in Chapter 7, Section B of Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 43 states, in part, *“On the basis of a re-
view of market action in the case of shares of a number of com-
panies having relatively recent stock distributions, it would
appear that there would be few instances involving the issuance
of additional shares of less than, say, 20% or 25% of the number
previously outstanding where the effect would not be such as to
call for the procedure referred to in paragraph 10.”” Paragraph
10 requires a transfer from retained earnings to the category of
permanent capitalization in an amount equal to the fair value of
the additional shares issued.

In order to treat the 10% ‘‘stock dividend’’ as a ‘split-up
effected in the form of a dividend,’’ the company would have to
demonstrate that the additional shares issued is ‘‘large enough
to materially influence the unit market price of the stock’’ as
indicated in paragraph 13.

.03 Stock Dividends Without Determinable Market Value

Inquiry—A closely-held corporation, the stock of which has
no readily determinable market value, issues a stock dividend.
How should the stock dividend be accounted for? Could book
value per share be capitalized or would this imply that book
value equals fair market value?

Reply—Chapter 7B, paragraphs 10 and 12 of Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 43 discuss stock dividends. Paragraph 12
states:

In cases of closely-held companies, it is to be presumed that
the intimate knowledge of the corporations’ affairs possessed
by their shareholders would preclude any such implications
and possible constructions as are referred to in paragraph 10.
In such cases, the committee believes that considerations of
public policy do not arise and that there is no need to capitalize
earned surplus other than to meet legal requirements.
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Therefore, there is no need to capitalize retained earnings ex-
cept to meet legal requirements. However, if it is decided to
capitalize an amount of retained earnings equivalent to the
book value per share of the presently outstanding stock, this
would not necessarily imply that book value equals fair market
value.
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Section 4160
Contributed Capital

01 Payment of Corporate Debt by Stockholders

Inquiry—Three shareholders own stock in Corporations A
and B. They agree to personally pay a debt of Corporation A
by giving the creditor stock in Corporation B. How should
this transaction be recorded on the books of Corporation A?

Reply—The payments by the three stockholders of Corpora-
tion A’s debt would represent an additional contribution by the
stockholders to Corporation A. This can be recorded as a
credit to “additional capital.” [Amended]

02 Forgiveness of Debt by Principal Owner

Inguiry—The sole owner of a corporation forgives a loan that
the corporation owes to him. What is the appropriate account-
ing treatment for this transaction?

Reply—APB Opinion No. 26, Early Extinguishment of Debt,
deals with debt extinguishments which are ordinarily treated
as extraordinary items. Footnote 1 to paragraph 20 states, how-
ever, that extinguishment transactions between related enter-
prises may be in essence capital transactions.
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Section 4210
Dividends

.01  Write-off of Liquidating Dividends

Inquiry—Quite a few years ago, cash dividends were distrib-
uted to stockholders in excess of earnings. The company would
now like to ‘“clean up’’ the stockholders’ equity section of the
balance sheet by removing the account ‘“‘Prior Years’ Liquida-
tion Dividends’’ which is shown as a reduction of the capital
stock account. Can the liquidating dividends account be written
off against ‘‘retained earnings’’ or ‘‘paid in capital in excess of
par value’’?

Reply—Essentially, this question is a legal one as to whether
cash distribution to stockholders in excess of earnings in prior
years may be charged to earnings in subsequent years. When
liquidating dividends are declared, the charge is made to ac-
counts such as ‘‘capital repayment,’’ ‘‘capital returned,’”’ or
¢“‘liquidating dividends’’ which appear on the balance sheet as
offsets to paid-in capital. By this treatment, the amount of capital
returned as well as the amount of capital originally paid in can
be disclosed. Perhaps the wisest thing to do under the circum-
stances is to consult legal counsel to determine whether the write-
off proposed is legal under the corporate statutes of the state.
Perhaps it is legally permissible, under the laws of incorporation,
to reduce the par or stated value of the corporation’s stock, there-
by creating a reduction surplus which may then be used retro-
actively to absorb the original deficit, on the ground that the
excess payments were dividends in partial liquidation.

.02 Disclosure of Dividends Per Share
Inquiry—A company wants to disclose dividends per share
in the financial statements only if required to do so.

Is dividends per share disclosure required under existing pro-
nouncements of the Accounting Principles Board?

Reply—Disclosure of dividends per share is desirable but not
required. Paragraph 70 of Appendix A in Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 15 discusses a situation where dividends per
share are disclosed, but there is nothing in the language of that
section which indicates that disclosure of dividends per share is
a requirement,
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.03 Undistributed Patronage Dividends of Agricultural
Cooperative

Inquiry—An agricultural cooperative distributed to its mem-
bers, and certain non-members, patronage dividends partly in
the form of ‘‘Patronage Refund Certificates.”” On subsequent
balance sheets, the balance of the patronage refund certificates
is listed as a long-term liability. An attorney has suggested, how-
ever, that the certificates are subordinate to the general creditors
and, therefore, are a hybrid that should be shown as part of
equity. How should the patronage refund certificates be classified
on the balance sheet?

Reply—The patronage refund certificates should be shown as
a separate item in the equity section of the balance sheet, prefer-
ably first, since the interest in the cooperative which the certifi-
cates represent has characteristics similar to preferred stock.
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Section 4220

Quasi-reorganizations

.01 Write-up of Assets in Quasi-reorganization

Inquiry—A company has a large deficit in retained earnings
and shows assets on the balance sheet valued well below market
value. Is it permissible under a quasi-reorganization to restate
the assets to market value and reduce the deficit?

Reply—The Securities and Kxchange Commission ineludes the
following definition of a quasi-reorganization in its Codification
of Financial Reporting Policies, See. 210 (ASR 25):

. a quasi-reorganization has come to be applied in account-
ing to the corporate procedures in the course of which a com-
pany, without the creation of a new corporate entity and
without the intervention of formal court proceedings, is enabled
to eliminate a deficit whether resulting from operations or the
recognition of other losses or both and to establish a new
earned surplus account for the accumulation of earnings sub-
sequent to the date selected as the effective date of the quasi-
reorganization.

Another paragraph in this section includes the following:

It has been the Commission’s view for some time that a quasi-
reorganization may not be considered to have been effected un-
less at least all of the following conditions exist:

. The procedure accomplishes, with respect to the ac-
counts, substantially what might be accomplished in
a reorganization by legal proceedings—namely, the
restatement of assets in terms of present conditions as
well as appropriate modifications of capital and capital
surplus, in order to obviate so far as possible the
necessity of future reorganizations of like nature.

Paragraph 17 of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 6
states, ‘¢“The Board is of the opinion that property, plant and
equipment should not be written up by an entity to reflect ap-
praisal, market or current values which are above cost to the
entity. This statement is not intended to change accounting prac-
tices followed in connection with quasi-reorganizations or reor-
ganizations.”’

Codification of Financial Reporting Policies, Sec. 210 (ASR
25) and ARB No. 43, Chapter 7A, sanction revaluing the assets
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of an entity to effect a quasi-reorganization if the revaluations

result in a net write-down of the assets, not a net write-up.
[ Amended]

.02 Combining Paid-in Capital With Operating Deficit in the
Absence of Quasi-reorganization

Inquiry—A company, whose balance sheet shows an operating
deficit, feels that bankers find this confusing, since they may not
take into consideration the fact that the company does have a
positive net worth after adding together paid-in capital, capital
stock, and operating deficit. Would it be permissible to combine
paid-in capital with the operating deficit and show only capital
stock and retained earnings on the balance sheet?

Reply—1It would not be appropriate to combine paid-in capital
with the operating deficit in the absence of a quasi-reorganiza-
tion. ‘‘Operating capital’’ should be disclosed separately from
contributed capital.

Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Chapter 7A; ARB No.
46; and Accounting Research Study No. 15 discuss transfers of
retained earnings.

.03 Write-off of Accumulated Deficit After Quasi-reorganization

Inquiry—A corporation underwent a Chapter XI reorganiza-
tion several years ago. At that time, the accountants carried for-
ward the retained earnings (deficit), paid-in capital, and common
stock instead of starting a new reorganized corporation with a
zero retained earnings.

The stockholders have now approved a change in the capital
section which will write off the paid-in capital against the re-
tained earnings (deficit). The change will be footnoted in the
year-end financial statements and will be labeled ¢‘deficit remain-
ing after application of paid-in capital to retained earnings.”’
The new deficit or paid-in capital arising after this date will be
labeled accordingly.

Is this procedure acceptable?

Reply—Chapter TA of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43
reaffirms the rule adopted by the Institute in 1934 which reads
as follows:

Capital surplus, however created, should not be used to relieve the
income account of the current or future years of charges which would
otherwise fall to be made thereagainst. This rule might be subject to
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the exception that where, upon reorganization, a reorganized company
would be relieved of charges which would require to be made against
income if the existing corporation were continued, it might be re-
garded as permissible to accomplish the same result without reorgani-
zation provided the facts were as fully revealed to and the action as
formally approved by the shareholders as in reorganization.

Paragraph 9 of Chapter 7A states ‘“When the readjustment has
been completed, the company’s accounting should be substantially
similar to that appropriate for a new company.”’

Examples of quasi-reorganizations in which the full amount
of the deficit in retained earnings has not been eliminated are
unusual. Further, the SEC, in Sec. 210 (ASR 25) of its Codifi-
cation of Financial Reporting Policies, has stated that it will not
recognize a ‘‘quasi-reorganization” if the resulting statement
of financial position shows a debit balance in any stockholders’
equity account.

Therefore, a transfer of the deficit account to paid-in capital
would only be appropriate in the case of such a ‘‘quasi-reorgani-
zation.’’ Furthermore, because there was an excess of liabilities
over capital, the company cannot adjust its accounting so that it
will be ‘‘substantially similar to that appropriate to a new com-
pany,’’ and therefore it cannot be considered a ‘‘quasi-reorgani-
zation”’ as contemplated in Chapter 7A.

As the creditors of the company in fact hold, at present, the
‘‘equity interest’’ in this company, they might be willing to con-
vert some of their present ‘‘debt’’ to equity, thus permitting the
formation of sufficient capital to allow write-off of the full deficit.

Any such quasi-reorganization should only be attempted on
advice of counsel. [Amended]
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Section 4230

Capital Transactions

.01 Disclosure of Transfer from Retained Earnings fo Capital Stock

Inquiry—The board of directors of a client authorized the
transfer of $1,000,000 to its no par capital stock account from
retained earnings. How should this transfer be disclosed in the
financial statements?

Reply—AICPA Accounting Research Study No. 15, Stock-
holders’ Equity, by Beatrice Melcher (1973), discusses, on pages
67-68 other transfers between components of stockholder’s
equity, and states that:

State corporate laws permit properly authorized transfers
between legal components of stockholders’ equity in addition
to those for stock splits and changes in par or stated value of
stock. Transfers may encompass many arbitrary changes in
equity components. Customarily, retained earnings is reduced
and capital stock or capital in excess of par or stated value is
increased the same amount. Sometimes, either of the con-
tributed equity components is reduced and retained earnings
increased provided appropriate documents are filed with the
state of incorporation.

In this situation, footnote disclosure in the year in which the
transfer takes place would meet the requirements for adequate
disclosure. Also, the auditor may wish to prepare and maintain
in his permanent file a workpaper schedule which indicates the
original invested capital and subsequent transfers from retained
earnings. [ Amended]

.02 Exchange of No Par Common Shares for Par Value
Preferred Shares
Inquiry—The shareholders of Corporation A exchanged their
no par common shares for preferred shares with a par value to
“freeze” the value of stock ownership for estate tax purposes.
How should the difference between the carrying basis of the

preferred shares and the carrying basis of the common shares
be accounted for?

Reply—The difference should be charged or credited to addi-
tional paid-in capital. Tf there is no additional paid-in capital,
any “debit” balance should first be charged to retained earnings
and any remaining “debit” balance should be deseribed in the
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financial statements as a discount on preferred stock. However,
in many states the law requires that issued stock must be fully
paid and nonassessable and therefore, if the par value of the
preferred shares exceeds the market value of the common shares
this exchange may have legal implications that should be con-
sidered. [Amended]
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Section 5100

Revenue Recognition

.01 Equipment Sales Net of Trade-ins

Inquiry—A client who deals in heavy equipment records all
sales at net of trade-ins. Is this an acceptable accounting prac-
tice?

Reply—Support for the accounting treatment for trade-ins
which this client follows could not be found. Sales should be
credited with the nominal or stated contract price, and the dif-
ference between (a) the trade-in allowance and (b) the amount
determined by pricing the trade-in at net realizable value minus
normal profit margin should be treated as a sales allowance or
discount. The traded-in equipment should be set up in inventory
at an amount which, when reconditioning costs are added, will
allow a margin approximating a normal profit when the sale is
made.

.02 Rights to Broadcast Time Received in Exchange for Services

Inquiry—A company which provides services to radio and
television stations, such as station identifications and jingles,
receives broadcast time credit as part payment. Should this time
credit he realized when it is subsequently sold to advertisers,
when the credit is received, or when the time is actually used?

Reply—The broadecast time credit the company receives as
part payment for the services it has performed should be ac-
counted for as income at the time the services are rendered
with a correlative debit to an asset account. When this time 1is
subsequently sold by the company to an advertiser, a gain or loss
on this transaction should be recorded.

.04 Discounts on Prepaid Funeral Arrangement Plans
Inquiry—An incorporated morvuary sells pre-need funeral
plans in addition to rendering current mortuary services. These
pre-need funeral plans are sold at a discount in order to be at-
tractive to the public. All monies received from the sale of these
plans are placed in a trust fund which has been set up at a local
bank. The bank is the trustee of the trust and makes investments
as it sees fit. The pre-need funeral plan agreements stipulate that
all income earned by the trust belong to the mortuary, and with-
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drawals of such income from the trust may be made by the mor-
tuary periodically. In return for the feature of the agreements
calling for the mortuary’s entitlement to the trust fund income,
purchasers of the pre-need plans are permitted to buy the plans
at a substantial discount. The agreements also provide for fully-
covered funeral benefits in certain cases, although the plans may
not be fully paid at time of death. Another advantage to the
purchasers is that the costs of their funerals will not be influ-
enced by increases in the cost of living index.

Certain expenses are met by the mortuary in the selling of its
pre-need funeral plans; these are recorded monthly in a separate
expense account in its general ledger. Trust fund income earned
is also recorded monthly in the mortuary’s general ledger, in a
separate income account. As pre-need plans are utilized by per-
sons who had purchased them earlier, the special discounts men-
tioned in the preceding paragraph are recorded in a separate
expense account in the mortuary’s general ledger. It should be
emphasized here that such discounts are not reflected as an ex-
pense in the mortuary’s operations until such time the plans are
actually used, whereas the expenses of the sales of the plans and
the income earned by the trust affect operations currently, with
no dependency whatsoever on the deaths of the purchasers or
holders of the plans.

In order to achieve a better matching of expenses with rev-
enues accruing from the sales of plans, could the trust fund
income or the excess of trust fund income over the expenses of
selling the plans be deferred until the plans are utilized? Or
could the special discounts be charged to income at some date
prior to the utilization of the plans?

Reply—It would be more acceptable to currently acerue or
recognize selling expenses, fees and commissions, and trust fund
income rather than use the ‘‘completed contract’’ or deferral ac-
counting approach, If it is a fact that costs of furnishing services
commonly exceed the trust funds expended at time of utilizing
a plan, current provision should be made on an estimated basis
for the potential or possible losses (more accurately, estimated
excess of future servicing costs over monies to be released from
trust to defray same) on plans not utilized as yvet at the balance
sheet date.

The special discounts are more in the nature of sales adjust-
ments rather than costs or expenses.
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.05 Accrual Date for Property Toxes

Inquiry—Prior to 1975, a county government had a year end
of December 31. In 1975, the fiscal year was changed to June 30
creating a problem with the recognition of property tax revenue.
The following facts are pertinent:

(1) A full accrual system is used.

(2) In prior years all tax revenue was recognized at De-
cember 31. The tax digest is prepared in August and
the tax collection period is October-December with
assessment date being January 1 of the same year.

At June 30, 1975, should one-half of the taxes receivable be rec-
ognized as revenue and one-half treated as unearned income?

Reply—Since the assessment date is January 1 of each year,
but the actual tax roll is not completed until August and collec-
tions are made during the fourth quarter of the calendar year, it
appears that the taxes receivable can not be determined until the
end of August. Therefore, the financial statements prepared for
the six months ended June 30, 1975, should show income for one-
half the estimated taxes to be collected for the year. The corre-
sponding asset might be described as ‘‘unbilled taxes (represent-
ing one-half the estimated taxes for the calendar year 1975)’
or some similar caption.

.06 Free Goods or Services as Inducement for Signing Contract

Inquiry—A client is engaged in the sale of fuel oil to cus-
tomers. In order to acquire new customers, service contracts are
offered for two or threc vears with the first year free of cost.
Which of the following two methods is appropriate accounting
for free services?

Under one method, the total vroceeds from the sales of service
contracts are allocated ove: the entire length of the contract, in-
cluding both the paid service and free service terms. Under this
method the revenues from sales of service contracts would be
recorded at a discount price over the entire term. The cost of
servicing the customer’s equipment is charged out as it is in-
curred. The justification for this method is that the customer will
be purchasing fuel oil during this entire term; therefore, this is
a proper matching of costs and revenues.

Under the second method, upon the sale of a service contract
which includes an element of free service, a sales expense account
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would be debited for the portion of the contract representing free
service and deferred service contract income would be credited
for the ‘‘list price’’ of the contract. This deferred credit would
then be amortized over the life of the contract. This method con-
siders the free service as a sales expense in acquiring new busi-
ness. The cost of providing the service is, as in the first method,
charged out as it is incurred.

Reply—The first method is the proper one to be followed. The
customer is paying X dollars for a contract that runs for a spe-
cific number of years. This situation is no different from one in
which the purchaser of a package of five cigars gets an additional
one ‘‘free.’”’ The purchaser is essentially paying a certain amount
of money for six cigars.

The second method introduces a fictitious sales expense into
the accounts with a correlative fictitious deferred income.

.07 One-Cent Sales

Inquiry—A client in the fast food business has a ‘‘one-cent
sale’’ once a week. For example, the sale might be two cheese-
burgers for the price of one (60¢) plus one cent. The company
would record the transaction as follows:

Cash (.60 +.01) ........ ... ..ottt $ .61
Advertisement Expense ................. .59
Sales (.60 X 2) ...t $1.20

The company makes this entry so that their ‘‘food costs’’ are
not distorted, but should an adjustment be made at the end of
the year for financial reporting purposes eliminating this adver-
tising expense against sales?

Reply—The practice of crediting sales and charging advertis-
ing expense for the difference between the normal sales price
and the ‘‘bargain day’’ sales price of merchandise is not accept-
able for financial reporting. Realization of the full sales price
cannot properly be imputed under such conditions. To do so
would seem to imply that the same quantities would have been
sold if the price had not been reduced.

It might however be appropriate to adjust the cost of sales
and charge advertising for the cost of the one-cent hamburger.
Such cost of sales should include only out-of-pocket expenses.
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.08 Life Membership Fees in a Club
Inquiry—A client is engaged in a service club enterprise. What
is the proper accounting for life membership fees?

Reply—The life membership fees should be allocated over the
time the individual may be expected to require the services of
the club.

.09 Membership Dues Applicable to an Indefinite Term

Inquiry—A client sells memberships in a “club” type of or-
ganization, with membership dues charged as follows:

(1) $39 down and $19 per month for 24 months for a total
of $495, or

(2) A flat fee of $456.

The financed contracts are sold to finance companies, which
withhold $80 in finance charges and $50 in reserve pending ful-
fillment of the contract. The client, upon sale of the contract, re-
ceives $326 plus the original down payment of $39, or $365. The
membership contract is called a non-expiring benefit agreement
and entitles the member to purchase appliances, furniture, car-
peting, ete. at a discount price plus 6% for handling and ware-
house charges.

The membership fees are forfeitable three days from receipt,
and any additional contemplated costs are covered by the 6%
handling and warehouse charge.

‘When is income earned in these transactions?

Reply—FASB Concepts Statement No. 5, Recogmition and
Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,
paragraph 84, states in part:

“In recognizing revenues and gains:

a. The two conditions (being realized or realizable and being
earned) are usually met by the time product or mechandise
is delivered or services are rendered to customers, and
revenues from manufacturing and selling activities and
gains and losses from sales of other assets are com-
monly recognized at time of sale (usually meaning
delivery).

b. If sale or cash receipt (or both) precedes production
and delivery (for example, magazine subscriptions),
revenues may be recognized as earned by production
and delivery.
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c. If product is contracted for before production, revenues
may be recognized by a percentage-of-completion method
as earned—as production takes place—provided rea-
sonable estimates of results at completion and reliable
measures of progress are available.

d. If services are rendered or rights to use assets extend
continuously over time (for example, interest or rent),
reliable measures based on contractual prices estab-
lished in advance are commonly available, and revenues
may be recognized as earned as time passes.”

The membership fees should be deferred and recognized as in-
come on the basis of the passage of time or use of the service; the
specific allocation basis being a matter of judgment as to the ap-
propriate time period since the memberships have no specific
expiration dates. [Amended]

.10 Members of Country Club Assessed for Debt Retirement
Inquiry—A country club has voted to impose a special yearly

assessment on its membership for ten years. The proceeds are

to be used to retire a first mortgage on the property of the club.

The assessment is being imposed on all members including
voting certificate holders and nonvoting associate members.

Is the proper accounting treatment of this transaction a con-
tribution to capital, or are dues to be reflected in the annual in-
come statement?

Reply—When billing the assessments each year, the receiv-
ables from the members can be shown as an asset with a credit to
income for the special assessment. Such amounts might then be
appropriated to a special membership equity, perhaps entitled
“appropriation for retirement of debt.” The financial statements
should disclose that the directors had voted a special assessment
for ten years and the amount of assessment per year. The first
or the last year for the assessment, or both, should also be dis-
closed.

.11 Excise Tax on Club Dues

Inquiry—The members of certain private clubs must pay a
federal excise tax in addition to their annual dues. Should the
clubs record, as revenues, the dues net of the excise tax, or should
revenues include both dues and taxes?

§ 5100.10 Copyright © 1985, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Ine.



Revenue Recognition 3927

Reply—A club, in collecting excise taxes on dues, is acting as
no more than an agent or conduit for the federal government.
The amounts paid to the club by members to be turned over as
excise taxes should not be construed as dues, and to show them as
such on the income statement is erroneous.

.14 Recognition of Fees Earned on Construction Mortgage Place-
ments

Inguiry—A client is in the business of bringing lenders and
borrowers together for a fee. When a construction mortgage has
been arranged and agreed to, it would appear that the client has
earned its fee. However, because of the terms of the fee arrange-
ment, there is some doubt as to when the income should be ree-
ognized.

The following is a summary of the types of transactions in-
volved:

1. Negotiable Note
The company receives a negotiable note in payment
of its fees. Generally the note is unsecured and non-
interest-bearing and is payable over the same period
as the construction draws on the related mortgage are
to be made.

2. Nonnegotiable Note
The terms of the nonnegotiable note are comparable
to the negotiable note.

3. Commitment Letter, Not Contingent on Future Events

The company receives a letter from the borrower in-

dicating that the lender and the borrower have agreed

on the terms of the mortgage. In addition, the letter

states that the borrower agrees to pay the company a

fixed fee by a specified date for services rendered in
arranging the loan.

4. Commitment Letter, Contingent on Future Draws
The company receives commitment letters from the
borrower as described in No. 3 above. However, the
commitment letters state that a certain amount of the
fee will not be paid unless or until certain construc-
tion draws are received from the lender.

‘When should revenue be recognized as earned by the client?

AICPA Technical Practice Aids § 5100.14



3928 Revenue and Expense

Reply—Revenue recognition is discussed in FASB Concepts
Statement No. 5, Recognition and Measurement in Financial
Statements of Business Enterprises, paragraphs 83 and 84.

Applying the guidelines of Concepts No. 5, paragraphs 83 and
84, to the specific situations, revenue would be recognized as
follows:
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1. Negotiable Note

Income would be recognized when the services have
been performed and billed which may be prior to receipt
of the negotiable note.

2. Nonnegotiable Note

The terms of the nonnegotiable note are comparable to
the negotiable note, and revenue would be recognized in a
similar manner.

3. Commitment Letter, Not Contingent on Future Events

Such a letter would be evidence that the services have
been rendered and are now “billable”; therefore, the fee
has been earned and income should be recognized.

4. Commitment Letter, Contingent on Fruture Draws

From the description, it appears that the agreement be-
tween the client, borrower, and lender in this case is such
that the parties do not consider all the services rendered
until actual borrowings take place even though the client
need not physically do anything else. In such a situation,
a portion of the fees should be deferred until the stipu-
lated draw provisions have been met.

.16 Rental Revenue Based on Percentage of Sales

Inquiry—A supermarket built an addition to its store to house
a liquor store. The rent to the liquor store is to be a percent of
its sales. On its income statement, would it be proper for the
supermarket to include the liquor store sales as though they
were their own sales? The rent would then appear as a gross
margin.

Reply—APB Statement No. 4, paragraph 148, states in part:

Revenue under present generally accepted accounting principles is
derived from three general activities:
(a) selling products,

(b) rendering services and permitting others to use enterprise
resources, which result in interest, rent, royalties, fees, and
the like, and

(c) disposing of resources other than products—for example, plant
and equipment or investments in other entities.
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The revenue received from the liquor store represents rental
income to the supermarket and it would be inappropriate for the
supermarket to include as its sales the sales of the liquor store.
However, it would be appropriate for the supermarket to include
the rental income as part of its gross revenues.

.19 Sale of Partially Completed Goods

Inquiry—Under an agreement with a customer, a company
will manufacture a product to a certain stage of completion. The
company will hold the unfinished produect and bill the customer
for 65% of the selling price of finished products. The company
contends that sales occur when the merchandise is produced to
the stage indicated in the agreement and the customer is billed.
Is this contention correct?
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Reply—If the customer is obliged to accept the 65% -completed
product, there is justification for treating the transaction as a
sale at the time the merchandise is produced to the stage indi-
cated, set aside, and billed.

.20 Payment for Termination of License Agreement

Inquiry—A research and development company holds numer-
ous patents. The company derives its income from the sale of
products which utilize its patents as well as from the licensing
of the patents, for which it receives royalties, and also from the
sale of patent rights, for which it receives a single payment for
the term of the license.

A licensee desired to terminate its license, since it was no
longer using the technology contained in the company’s patent,
and paid to the company a lump sum termination payment. This
payment approximated the amount the company would have
earned during the remaining years of the license agreement. How
should the termination payment be reflected in the company’s
financial statements?

Reply—The transaction is similar to sale of a license for the
remaining life of a patent and should be accounted for in the
same manner. If this is the sole license for a patent, any remain-
ing unamortized cost of such patent should be written off at this
time. If the license represents only a portion of the use of the
patent, an appropriate portion of the remaining unamortized
cost should be written off. The proceeds should be included in
this year’s current operations, and there should be disclosure that
a major source of income from licensing agrcements is being
terminated.

.21 Retirement Home Admittance Charges

Inquiry—A nonprofit home for the aged imposes an admit-
tance charge. The admittance charges in this, the first year of
operation, are considerably more than anticipated for future
years. The home incurs expenses for screening and medical ex-
aminations of the residents amounting to approximately 15% of
the admittance charge. These admittance expenses are offset
against the admittance charge, and the net amount is shown as
deferred income. Is this treatment in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles?
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Reply—Since there are no plans to refund any portion of this
charge, and since it is meant to cover only the expenses incident
to screening and admitting prospective residents, it would seem
that upon completing the screening process and admitting the
resident, the home has done everything required to ‘‘earn’’ the
charge, and, accordingly, should reflect it as earned during the
current period.

Offsetting the screening and medical expenses against the ad-
mittance charge and carrying forward the net amount is not in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

.22 Rental of Equipment to Residents of Home for the Aged

Inquiry—A nonprofit home for the aged receives donations of
equipment. The equipment is then sold to the residents at its
retail value. If the resident leaves during the first year of using
the equipment, 75% of the cost is refunded; during the second
year, 50% of the cost is refunded; and if he dies at anytime or
leaves after the second year, no refund is made. What is the
proper method of handling this item?

Reply—1t is questionable whether the ‘‘sales’’ of the equip-
ment to the residents are properly construed as sales; they are
more in the nature of bailments or rental arrangements, since if
the resident leaves the home during the first or second year fol-
lowing his ‘‘purchase,’’ he receives a partial refund, but if he
should die during this period or leave after two years, he does
not get any refund. Nor does he, by implication, have the right to
have ‘‘his’’ equipment included in his estate, or take it with him
should he leave. Consequently, unless it can be said that title
actually vests with the resident, and that he may do as he pleases
with the equipment at any time, the amounts so received should
be treated as equipment rental income. Accordingly, if material,
25% of such rental fee should immediately be recognized as in-
come, and the remaining 75% deferred. At the beginning of the
second year of use, another 25% of the original total should be
taken up as income. The remaining 50% should be transferred to
income at the beginning of the third year of use. Of course, in the
event the resident dies, any balance in his deferred equipment
rental account would be transferred to current income.

.23 Revenue from Agreement Not to Compete
Inquiry—Company A sold its 60% interest in Company B to
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the other stockholders of B. As a part of the contract, the share-
holders of Company B agreed to pay a certain amount to Com-
pany A under a noncompetition agreement lasting three years.
The amount is to be paid to Company A equally over this three-
year period. When does Company A recognize the amount as in-
come, at the time of signing the contract, or 15 in each year?
Also, would it make any difference if a note was given by Com-
pany B stockholders to Company A paying 14 of the amount in
each of the three years?

Reply—Revenue recognition is discussed in FASB Concepts
Statement No. 5, Recognition and Measurement in Financial
Statements of Business Enterprises, paragraphs 83 and 84. Par-
agraph 84 states in part:

“If services are rendered or rights to use assets extend
continuously over time (for example, interest or rent),
reliable measures based on contractual prices established
in advance are commonly available, and revenues may be
recognized as earned as time passes.”

Since Company A has agreed not to compete for three years, it
in effect is performing a “service” for the buyers by not compet-
ing. Therefore, the income from the agreement not to compete
should be recognized ratably over the three-year period. If a note
was received for the amount, the note would be recorded when
received and a deferred credit would be set up for the income,
which would then be recognized over the three-year period.

24 Discounts on Loans Receivable of Small Business Investment
Company
Inguiry—When should a Small Business Investment Com-
pany recognize, as income, a nonrefundable discount that the
borrower pays to the company?

Reply—The Small Business Administration Act—System of
Account Classification for SBIC’s, effective December 1, 1974,
covers unearned discount, fees, and other charges on loans. The
regulations provide that the discount is earned either through
collection or passage of time. [Amended]

25 Finished Parts Held by Manufacturer for Customers
Inquiry—Corporation A, a subcontractor manufactures pre-
cision parts to customers’ specifications. Parts produced by
Corporation A are inspected by a customer’s quality control
representative and then held in a secured area in Corporation
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A’s plant. Corporation A is entitled to full contract payment on
parts inspected and held in the secured area. Historieally, there
has been a short time span between completion date and sched-
uled shipment date, but recently production efficiency has im-
proved to the extent that contracts are completed significantly
in advance of scheduled shipment dates. Based on the recent
experience of Corporation A, what is the proper date for revenue
recognition?

Reply—FASB Concepts Statement No. 5, Recognition and
Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,
paragraph 83, states in part:

“Revenues are not recognized until earned. An entity’s
revenue-earning activities involve delivering or producing
goods, rendering services, or other activities that consti-
tute its ongoing major or central operations, and revenues
are considered to have been earned when the entity has
substantially accomplished what it must do to be entitled
to the benefits represented by the revenues. . ..”

Revenue should be recognized at the time of inspection and
delivery to the secured areas, since the realization criteria have
been met. Corporation A should disclose the method followed for
income recognition as part of its disclosure of accounting policies.

.27 Fees for Obtaining Contracts for Others

Inquiry—Corporation B performs engineering services for a
fee to assist contractors or subcontractors in obtaining con-
tracts. Prior to negotiations between a contractor or subcon-
tractor and a prospective client, the eontractor or subcontractor
signs a letter of intent with B agreeing, subject to obtaining the
contract, to pay B a fee. When the contractor or subcontractor
signs a contract with a client, it becomes legally obligated to pay
B’s fee. B does not receive its fee until the contractor or sub-
contractor collects the total contract price. When should B
record a fee as income?

Reply—APB Statement No. 4, paragraphs 150-153, discuss
revenue recognition. Paragraph 150 states:

Revenue is generally recognized when both of the following
conditions are met:

(1) the earning process is complete or virtually complete, and
(2) an exchange has taken place.
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Accordingly, B should recognize a fee as revenue when a con-
tractor or subcontractor signs a contract with a client because
that is the date (as indicated in the Inquiry) that B is legally
entitled to receive its fee.

.28 Revenue from Private Label Sales

Inquiry—Corporation A produces certain products that are
sold under Corporation B’s label. Corporation B reimburses
Corporation A for all direct costs of raw material, ingredients,
and packaging plus 10¢ per pound processing fee. Corporation
A prepares an invoice for each shipment which itemizes the
various direct costs plus 10¢ per pound processing fee. Should
Corporation A record the total invoice amount as a sale or
should it record the processing fee as revenue and the reim-
bursed direct costs as a reduction of expenses?

Reply—Corporation A should probably record the total in-
voice amount as a sale. Accounting for contracts of this type
would be treated similar to cost-plus-fixed-fee contracts dis-
cussed in ARB No. 43, Chapter 11A, Cost-Plus-Fized-Fee Con-
tracts. [Amended]

.29 Gain from Transfer of Assets in Debt Restructuring
Inquiry—Company A transfers assets carried at $15,000 (fair

value is $20,000) to Company B to pay a note of $25,000. How

should Company A report the gain on restructuring of payables?

Reply—The difference of $5,000 between the fair value of the
assets transferred and the amount payable would, if material, be
classified as an extraordinary gain in accordance with FASB
Statement No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for
Troubled Debt Restructurings, paragraphs 13 and 21. The
other difference of $5,000 between the carrying amount of the
assets and its fair value would be a gain on transfer as stated
in FASB Statement No. 15, paragraph 14. The gain would be
reported in accordance with APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting
the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal
of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions, which states
that an event or transaction is not extraordinary unless it
meets both of the criteria defined in the Opinion.
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.30 Wash Sale of Securities by a College

Inquiry—A private college owned readily marketable equity
securities that reflected a substantial unrealized appreciation.
The college sold the securities and recorded a gain of over
$500,000. On the next day the college purchased for the same
price the same type securities.

Does this constitute a wash sale for which no gain should be
recognized?

Reply—TIt should be considered a wash sale and no gain should
be recorded. There was no economic substance to this trans-
action.

The AICPA Industry Audit Guide, Audits of Colleges and
Universities, does not address this matter. However, the AICPA
Industry Audit Guide, Audits of Banks, Chapter 5, page 33, dis-
cusses wash sales and states that:

In a sale, the risks and opportunities of ownership are trans-
ferred for a reasonable period of time; such a transfer is neces-
sary to constitute realization and permit recognition of revenue.
Therefore, when a bank sells a security and concurrently rein-
vests the proceeds from the sale in the same or substantially
the same security, no sale should be recognized, since the
effect of the sale and repurchase transaction leaves the bank
in essentially the same position as before, notwithstanding the
fact that the bank has increased brokerage fees and taxes,
When the proceeds are not reinvested immediately, but soon
thereafter, the test is whether the bank was at risk for a
reasonable period of time to warrant recognition of a sale.
The period of time cannot be defined exactly; rather, the type
of securities involved and the circumstances of the particular
transaction should enter into the determination of what con-
stitutes a reasonable period of time.

.31 Accounting for Zero Coupon Bonds
Inquiry—A client purchased a 20-year zero coupon treasury
bond for $189, with a maturity value of $1,000, at an 814 %
yield to maturity.
(1) What authoritative pronouncement would provide guid-
ance for this transaction?

(2) How is the interest income computed for financial report-
ing purposes?

Reply—(1) APB Opinion No. 21, Interest on Recetvables and
Payables, would apply. APB Opinion No. 21, paragraph 2, states
that, ‘““The principles discussed in this Opinion are applicable
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to receivables and payables which represent contractual rights
to receive money or contractual obligations to pay money on
fixed or determinable dates, whether or not there is any stated
provision for interest. . . . Examples are secured and unsecured
notes, debentures, bonds. . . .’

(2) APB Opinion No. 21, paragraph 15, states that, “the dif-
ference between the present value and the face amount should
be amortized to reflect the interest income over the life of the
note in such a way as to result in a constant rate of interest
when applied to the amount outstanding at the beginning of any
given period.” This is the “interest” method described in APB
Opinion No. 12, Omnibus Opinion, paragraphs 16 and 17. How-
ever, other methods of amortization may be used if the results
obtained are not materially different from those which would
result from the “interest” method.

The following is an example of the application of the interest
method. To calenlate the semi-annual amount, multiply the
purchase price by 41, % (half of 814 %) to arrive at the adjusted
cost basis for the first six-month period. Then repeat this calcu-
lation for the next six-month period using the adjusted cost
basis. The total amount of income (accrual) in the first year
will be $16.40. Fach year the cost basis is increased by the
amount of income (accrual) reported in the previous year, as
indicated in the following example:

Adjusted
Semi- Your Purchase 15 Accrual Cost Basis
Annual Price or Adjusted Purchase During at End of
Period Cost Basis YTM Period Period
1 $189.00 4.25% $8.03 $197.03
2 197.03 4.25% 8.37 205.40
3 205.40 4.25% 8.73 214.13
4 214.13 4.25% 9.10 223.23

The interest income would be reported annually for financial
reporting purposes. If the bond is held to maturity, there will
be no gain or loss. If sold prior to maturity any gain or loss is
determined by the difference between the adjusted cost basis
and the selling price.

.32 Accounting for Patronage Distributions

Inquiry—A manufacturer purchases power from an electrical
cooperative. The cooperative grants patronage dividends to the
manufacturer, but these dividends are not remitted for several
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yvears. What is the appropriate accounting for such dividends
by the manufacturer?

Reply—Patronage dividends, sometimes referred to as patron-
age allocations, are distributions by cooperatives to its members
and customers; ordinarily these are rebates on purchases which
should be treated as a reduction of the cost of purchases.

Statement of Position No. 85-3, Accounting by Agricultural
Producers and Agricultural Cooperatives, paragraph 104, dis-
cusses the appropriate accounting for patronage refunds. SOP
No. 85-3 concludes that such refunds should be recognized
either—

(a) When the related patronage occurs if it is then prob-
able that (1) a patronage refund applicable to the period will
be declared, (2) one or more future events confirming the
receipt of a patronage refund are expected to occur, (3) the
amount of the refund can be reasonably estimated, and (4)
the accrual can be consistently made from year to year, or

(b) On notification by the distributing cooperative.

The acerual should be hased on the latest available informa-
tion and should be adjusted on notification of allocation.

.33 Operating Lease With Rental Payments Rebated Against Pur-
chase Price

Inquiry—A lessor corporation leases construction equipment
for periods of six to eighteen months under short-term cancel-
lable leases. The leases provide that during the first six months,
100 percent of the rentals paid may be applied toward the pur-
chase price of the equipment if the lessee decides to purchase
the equipment; during the next three months the percentage
drops to 80 percent, and after nine months 60 percent may be
applied toward the purchase price. The leases do not qualify
as capital leases. How should the lessor account for the leases
and the respective rebates?

Reply—The authoritative literature does not address this
matter. The lessor should record rental income until the lessee
decides to purchase the equipment. The lessor should then re-
cord the sale of the equipment net of the applicable rebate. The
amount recorded as rental income should not be reclassified as
sales proceeds.

> The next page is 4121. <&
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Section 5210

Depreciation and
Depletion

.01 Change in Depreciation Method for Newly Acquired Assets

Inquiry—A company followed the straight-line depreciation
method for a particular class of assets. Recently the company
began depreciating newly acquired assets of this class on an
accelerated basis, but the old assets remain on the straight-line
method. Is this a change in an accounting principle as defined in
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20?

Reply—Paragraph 24 of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting
Changes, states:

For example, a company may adopt a new method of amortization

for newly acquired, identifiable, long-lived assets and use that method

for additional new asset of the same class but continue to use the

previous method for existing balances of previously recorded assets

of that class. For that type of change in accounting principle, there

is no adjustment of the type outlined in paragraphs 19-22, but a

description of the nature of the change in method and its effect on

income before extraordinary items and net income of the period of

the change, together with the related per share amounts, should be

disclosed.
Therefore, the change described would represent a change in
accounting prineciple, subject to the treatment described in Sec-
tion 420.06 of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 and APB
Opinion No. 20.

.02 Disclosure of Depreciation Expense

Inquiry—APB Opinion No. 12 states that the financial state-
ments should disclose depreciation ‘‘expense’’ for a period.
Does ‘“expense’’ mean the total amount of depreciation acecrued
(i.e. credited to the allowance for depreciation account) for the
period or the amount actually expensed after allowing for depre-
cation included in overhead apportioned to inventories?

Appendix A, part D of APB Opinion No. 11 discusses depreci-
ation ‘‘recorded in accounts.’”’ Is APB Opinion No. 11 referring
to depreciation expense or to the depreciation accrual?

Reply—In concerns such as public utilities and trading or com-
mercial enterprises, determination of the total provision for de-
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preciation is usually simple since the amounts of depreciation
are generally identified in the expense accounts. In manufactur-
ing concerns, however, there are difficulties in determining the
amount of depreciation to be disclosed. Depreciation is usually
included in overhead which in turn is distributed over a number
of departments and products and finds its way ultimately into
cost of sales through inventory accounts. To determine the
amount of depreciation which is included as a part of the cost of
merchandise sold may require an extensive and usually imprae-
ticable, if not impossible, analysis of cost accounts. The auditor
usually solves the problem by suggesting that the amount of
depreciation charged to manufacturing costs and to expense
accounts be taken as representing the amount charged to income.
Obviously, this method does not correctly state the depreciation
charge which was recovered through sale of goods in which de-
preciation was an element of cost. From a practical standpoint,
in view of the indicated difficulty, if not impossibility, of deter-
mining the exact amount of depreciation included in cost of sales,
it has become recognized practice to report the amount of depre-
ciation charged in the statement of income as that which has been
charged to manufacturing costs and to expense accounts, even
when amounts of depreciation included in inventories at the be-
ginning and end of the period vary sufficiently to affect deprecia-
tion included in cost of sales. Such practice also is acceptable to
the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The same rationale would apply to ‘‘depreciation recorded in
accounts.’’

.03 Depreciation Method for Appliances in Apartment Building

Inquiry—What is the prevailing accounting treatment with
regard to the acquisition and depreciation of stoves, refriger-
ators and like items for residential apartment buildings?

Reply—Although it was not possible to determine whether
there is any one prevailing accounting treatment regarding the
acquisition and depreciation of stoves, refrigerators and like
items for residential apartment buildings, the use of the com-
posite rate method of accounting for the depreciation of these
items seems to be most practicable. This method works well where
the items under consideration have reasonably determinable use-
ful lives, and assumes that those items which remain in use past
the average useful life will be offset by those which are retired
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within a below-average period of time. By maintaining only one
group account, recurring and numerous purchases present mini-
mal bookkeeping problems, and considerable time is saved. When
an asset which is included in the group is purchased, the com-
posite cost account is increased, and when an asset of the group
is retired, its cost is charged to the allowance for depreciation
account and credited to the composite cost account. Ordinarily,
no gain or loss is recognized in the accounts upon early retire-
ment.

.04 Depreciation of Clothing Rented to Individuals

Inquiry—Company A maintains a stock of tuxedos, shoes and
related items which are rented to individuals. Management esti-
mates that this stock will have a useful life of approximately two
years. Additional stock will be purchased from time to time as
required. At the end of each fiscal year, a complete physical in-
ventory is taken of all items on hand. What is the most appropri-
ate accounting treatment for the stock of rental clothing?

Reply—The clothing represents a fixed asset to be depreciated
over its estimated life. The estimated life should be adjusted
periodically to reflect experience and should not exceed two
years. The depreciation charge should be computed monthly
based on inventory at the beginning of the period plus additions
during the current year.

Logically it seems that loss and retirement of clothing will
relate to that clothing first purchased. Accordingly the first-in
first-out basis would appropriately account for such loss and
retirement.

.05 Classification of Costs of Constructing a Golf Course
Inquiry—How should the costs of constructing a golf course

be broken down into depreciable and nondepreciable classifica-
tions?

Reply—For the costs incurred in constructing a golf course,
those expenditures made to change the land itself, exclusive of
buildings, should be treated as permanent improvements to the
land and are not, therefore, depreciable. These costs would in-
clude clearing the land, building fairways, changing the contour
of the earth by moving and filling, building sand traps, and creat-
ing water hazards. If trees are planted, and their lives can be
estimated, it would appear to be proper to depreciate these over
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such lives. In the absence of any reasonable estimate, trees and
shrubs should be carried at cost. Any structures such as build-
ings, shacks or stands should be depreciated along with the costs
of any vehicles such as trucks or carts, and any equipment used.
A watering system should be depreciated as it is made of mate-
rial that will not last indefinitely.

.06 Discontinuation of Depreciation on Demolished Hospital
Building
Inquiry—A tax-exempt hospital demolished a building con-
structed five years ago at a cost of $200,000. This resulted in a
loss.

Since third parties reimburse the hospital for depreciation,
should the demolished building remain on the books and be
depreciated as if it were still in existence?

Reply—Since the building no longer exists, it is unreasonable
and improper to continue to carry the building on the books and
take depreciation. The demolition of the building resulted in a
loss which should be reflected in the accounts.

.07 Relationship of Accelerated Cost Recovery System to Gen-
erally Accepted Accounting Principles

Inquiry—The Fconomic Recovery Tax Act of 1981 estab-
lished the Accelerated Cost Recovery System (ACRS), which
replaces the depreciation system for income tax purposes.
ACRS eliminates for income tax purposes the need to select a
depreciation method and to determine each asset’s useful life
and salvage value. Instead of depreciation deductions permitted
by prior tax laws, enterprises must now use recovery deductions
in determining taxable income. The recovery deductions are de-
termined by applying percentages specified by the law to the tax
basis of the asset for a specified number of years.

May the recovery deductions used for income tax purposes
also be used as depreciation expense for financial reporting
purposes?

Reply—Generally accepted accounting principles require
that the cost of depreciable assets be allocated to expense over
the expected useful life of the asset in a systematic and rational
manner. In contrast, the recovery deductions required under
ACRS were designed to encourage investment in productive
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assets by allowing accelerated deduction of the tax basis of an
asset.

If the number of years specified by ACRS for recovery de-
ductions for an asset does not fall within a reasonable range of
the asset’s useful life, the recovery deductions should not be used
as depreciation expense for financial reporting. Depreciation
expense in financial statements for such an asset should be
determined based on the asset’s useful life.

If the recovery deductions for income tax purposes differ
from depreciation expense for financial reporting, deferred in-
come taxes should be provided in financial statements for the
timing differences that result, as required by APB Opinion Nos.
1, New Depreciation Guidelines and Rules, and 11, Accounting
for Income Taxes. (See The CPA Letter of November 23, 1981.)

.08 Additional First Year Depreciation

Inquiry—A corporation reports depreciation expense on its
financial statements at the same amount that it claims on its
income tax return. If that amount included the maximum $5,000

deduction for additional first year depreciation (election to
expense recovery property) allowed for tax purposes, whereas,
normal depreciation was $18,000, would the financial statements
be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles?

Reply—ARB No. 43, chapter 9C, Depreciation, paragraph 9,
states, in part: “. . . depreciation accounting, a system which
aims to distribute the cost or other basic value of tangible
capital assets, less salvage (if any), over the estimated useful
life of the unit . .. in a systematic and rational manner. . ..”
Accordingly, if an arbitrary additional first year depreciation
amount is included in the financial statements and it is material,
it would be a departure from generally accepted accounting
principles. Refer to SAS No. 2, Reports on Audited Financial
Statements, paragraph 16, and SAS No. 47, Audit Risk and
Materiality in Conducting an Audit, paragraph 6, for guidance
on materiality.

Obviously, if the financial statements were prepared in ac-
cordance with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than
generally accepted accounting principles, for example, the in-
come tax basis of accounting, there would not be a departure
from that basis.
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.09 Amortization of Leasehold Improvement

Inquiry—A zoological society leases property in the city zoo
for concession stands. The society plans to construet a new build-
ing, which will house several concession stands, on the leased
property. When construction is complete the title to the building
will be turned over to the city. How should the building be
accounted for?

Reply—The construction of a building on leased property is
considered a leasehold improvement. A leasehold improvement
is a permanent improvement or betterment that increases the
usefulness of the leased property and will revert to the lessor
at the end of the lease term. The costs of such improvements
are normally amortized either over the life of the improvement
or the lease term, whichever is shorter.

.10 Depreciation and Classification of Idle Machinery and Equip-
ment
Inquiry—A company stopped manufacturing a line of prod-
ucts and discontinued the use of certain machinery and equip-
ment used in the manufacture of that line. Should idle machinery
and equipment be depreciated and how should it be classified
in the balance sheet?

Reply—Temporarily idle, reserve or standby machinery and
equipment should continue to be depreciated, according to the
National Association of Accountants Statement of Management
Accounting Practices No. 7, Fized Asset Accounting: The Allo-
cation of Costs.

When the period of idleness is expected to be extended, such
as 5 to 10 years, and the machinery and equipment are expected
to be placed back into service after that period, the assets should
be segregated and appropriately captioned in the balance sheet.
However, they should continue to be depreciated.

Management should consider if this situation creates a per-
manent decline in value that may require a write down of the
assets to their net realizable value. The AICPA Issues Paper,
Accounting for the Imability to Fully Recover the Carrying
Amounts of Long Lived Assets, concludes that equipment per-
manently idled should be written down to net realizable value
on the date management decides the equipment will no longer
be used.

M-> The next page is 4201. <&
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Interest Expense

.01 Deferral of Payment of Interest

Inquiry—A client experienced problems in meeting its current
obligations and reached an agreement with its primary creditor
concerning several mortgage loans. Under the agreement, the
interest rate on these loans will, for the present, be reduced from
10% to 8%, but the lender has the option in the future of increas-
ing the interest rate to 11% to recover the foregone interest. At
the maturity date, any unpaid interest calculated at the original
10% rate will be due.

How should the interest expense be recorded on the client’s
financial statements?

Reply—Interest should be accrued at the rate of 10%, the
original rate under the mortgage loans. This debit would repre-
sent the interest expense charged to income, The credit would be
segregated between current liabilities (an amount representing
the 8% rate) and noncurrent liabilities (an amount representing
the ‘‘deferred interest’’).

.02 Interest on Mortgage Note Related to Cost of Living Index

Inquiry—A mortgage note contains a provision under which
the amount of monthly payments increases if there is an increase
in the Cost of Living Index. Should the increase in monthly pay-
ments be considered as additional interest or allocated to princi-
pal and interest?

Reply—The increase in monthly payments should be consid-
ered interest.

.03 Computation of Interest Expense on Long-Term Redeemable
Bonds

Inquiry—A bank has issued four year non-negotiable savings
bonds with interest of 7% for the first year, 714% for the second
year, 8% for the third year and 8%%% for the fourth year. The
depositor has the option to request that he be paid his interest on
a semi-annual or annual basis, but few do so, and the normal
procedure is that the interest will be compounded and left on
deposit for the four years.

If a bond is redeemed prior to maturity, interest is paid to
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the bondholder at the rate of 5% per annum for the period that
the bond was held, less 90 days. Few instances of bond redemp-
tion prior to maturity are anticipated.

Which of the following methods of accounting for interest
expense is appropriate?

(1) Accrue interest at 7% for the first year, 714% for the sec-
ond year (plus the compounding factor), 8% for the third year
(plus the compounding factor), and 814% for the fourth year
(plus the compounding factor), making a debit to the interest

expense and a credit to the accrued interest payable on four year
bonds.

(2) Determine the total amount of interest that will be due to
the holder upon the maturity of the bond and acerue a pro rata
share of this amount for each month of the four year period that
the bond is in effect.

Reply—A rate of interest should be used which reflects the
bank’s liabilities and assumes that the bondholders will not re-
deem their bonds and not withdraw the interest prior to ma-
turity. This is essentially the second approach above.

.04 Discounting Small Business Administration Disaster Relief
Loans

Inquiry—Under its disaster relief program, the small Business
Administration makes loans at a 1% interest rate to individuals
or companies that suffered financial losses from natural disas-
ters. In financial statement presentation, should these loans be
discounted to the present value, or is this the type of loan that
is discussed in paragraph 3 of Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 21?

Reply—Paragraph 3(e) of APB Opinion No. 21, Interest on
Receivables and Payables, indicates that the Opinion does not
apply to ‘‘transactions where interest rates are affected by the
tax attributes or legal restrictions prescribed by a governmental
agency (e.g., industrial revenue bonds, tax exempt obligations,
government guaranteed obligations,income tax settlements)....”’
Therefore, SBA loans of this type would not have to be dis-
counted to present value by using an imputed interest rate.
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.05 Amortization of Prepaid Interest on Discounted Notes

Inquiry—An equipment leasing company will use as of the
beginning of the year the interest method to amortize prepaid
interest on new discounted notes. But it will continue to use
the straight-line method to amortize prepaid interest on notes
discounted earlier. Is the adoption of the interest method on a
prospective basis a change in accounting principle?

Reply—APB Opinion No. 21, Interest on Receivables and
Payables, paragraph 15, states that the interest method of am-
ortization should be used but that other methods of amortiza-
tion may be used if the results obtained are not materially
different from those which would result from the interest
method.

If the results in earlier periods would not have differed ma-
terially by using the interest method, the interest method may
be adopted for the new notes, disclosed, and not be reported as
a change in accounting prineciple.

If the results in earlier periods would have been materially
different by using the interest method, the interest method
should be adopted for the old and new notes, and be reported
as a correction of an error.

.06 Imputed Interest on Shareholder Loans

Inquiry—A section of the Internal Revenue Code requires,
under certain circumstances, that a company impute interest
on demand loans made to a shareholder of the company. Would
this also be required under generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples? If not, must it be disclosed and would there be an effect
on the deferred income tax accounts?

Reply—No. APB Opinion No. 21, Interest on Receivables
and Payables, paragraph 2, states that the opinion applies to
receivables and payables which represent contractual rights to
receive money or contractual obligations to pay money on fixed
or determinable dates. Imputed interest would not be required
on demand loans since they have no fixed or determinable due
date.

However, disclosure of this transaction would be required
under FASB Statement No. 57, Related Party Transactions.

There would be no effect on the deferred income tax accounts
since this would be considered a permanent difference as de-
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seribed in APB Opinion No. 11, Accounting for Income Tazxes,
paragraph 33.

3> The next page is 4281. <&
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Section 5230

Employee Benefit
Plans

.03 Spreading Actuarial Gains and Losses

Inquiry—A corporation wishes to clarify the accounting for
cost of pension plans. Can the use of the ‘‘unit eredit method”
accomplish the spreading of actuarial gains or losses as described
in APB Opinion No. 8, paragraph 277

Reply—In discussing the “unit credit method”’ in paragraph
27, it is indicated that the actuarial gains ‘‘reduce the maximum
pension costs deduction for the year of occurrence or the follow-
ing year.” This reduction would not accomplish the spreading
of actuarial gains and losses as discussed in paragraph 30. In
the sentence which reads, ‘‘If this is not acecomplished through
the routine application of the method (for example, the unit
credit method—see Paragraph 27) .. .,” the unit credit method
is being cited as an example which does not accomplish the nec-
essary spreading, and therefore a separate adjustment would be
required. AICPA. Interpretation No. 13 of APB Opinion No. 8
discusses actuarial gains and losses further.

06 Deferred Compensation Payable To Surviving Spouse

Inquiry—Corporation A and its president entered into an
employment contract. The contract stipulated that if the presi-
dent died while employed by Corporation A, Corporation A
would pay $500 a month to the president’s widow for the rest of
her life. Shortly after the contract was signed, the president
died. The present value of the estimated future payments by
Corporation A to the president’s widow is $x. Should Corpora-
tion A accrue the $x?

Reply—Under APB Opinion No. 12, paragraphs 6-8, the esti-
mated amounts to be paid under a compensation contract would
normally be accrued over the period of active employment. The
president’s death accelerates recognition of a liability that is
reasonably determinable from actuarial tables. Accordingly, the
present value of the estimated future payments not previously
recognized should be accrued and recognized as an expense.
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.07 Deferred Compensation Benefits to Key Personnel

Inquiry—Corporation A has contracted with individual em-
ployees to provide them with the following deferred compensa-
tion benefits:

1. To pay a specified amount for life, beginning at age 65.

2. To continue reduced payments to the employee’s spouse
for a guaranteed number of years if the employee dies after
retirement but before receiving 120 monthly payments.

3. To pay a death benefit to the spouse or the employee’s
dependent children if the employee dies before retirement.

Corporation A has purchased life insurance policies (whole
life and supplemental annuities) for 50% of the liability to each
employee. The cash surrender value of the policies on employees
who terminate their employment before retirement will be in-
vested to provide a fund to pay the employees who will ulti-
mately receive benefits under the plan. Operating revenue will
be used to pay the benefits if the fund proves to be inadequate.

Twenty-five percent of Corporation A’s employees are in-
cluded in the described benefit program. How should the annual
expense for the program be determined ?

Reply—The benefit program appears to be a pension and in-
surance plan as defined in APB Opinion No. 8. The annual costs
to be accrued would represent a combination of the insurance
premiums to be paid, as discussed in APB Opinion No. 8, para-
graph 41, and the actuarial costs of the remaining 50% of the
estimated liability based on actuarial factors.

> The next page is 4381. <&
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Section 5240
Cost Allocation

.01 Transfer Pricing Between Manufacturing Division and Selling
Division

Inquiry—X Company has two branches, both of which manu-
facture and sell the same type of items. In one transaction,
Branch A made a sale of $100,000. Branch B shipped the mer-
chandise for this sale to Branch A. This merchandise had a cost
on Branch B’s books of $70,000. How should the revenues and
costs of this sale be allocated between Branches A and B?

Reply—When intracompany sales take place, revenues and
costs are allocated by establishing transfer prices. In this case,
the transfer price is the price Branch B will charge Branch A for
the merchandise. Transfer prices must be set in such a way as
to benefit the company as a whole, and consideration must be
given to the effects the transfer prices will have on management
decisions.

There are basically two methods of setting transfer prices:
cost or market price. There are, however, many variations of
these methods.

The transfer price could be based on standard cost of pro-
duction, standard cost plus a return on investment, actual cost,
variable cost, marginal cost, or simply a price negotiated by the
divisions.

If there are outside suppliers of this product, the market
price may be used as the transfer price. Market prices have the
advantage of being relatively objective and, therefore, less
subject to argument. Market prices may encourage the branches
to consider market forces and outside opportunities which, to a
certain extent, may be beneficial to the company. It is often
difficult, however, to find market prices which accurately reflect
the opportunity costs of intracompany sales.

Where intracompany transactions account for a large share
of the division’s sales, transfer prices must be chosen carefully
so that each division is encouraged to operate for the good of
the company as a whole. Where intracompany sales occur only
occasionally and are not an important part of the division’s
activities, the choice of transfer prices is not as critical, and it
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may be easiest to negotiate a price or simply allow one of the
divisions a “sales commission.”” In any event, the financial
statements of the branches should be footnoted to disclose the
treatment of the transaction.

No matter which transfer pricing method is chosen, the results
on the company’s financial statements will be the same, sales of
$100,000 and costs of goods sold of $70,000, since the intracom-
pany sale will be eliminated in the consolidation.

.03 Research and Development Costs Incurred by a Development
Stage Enterprise

Inquiry—What is the appropriate accounting for research and
development costs incurred by a company in the development
stage?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 7, Accounting and Reporting by
Development Stage Enterprises, concludes that no special ac-
counting standards shall apply during the development stage.
If the financial statements purport to be presented in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, research and de-
velopment costs should be charged to expense as incurred, in
accordance with FFASB Statement No. 2, Accounting for Re-
search and Development Costs.

.04 Research and Development Costs for Internally Developed
Patents

Inquiry—Corporation A engages in research and develop-
ment activities as defined in Financial Accounting Standards
Board Statement No. 2. Corporation A has incurred costs for
drawings, experimental models, development work, and for fees
payable to governmental agencies and attorneys related to pro-
jects for which patents are pending or have been obtained.
Should these costs be deferred or expensed ?

Reply—The costs for drawings, experimental models, and
development work are research and development costs as de-
fined in FASB Statement No. 2 and should be recorded as ex-
penses at the date incurred. The fees to governmental agencies
and attorneys are not research and development costs as defined
in Statement No. 2 and may be accounted for as costs of patents.

.05 Research and Development Costs as an Element of Factory
Overhead

Inquiry—Can research and development costs be an element
of factory overhead?
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Reply—No. FASB Statement No. 2, Accounting for Re-
search and Development Costs, provides that all research and
development costs be charged to expense when incurred. In-
cluding research and development costs as an element of fac-
tory overhead would result in partially deferring these costs
because factory overhead is allocated to inventory. [Amended]

.06 Expansion of an Established Enterprise

Inquiry—Does FASB Statement No. 7, Accounting and Re-
porting by Development Stage Enterprises, apply to an estab-
lished operating enterprise that is expanding?

Reply—FASB Statement No. 7, paragraph 8, gives criteria
for identifying a development stage enterprise. It states that
“. .. an enterprise shall be considered to be in the development
stage if it is devoting substantially all of its efforts to establish-
ing a new business . . .” and either planned prineipal operations
have not started, or if they have started the revenue from them
has not been significant. Thus, the Statement does not apply
to an established operating enterprise which is expanding.

.07 Computer Software Development Costs

Inquiry—Should a company capitalize or expense costs in-
curred in developing computer software for a general manage-
ment information system to be used within the company?

Reply—Practice varies in accounting for the costs to develop
computer software for general management information sys-
tems. Most companies expense the costs as incurred, but some
companies capitalize the costs and amortize them over the
expected future period to be benefited.

Costs of software for a general management information
system are excluded from research and development costs as
indicated in FASB Interpretation No. 6, Applicability of FASB
Statement No. 2 to Computer Software, paragraph 4.

.08 Organization Costs

Inquiry—Corporation A incurred costs to organize an entity,
obtain bank financing, construect a facility and begin manufac-
turing operations. These costs, classified as organizational
expenses, include:
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® Legal costs to incorporate and establish the company

® Accounting fees to prepare the initial projections and re-
ports required for procuring the necessary equity financing

® Travel costs and monthly salary costs of the president to
secure financing, oversee construction and establish busi-
ness relationships for future business

® Payroll costs for employees who were assisting in preparing
the plant for a condition of readiness for operations

What is an appropriate accounting treatment for such costs?

Reply—The accounting for organization expenses is not
addressed in the authoritative literature. Kohler’s Dictionary
for Accountants defines organization cost as any cost incurred
in establishing a corporation or other form of organization.
Included in organization costs are incorporation, legal and
accounting fees. Generally, immaterial organization costs are
amortized over a short period of time, usually three to five
years. Some accountants believe that these costs coupled with
promotional fees and printing costs incurred to solicit equity
financing should be considered issue costs and, if material,
would be charged to paid-in capital when proceeds from the
sale of capital stock are received.

FASB Statement No. 7, Accounting and Reporting by De-
velopment Stage Enterprises, defines a development stage en-
terprise and states that a development stage enterprise will
typieally devote much of its efforts to financial planning, raising
capital, acquiring assets, developing markets and starting up
production. FASB Statement No. 7, paragraph 10, states that
generally accepted accounting principles that apply to estab-
lished enterprises also apply to development stage enterprises
and will determine whether a cost incurred is to be charged to
expense or capitalized.

Travel costs and salary expenses relating to the construction
of assets, preparation for their use and establishment of busi-
ness relationships do not constitute organization or issue costs
and should be reported in accordance with FASB Statement
No. 7, paragraph 10, as indicated in the immediately preceding
paragraph. [Amended]
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.09 Cost of Computer Software Purchased for Internal Use

Inquiry—How should the cost of computer software purchased
for internal use be accounted for?

Reply—FASB Interpretation No. 6, Applicability of FASB
Statement No. 2 to Computer Software, paragraph 5, states
that costs incurred to purchase or lease computer software
developed by others for use in research and development activi-
ties shall be charged to expense as incurred unless the software
has alternative future uses (in research and development or
otherwise) in which case it should be capitalized and depre-
ciated over its estimated useful life.

The cost of computer software developed by others purchased
for use in activities other than research and development should
be capitalized and depreciated over its estimated useful life in
accordance with ARB No. 43, chapter 9, Depreciation, para-
graph 11.
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Section 5250

Tax Allocation

.01 Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes—I

Inquiry—A company finds it advantageous to report its in-
come on the cash basis for tax purposes because uncollected
income (receivables) can be expected to exceed unpaid expenses
(payables) each year. If the company continues to grow and re-
mains profitable, the timing differences between tax and account-
ing income can be expected to not reverse in the near future, and
the deferred tax liability may even grow from year to year.
Since the company will not realize the effects of this deferred
liability for taxes until some indefinite time in the future, why
should the deferred taxes be classified on the balance sheet as a
current liability?

Reply—In accordance with paragraph 57 of APB Opinion No.
11, as amended by paragraph 4 of FASB Statement No. 37,
deferred taxes which relate to current assets and current liabil-
ities should be classified as a current liability.

Although the balance in the deferred tax account may indeed
increase from year-end to year-end, its individual components
reverse each year, as the prior year’s receivables are collected
and the accruals paid. Thus, part of each year’s tax payment
results from transactions recorded on the books in prior years,
and transactions of the current year result in new deferred taxes.

To remove such deferred taxes from current liabilities be-
cause the amount thereof increases from year to year seems no
more justifiable than it would be to remove from current assets
the corresponding receivable because the amount thereof con-
tinues to increase from year to year and is therefore never ‘‘col-
lected.” [Amended]

.02 Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes—I1
Inquiry—A contractor is on the cash basis for income tax
purposes but prepares financial statements on the acerual basis.
As a result, there are timing differences due to the revenue from
accounts receivable not recorded for tax purposes and ex-
penses relating to accounts payable which are not deducted on
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the income tax returns. Income taxes resulting from the timing
difference and income taxes on the accrual basis income are
shown as separate captions in the income statement. Related de-
ferred taxes are shown on the balance sheet as a current liability.
This treatment has a material effect on working capital, which is
important to the contractor for bonding purposes and also for
pre-qualification with various governmental agencies. What is
the proper balance sheet classification for the deferred taxes?

Reply—Paragraph 57 of APB Opinion No. 11, as amended by
paragraph 4 of FASB Statement No. 37, states in part, “deferred
charges and deferred credits relating to timing differences . . .
should be classified in two categories—one for the net current
amount and the other for the net noncurrent amount.. . . A de-
ferred charge or credit that is related to an asset or liability
shall be classified as current or noncurrent based on the classifi-
cation of the related asset or liability. A deferred charge or
credit that is not related to an asset or liability because (a)
there is no associated asset or liability or (b) reduction of an
associated asset or liability will not cause the timing difference
to reverse shall be classified based on the expected reversal date
of the specific timing difference.

Thus if the only difference between income tax reporting and
the financial statements results from recording current accounts
receivable and accruing current liabilities, the full credit for
deferred income taxes should be included in current liabilities. To
the extent that the difference between tax reporting and the fi-
nancial statements is reflected in depreciation, in noncurrent re-
ceivables, or in other noncurrent assets, it would be appropriate
to classify deferred taxes resulting therefrom as a noncurrent
deferred credit. [Amended]

.03 Income Statement Presentation of Operating Loss Carryback
Inquiry—What is the proper income statement presentation
of income tax credits resulting from an operating loss when
extraordinary gains exceed this loss? The situation of a client is
as follows:
1. Current year’s operating loss equals $100,000.
2. Extraordinary gains equal $200,000. There are no
capital gains.

3. Actual income taxes payable is $45,000.
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4. The amount of taxes actually available for refund
through the carryback of the operating loss of $100,000
equals $18,000 since the company sustained a loss in
the immediately preceding year which resulted in the
refund of all but $18,000 of taxes paid during the pre-
ceding three years.

Reply—Interpretation No. 11 to Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 11, Accounting for Income Taxes, contains an illus-

§ 5250.03 Copyright © 1981, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



Tax Allocation 4413

tration of the presentation to be used in similar sitnations. A
note to the illustration indicates that the refund should be com-
puted at the amount actually refundable regardless of current
tax rates. Therefore, the appropriate presentation would be as

follows:

Loss before refundable income taxes......... $(100,000)
Refund of prior year’s income taxes arising

from carryback of operating loss.......... 18,000
Loss before extraordinary items............. $ (82,000)
Extraordinary items, net of applicable

tax effect:
Description of items ($200,000 less tax

effect of $63,000)...........ccevvennnnnnn. 137,000
Netincome ........ccoiviiiiiiennieennnnnnns $ 55,000

.05 Realization of Tax Benefit of Loss Carryforward
Inquiry—What is the proper method of reporting the reduc-

tion in current income taxes resulting from the realization of the

benefit of a carryforward of a prior year net operating loss?

Reply—Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 11, para-
graph 61 states, ‘“When the tax benefit of an operating loss
carryforward is realized in full or in part in a subsequent period,
and has not been previously recognized in the loss period, the tax
benefit should be reported as an extraordinary item in the results
of operations of the period in which realized.’’

Paragraph 61 of APB Opinion No. 11 is not modified or
amended by APB Opinion No. 30.

.06 Tax Effect of Permanent Tax Differences in Business
Combination

Inquiry—Company A acquired a subsidiary in a business com-
bination which was treated as a purchase. As a result of assign-
ing values to the acquired assets in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 16, a permanent tax difference
arose.

Subsequent to the acquisition, a quasi-reorganization occurred.
At the time of the quasi-reorganization, there were substantial
loss carryforwards for both tax purposes and accounting pur-
poses. In years after the quasi-reorganization, Company A’s
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operations included additional and unrelated timing differences
involving the capitalization for accounting purposes of interest
and taxes.

Financial statements for the present and recent periods show
operating profits before income taxes. Such operating profits in-
clude amortization of the permanent difference described above
to operations and also include timing differences described above.
Should the tax effect of the permanent differences be charged to
additional capital or to income?

Reply—Paragraph 49 of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 11 and Interpretation 16 to Opinion No. 11 indicate that the
tax effect of the permanent difference should be charged to capi-
tal surplus rather than being charged to income.

.07 Tax Effect of Undistributed Earnings of Newly Acquired
Subsidiary

Inquiry—Parent Company acquired a 100% interest in a sub-
sidiary in a purchase transaction. The retained earnings of the
subsidiary are also its accumulated earnings and profits as de-
fined in the Internal Revenue Code and will be taxable as divi-
dends upon distribution. There is no evidence, nor is it intended,
that the subsidiary has invested or will invest the undistributed
earnings indefinitely nor that the undistributed earnings will be
remitted in a tax-free liquidation.

Should the potential tax effect of the subsidiary’s undistrib-
uted earnings be recognized on the assumption that these earn-
ings would be transferred to the Parent Company?

Reply—Since the parent could presumably decide on the al-
ternative of a tax-free liquidation and transfer in this situation,
the issue seems highly conjectural. However, if the retained earn-
ings at acquisition are expected to be distributed as dividends, the
tax effect should not be recorded at the time of acquisition, but
charged to income when the dividend is paid to the parent com-

pany.

.08 Intercompany Tax Allocation for Consolidated Companies
Inquiry—A CPA, presently engaged in the examination of the
financial statements of a group of corporations comprised of a
parent holding company and three wholly owned subsidiaries,
expects both separate financial statements of each company for
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